



This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from Explore Bristol Research, http://research-information.bristol.ac.uk

Author: Rackauskas, Ben

Title:

The Characterisation of Gallium Nitride Devices for Power Electronic Applications

General rights

Access to the thesis is subject to the Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International Public License. A copy of this may be found at https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/legalcode This license sets out your rights and the restrictions that apply to your access to the thesis so it is important you read this before proceeding.

Take down policy Some pages of this thesis may have been removed for copyright restrictions prior to having it been deposited in Explore Bristol Research. However, if you have discovered material within the thesis that you consider to be unlawful e.g. breaches of copyright (either yours or that of a third party) or any other law, including but not limited to those relating to patent, trademark, confidentiality, data protection, obscenity, defamation, libel, then please contact collections-metadata@bristol.ac.uk and include the following information in your message:

Your contact details

• Bibliographic details for the item, including a URL

• An outline nature of the complaint

Your claim will be investigated and, where appropriate, the item in question will be removed from public view as soon as possible.

The Characterisation of Gallium Nitride Devices for Power Electronic Applications

Leakage Mechanisms and Device Reliability

By

BEN RACKAUSKAS



H. H. Wills Physics Laboratory UNIVERSITY OF BRISTOL

A dissertation submitted to the University of Bristol in accordance with the requirements for award of the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY in the Faculty of Science.

 $MARCH \ 2019$

Word count: $\sim 42,000$

ABSTRACT

Here ighly efficient power conversion beyond the capabilities of silicon electronics is required to meet the growing global demand for power and to enable emerging technologies. The high breakdown field of wide bandgap semiconductors make these materials capable of meeting this demand in a power electronics revolution. Gallium nitride (GaN) is especially suited to this role due to its high electron mobility and its ability to form a high density 2D electron gas, resulting in enhanced efficiency. Compared to silicon, GaN systems can provide more efficient power conversion at higher voltages, all at a fraction of the system size.

Despite its promising material properties, a number of research topics remain before GaN technology can be fully exploited. In lateral devices, the substrate is usually grounded so increasing the vertical breakdown voltage of GaN-on-Si epitaxies is required to enable higher voltage devices while maintaining the low production cost associated with the use of silicon substrates. This has been approached from two directions in this thesis. Firstly from a material property perspective, by furthering the understanding of how carbon doping increases the resistivity of GaN. Through a combination of electrical measurements and device simulations, it is shown that carbon in GaN incorporates as donors as well as acceptors and that this self-compensation ratio of donors to acceptors is above 0.4. As the self-compensation ratio determines the material resistivity, it is an essential parameter in device design and future simulation works. Secondly, optimisation of epitaxial resistivity was approached at the device level. It is shown through electrical measurements that the resistivity of the epitaxy is reduced after processing Ti/Al based Ohmic contacts. These sub-contact leakage paths are further studied through a novel use of the quasi-static capacitance-voltage technique to reveal these paths extend up to 1.6 μ m, all the way to the superlattice strain relief layers. The existence of these leakage paths is widely unknown and being aware of their impact is an important step forward for buffer design and accurate device simulation.

Vertical GaN-on-GaN devices are desired over lateral devices for their improved thermal performance, superior breakdown characteristics and reduced peak surface fields. The primary research efforts are focused on optimising vertical leakage and edge termination. The reverse leakage in vertical pn diodes is studied in the time domain and reveals the first evidence of impurity band conduction. The model required to explain the results also demonstrates the ability of charged point defects to control the conductivity of dislocations. This new understanding of the leakage dynamics could influence the way leakage is managed in future device designs. The reliability of these devices is also a topic of interest as qualification of this emerging vertical GaN technology is required before commercialisation. The mean time to failure of these vertical diodes was evaluated by adapting existing analysis techniques to facilitate the application of Weibull statistics to step stress measurements. These results represent the first lifetime estimations of this technology and this new technique will enable more rapid reliability testing of vertical GaN devices in the future.

DEDICATION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

y ability to produce this thesis was in no small part thanks to the support and knowledge of those around me. My thanks go to my supervisors; Martin Kuball and Mike Uren, for creating an excellent research group with members who are always available for fruitful discussion and guidance. Thanks to my collaborators at imec and Nagoya University for the samples they provided, without which none of this work would have been possible. Thanks also to the UK EPSRC for funding my research. And of course, a big thank you to everyone at the CDTR and everyone in the office for creating a great and enjoyable research environment - I will miss our weekly badminton games. Most of all thanks to Rosie, I would not have enjoyed this adventure half as much without your company.

AUTHOR'S DECLARATION

declare that the work in this dissertation was carried out in accordance with the requirements of the University's Regulations and Code of Practice for Research Degree Programmes and that it has not been submitted for any other academic award. Except where indicated by specific reference in the text, the work is the candidate's own work. Work done in collaboration with, or with the assistance of, others, is indicated as such. Any views expressed in the dissertation are those of the author.

SIGNED: DATE:

TABLE OF CONTENTS

				P	age
Li	st of	Tables			xi
Li	st of	Figure	s		xiii
1	Intr	oducti	on		1
	1.1	Thesis	Structure		4
2	The	oretica	al background		7
	2.1	Galliu	m Nitride		7
		2.1.1	Crystal properties		7
		2.1.2	GaN for power applications		11
	2.2	Device	98		12
		2.2.1	Metal-semiconductor junctions		12
		2.2.2	Lateral device design		14
		2.2.3	Vertical device design		16
	2.3	Growt	h		18
		2.3.1	Heteroepitaxial Growth		18
		2.3.2	Homoepitaxial Growth		20
	2.4	Selecte	ed semiconductor physics		20
		2.4.1	p- and n-type doping of GaN		20
		2.4.2	pn diodes		21
		2.4.3	Carbon doping in GaN		23
		2.4.4	Capacitance in semiconductors		25
		2.4.5	Transport mechanisms		27
	2.5	Reliab	ility		29
		2.5.1	HEMT reliability		29
		2.5.2	Vertical device reliability		32
3	Cha	racteri	isation techniques		35
	3.1	Measu	rement capabilities		35

		3.1.1 Measurement environment	5
		3.1.2 Triaxial cabling	6
		3.1.3 Probe stations	6
		3.1.4 Laboratory Instrumentation	9
	3.2	Electrical Characterisation Techniques 3	9
		3.2.1 Current-voltage	9
		3.2.2 Capacitance-voltage 4	:0
		3.2.3 Quasi-static capacitance-voltage	:0
		3.2.4 Back-biasing	:2
	3.3	Test structures	:5
	3.4	Materials analysis	:6
		3.4.1 Scanning transmission electron microscopy	:6
		3.4.2 Secondary-ion mass spectroscopy	17
	3.5	Simulation	17
4	The	self-compensation ratio of carbon in AlGaN 5	1
	4.1	Introduction	3
	4.2	Experimental Details	4
		4.2.1 Samples	4
		4.2.2 Measurement techniques	5
	4.3	Results	6
	4.4	Discussion	9
		4.4.1 Substrate bias ramps 5	9
		4.4.2 Lateral leakage	2
		4.4.3 Vertical leakage and charging 6	;4
		4.4.4 Sub-contact leakage 6	6
		4.4.5 Self-compensation 6	;7
	4.5	Simulations	8
		4.5.1 Equilibrium conditions	'1
		4.5.2 Substrate bias ramp simulations	3
	4.6	From AlGaN to GaN	5
	4.7	Conclusions	6
5	Vor	ical leakage and breakdown under Ti/Al contacts	7
J	5 1	Introduction 7	• '9
	59	Experimental details	ט נח
	0.4	5.9.1 Enitary and structures	.0 10
		5.2.1 Drugy and Structures	21
	53		יב פו
	0.0	100001100	1

	5.4	Discussion	86
		5.4.1 Capacitance model	88
		5.4.2 Vertical leakage simulations	92
	5.5	Conclusion	96
6	Imp	ourity band conduction in GaN-on-GaN pn diodes	97
	6.1	Introduction	99
	6.2	Device details	100
	6.3	Device Characteristics	100
		6.3.1 Current-Voltage	100
		6.3.2 Capacitance-Voltage	102
	6.4	Transient behaviour	104
		6.4.1 Experimental details	105
		6.4.2 Results	106
		6.4.3 Impurity band conduction model	108
		6.4.4 Image Charges	112
	6.5	Conclusion	113
7	The	mean time to failure of GaN-on-GaN pn diodes	115
	7.1	Introduction	115
	7.2	Experimental details	116
	7.3	Results	117
	7.4	Analysis	118
	7.5	Discussion	120
	7.6	Conclusion	125
8	Con	iclusions	127
	8.1	Future work	130
Α	Res	earch output	133
	A.1	Publications	133
	A.2	Conference talks	133
В	List	of Abbreviations	135
С	ATL	AS simulation code	139
	C.1	Run File (U_runfile_5Vps_C_350V.in)	140
	C.2	Design File (U15745_4.de)	142
	C.3	Body File (bodytext_U_C_v4.in)	150
Bi	bliog	graphy	165

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		age
2.1	Bulk intrinsic properties of semiconductors used in the power electronics industry [40, 55, 56].	12
2.2	The dependence of various conduction mechanisms on electric field (E) and temperature (T) . This table was adapted from [103].	28
6.1	The image charge equations and measurement results are shown in the first two columns. These can be combined and solved simultaneously to produce the solution in the final column.	114
7.1	Fit parameters of the three failure distributions with the inverse variance and the 95% confidence intervals. The average value of each parameter, weighted by the inverse variance, is included below. The values shown in this table are rounded but the exact values were used to calculate the mean.	120

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE

Page

2.1	A hexagonal section of wurtzite GaN, viewed (a) along the a direction, (b) in isometric view and (c) along the c direction. The thick black lines outline the primitive cell while the solid grey lines represent bonds and the dashed lines highlight the hexagonal symmetry.	8
2.2	(a) The reciprocal cell with labelled high symmetry points. (b) The band structure of wurtzite GaN, adapted from [45]. Around the conduction band minimum (CB) and valence band maximum (VB) the bands are approximately parabolic with the light electron band and light and heavy hole bands.	9
2.3	The spontaneous (SP) and piezoelectric (PZ) polarisation fields are shown in (a) on a purely instructive epitaxy with (b) the resulting band diagram and (c) the density of the carrier accumulation.	10
2.4	The source of electrons in the 2DEG, adapted from [49]. Band diagrams depicting the ionisation of surface donor states of depth E_D due to the polarisation field are shown in (a) and (b). The 2DEG density as a function of AlGaN barrier thickness is shown in (c). The deviation from the model above ~ 15 nm was attributed to strain relaxation.	11
2.5	The band diagrams of metal-semiconductor junctions before contact and after equilibrium. (a) Before contact $\Phi < \chi_e$ resulting in the Ohmic contact in (b). (c) Before contact with $\Phi > \chi_e$ resulting in a barrier height of ϕ_B and (d) the resulting Schottky junction after contact with a depletion width of W_d .	13
2.6	The layer structure and device topology of a typical power switching GaN-on-Si HEMT with mesa isolation. The 2DEG forms at the top of the unintentionally doped (UID) GaN channel, below the AlGaN barrier.	15
2.7	Typical DC (a) output and (b) transfer characteristics of a GaN HEMT. This data was replotted from [60] with permission. These recently published data are representative of the output and transfer characteristics currently achievable with GaN HEMTs	15
2.8	Vertical device designs of advanced Schottky barrier diodes, (a)-(b), current aperture vertical electron transistors, (c)-(d) and MOSFETs (e)-(f). Adapted from [19]	17

2.9	A depiction of (a) a screw and (b) an edge dislocation in a crystal lattice with Burgers	
	vectors of 1c and 1a respectively. The arrow represents the Burgers vector and the	
	extended defect propagates up from the lattices as shown	19
2.10	(a) The energy levels in GaN resulting from carbon incorporation with their charge	
	states. Density functional theory simulations of the formation energies of these defects	
	are reproduced from Lyons et al. [92]. These results are shown as a function of Fermi	
	level in (b) Ga-rich and (c) N-rich growth conditions.	23
2.11	The hole concentration and resistivity of carbon doped GaN as a function of the	
	compensation ratio, plotted from Equations 2.8, 2.10 and 2.11. This result is inde-	
	pendent of the carbon density though a value of $10^{18}~{ m cm^{-3}}$ was used in this plot at a	
	temperature of 20 °C	25
2.12	(a) Capacitance-voltage data of various diameter diodes plotted as $1/C^2$. Inset, the	
	data near zero was extrapolated to find the built-in junction potential. The dopant	
	density is shown as a function of (b) voltage and (c) depth using equation 2.13. \ldots	27
2.13	Transport mechanisms are presented through a barrier by (a) direct tunnelling, (b)	
	trap-assisted-tunnelling, (c) Fowler-Nordheim tunnelling and (d) Poole-Frenkel barrier	
	lowering where β_{PF} is the extent of the barrier lowering	28
2.14	An illustration of the primary degradation mechanisms governing the reliability of	
	AlGaN/GaN HEMTs as well as leakage and reversible charge storage phenomena.	30
2.15	Vertical pn diodes with (a) no edge termination, (b) junction termination extension	
	(JTE), and (c) field rings. Annealing of the field ring structure gives the dopant	
	distribution shown in (d). A sketch of characteristic electric field profiles along the	
	dashed lines are shown below each diagram. The peak electric field is much higher in	
	the geometry with no edge termination.	33
2.16	A schematic of the bevelled edge of a planar pn junction with equal doping densities.	
	The dashed lines represent the depletion edge. In the depletion region, the space	
	charge is shown and must be equal on each side of the junction. Where the pn junction	
	reaches the surface, the lack of p-type material requires it to depleted further away	
	from the junction to match the positive space charge in the n side. This results in an	
	increased depletion width and a reduced surface electric field. \ldots	34
3.1	A cross-section of a triaxial cable with a diagram of the simplified biasing circuitry in-	
	ternal to the source measurement unit. Current measured by the source measurement	
	unit cannot be attributed to leakage through the cable dielectric since the buffer input	
	presents an ideally infinite impedance and there is no potential difference between	
	the signal and guard.	36
3.2	The probe station inside the measurement enclosure with a top illumination micro-	
	scope, micro-positioners and a guarded chuck.	37

3.3	The semiconductor characterisation instrumentation available in the laboratory and their connectivity	38
3.4	The integrator circuit used to generate the ramp is shown in (a) along with the labels of	00
0.1	the source measurement units used for each task. Photographs of the ramp generator	
	as shown in (b) with the terminals labelled	42
3.5	(a) A 2DEG resistor is used to sense the substrate bias. (b) An example of the measure-	
	ment results that are possible from this technique. The measured channel current is	
	normalised to the initial value, effectively normalising the conductivity to the 2DEG	
	area between the contacts. Positive and negative charge refers to the injection of	
	carriers into the buffer which may accumulate or become trapped.	43
3.6	The inferred internal potential and charge movement through the epitaxy with a -400	
	V substrate bias (a) with the lower part of the stack leaking, (b) with a carbon doped	
	region forming a dipole and (c) with the upper part of the stack leaking. The potential	
	in red indicates an increase in the vertical electric field compared to an ideal dielectric.	44
3.7	Top down view of a transfer length measurement structure. The structure consists of	
	a series of Ohmic contacts with varying separation in the same active area. Outside of	
	the mesa or implant isolation is more 2DEG but this is electrically isolated from the	
	structure. Plotting the resistance of each gap vs. gap size allows determination of the	
	contact resistance R_C , sheet resistivity and transfer length, λ	46
3.8	One half of a surface leakage structure. In the full structure, the Schottky guard ring	
	completely surrounds the central Ohmic contact. The Ohmic contacts are surrounded	
	by an implant isolation and the arrows indicate the flow of surface and buffer leakage	
	currents	46
3.9	A section of a device simulation showcasing the finite element mesh where the equa-	
	tions are solved at each node. Note the high mesh density near the surface 2DEG and	10
	buried interlayer at 1.3 μ m.	49
4.1	The flow of the research in this chapter.	52
4.2	The samples used in this study differed only by the carbon doping level in the back-	
	barrier; unintentional doping or 2×10^{19} cm $^{-3}$. In both samples a 2DEG formed in the	
	unintentionally doped GaN channel below the AlGaN barrier, represented by the blue	
	dashed line. In the sample with the unintentionally doped back-barrier the location of	
	the 2DHG is shown above the top interlayer as a series of red crosses. A sketch of the	
	band structure is presented to the right of both structures.	54
4.3	A schematic of three isolation structures demonstrating the way the effective area	
	of the 0 V contact was increased. Overlaid is the equivalent circuit diagram of the	
	structures. The diode-like behaviour over the channel layer is from to the band bending	•
	near the barrier which confines the electrons to the 2DEG.	56

4.4	(a) The measured and simulated 2DEG conductivity during the substrate bias ramps on the unintentionally densed and Ω densed are law $M_{\rm eq}$ and $M_{\rm eq}$	
	on the unintentionally doped and C doped samples. The voltage was ramped at 5 vs ⁻¹ .	
	The sona line shows the sweep down to -350 v with the dash line the return to 0 v.	
	authorized during the measurements. The unintentionally denod sample shows	
	current density during the measurements. The unintentionally doped sample shows	E77
	an \sim 100 times increase in vertical leakage at -350 V	57
4.5	The normalised 2DEG conductivity during a substrate bias measurement for transfer	
	length measurement structures of varying separation. The shorter the transfer length	
	measurement structure gap, the slower the pinch off of the 2DEG. The dashed line	
	represents the ideal capacitive line of the structure. The substrate bias was ramped at $r_{\rm M}$ $r_{\rm M}$ -1	
	-5 Vs ⁻¹	57
4.6	Lateral current between two isolation structures (a) as a function of inverse separation	
	at 150 V and (b) as a function of voltage. (a) is plotted as inverse separation to show	
	that on the C doped sample, the lateral current follows an exponential dependence on	
	inverse separation whereas the lateral current on the unintentionally doped sample is	F 0
	\gtrsim 100 times higher and only weakly dependent on separation.	58
4.7	Lateral current between two isolation structures at a separation of 8 μ m (a) as a	
	function of contact area of the 0 V contact and (b) as a function of voltage. On the	
	unintentionally doped sample, the lateral current shows a near linear dependence on	
	area. The noise floor was in the order of pA as a result of adding additional probes	
	to the system which was above the lateral leakage current level of the carbon doped	50
	sample.	59
4.8	The vertical current measured during a linear ramp of the substrate potential at	
	various ramp rates. An unusual hysteresis was observed in which the vertical current	
	apparently continues to increase as the vertical field is reduced	60
4.9	A calculation of the charge density required to screen a substrate bias of -600 V when	
	distributed uniformly in the back-barrier. The charge density, (a), electric field, (b),	
	and potential, (c), are each shown as a function of depth through the epitaxy.	61
4.10	An epitaxy is presented with a 2DHG and a negative substrate bias. Overlaid is an	
	equivalent circuit diagram where vertical resistors represent dislocations and the	
	arrows represent hole flow. In the active area the 2DHG potential (and density) is	
	increased relative to the rest of the wafer and the extension is limited by two possible	
	models. In orange, the Chatterjee model whereby the potential is completely dropped	
	at preferential leakage paths. In purple, the extension is limited by dropping the	
	potential over many dislocations.	63
4.11	A circuit diagram to explain the transfer length interpretation of the 2DHG extension.	
	The thickness and resistivity of the epitaxy above the 2DHG are represented by L_1	
	and ρ_1 respectively and likewise, L_2 and ρ_2 below the 2DHG. R_s is the sheet resistance.	64

4.12	The vertical charging model is shown as a series of band and equivalent circuit diagrams. Holes flow from the 2DHG while its potential is less than zero, increasing the number of available vertical leakage paths. In the band diagrams, the arrow on the substrate indicated the direction of the substrate ramp. In the circuit diagrams the resistors in red indicate vertical leakage paths carrying current. The thick horizontal lines represent the region of the 2DHG at a reduced potential with the arrow heads indicating the direction of extension.	65
4.13	Diagram of the band structure around the AlN interlayer (a) with the carbon doped back-barrier and (b) with the unintentionally doped back-barrier. With carbon doping, the depletion region above the interlayer (in red and of width X_n) causes an ionised donor charge to be revealed which can neutralise the upper interface charge. Without carbon, the interface charge is not neutralised by donors and free holes can accumulate. In both cases, a net negative charge from additional ionised acceptors in the depletion region below the interlayer, neutralises the lower interface charges.	68
4.14	An scanning transmission electron microscopy z-contrast image of an AlN interlayer in AlGaN is shown in (b), acquired with a high-angle annular dark-field detector (courtesy of S. Stoffels, imec). The mean Al composition through the interlayer is shown in (a) along with the model used in the simulations. A square profile is also shown demonstrating the deviation from the ideal composition profile	69
4.15	Simulated 2DHG density as a function of donor density (and compensation ratio) in the back-barrier. The simulations were repeated with realistic and square interlayer composition profiles. The 2DHG is completely suppressed at donor densities greater than 5.5×10^{18} cm ⁻³ with a realistic profile corresponding to compensation ratios $\gtrsim 0.4$. Whereas with a square interlayer profile the 2DHG is not suppressed even at a donor density of 7×10^{18} cm ⁻³ . This figure corrects that published in [149] where the tick mark positions on the compensation ratio axis were incorrectly linearly spaced between the extremal ratios.	71
4.16	Simulation results of a transfer length measurement structure on the sample with the unintentionally doped back-barrier with all terminals at 0 V. A cross-section of the epitaxy showing hole concentration is presented in (b). The band structure from a cut line mid way between the contacts is shown in (a) and the net trap charge (ionised donors minus ionised acceptors) is shown in (c).	72
4.17	Simulation results of a transfer length measurement structure on the sample with a carbon doped back-barrier with all terminals at 0 V and $N_D/N_A = 0.4$. A cross-section of the epitaxy showing hole concentration is presented in (b). The band structure from a cut line mid way between the contacts is shown in (a) and the net trap charge (ionised donors minus ionised acceptors) is shown in (c)	72

4.18	Simulated transfer length measurement structure with an unintentionally doped back-barrier and an applied -350 V substrate bias. A cross-section of the epitaxy showing hole concentration is presented in (a). The band structure from a cut line mid way between the contacts is shown in (b).	74
4.19	Simulated transfer length measurement structure with a carbon doped back-barrier $(N_D/N_A = 0.4)$ and an applied -350 V substrate bias. A cross-section of the epitaxy showing hole concentration is presented in (a). The band structure from a cut line mid way between the contacts and directly through the contact spike is shown in (b), with a solid and dashed line respectively.	74
5.1	The flow of the research in this chapter.	78
5.2	A cross-sectional diagram of a vertical leakage structure showing the layers of the epitaxy. The Ohmic contact area is defined by the window in the passivation but the active area is defined by the implant isolation.	81
5.3	Vertical breakdown measurements on an isolated 100 μ m × 100 μ m contact (large contact) and a vertical leakage structure with a contact area of 5 μ m × 5 μ m (small contact). The measured current was normalised to the active area. The large contact structures showed an increased vertical leakage and on average, breakdown at an electric field 0.13 MVcm ⁻¹ lower.	83
5.4	Substrate bias ramps on three different active areas showing pinch-off voltage independence from the active area. The substrate bias was ramped at -5 Vs^{-1} with the solid and dash lines showing the ramp down and back respectively. The dotted line shows the capacitive coupling line that would be followed by an ideal dielectric. A reduced gradient was observed on the downward ramp in the substrate voltage range $70 < V < 180 \text{ V}.$	84
5.5	Results of measurements on the surface leakage structures when applying (a) a lateral field and (b) a vertical field. The guard ring current is shown in (a), indicating a lateral resistivity in the order of $10^{13} \Omega \Box^{-1}$ at 20°C. The current-field relation was a power law $I \propto E^{1.32}$ and the process is activated with an energy of 0.7 eV. The current on the central Ohmic contact, biased at 0 V, during vertical transient measurements is shown in (b) with a substrate bias of -200 V. Compared with the unguarded structure, these results show that charging of the surface only changes the first few seconds of the transient.	85
5.6	(a) The vertical transients measured on the vertical leakage structure with a contact area of 5 μ m × 5 μ m and a substrate bias of -200 V. The current at 30 s was binned to form the histogram in (b). The histogram was fitted with a Gaussian distribution to	
	extract the mean and standard deviation of the distribution.	85

5.7	(a) The mean vertical leakage of the vertical leakage structures increases linearly with contact area. The bars show the standard deviation of the distributions. The same data is plotted in (b) on log-log axes where the similar sizes of the bars indicates the ratio of the standard deviation to the mean is approximately constant. The linear fit has a gradient of 325 pAmm ⁻² and a y-intercept of 1.47 pA.	86
5.8	The quasi-static capacitance-voltage results of two vertical leakage structures. The measured current-voltage characteristics of the smallest and largest structures are shown in (a) which are then decomposed into the displacement and leakage components in (b) by identifying the fraction of the current which changes sign with the ramp rate. The displacement current is used with the ramp rate to identify the capacitance. The quasi-static capacitance of all the vertical leakage structures are shown in (c) and increases with contact area.	87
5.9	The equivalent circuit model constructed to explain the capacitance and vertical leakage dependence on contact area. The epitaxy is simplified into a leaky dielectric and an additional leakage path is included below the contact only represented by as	80
5.10	(a) Scanning electron microscope and (b) transmission electron microscope images of the Ti/Al/TiN contacts in this study [59]. The metal-semiconductor interface is flat and devoid of spiking @2014 The Japanese Journal of Applied Physics	91
5.11	(a) The CV profiles of the vertical leakage structures with the indicated contact areas measured by quasi-static capacitance-voltage and conventional high frequency CV. The CV at 1 MHz is approximately constant for all structures and agrees fairly well with the calculated ideal capacitance. The capacitance as a function of measurement frequency in shown in (b). The capacitances of the structures do not disperse down to the lowest measurable frequency of 100 kHz.	91
5.12	The procedure of the vertical leakage simulations is shown for a 20 μ m × 20 μ m contact. (a) A random spatial distribution of dislocations was generated with a random number generator and the number in the contact region and in the uncontacted active region were counted. (b) This was repeated 500 times to build up distributions for both regions. (c) The dislocations in each region were multiplied by a 'leakage per dislocation' to generate a leakage distribution for one structure (d) This was all repeated for a range of contact areas to simulate the scaling of the distribution parameters with contact area	93
5.13	A comparison of four simulations with the measured distribution parameters. (a) With an electrically active dislocation density of 10^7 cm^{-2} , (b) a density of 10^6 cm^{-2} , (c) a density of 10^7 cm^{-2} with dislocation clustering, and (d) a density of 10^7 cm^{-2} with variation in the dislocation conductances	Q٨
61	The flow of the research in this chapter	94 98
0.1	$\mathbf{H} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{W} \mathbf{O} \mathbf{U} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{U} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{H} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{C} C$	50

- 6.3 The reverse (a) and forward (b) current-voltage characteristics of the pn diodes. The reverse leakage ranged from 0.4 pA to 3pA at 200 V with an exponential dependence on voltage. The forward current-voltage characteristics of the largest diode are shown over a range of temperatures. The diode turns on at lower voltages as the temperature increases and has a peak ideality of 1.4 in forward bias (inset to (b)). 101
- 6.4 (a) Capacitance-voltage measurements on the four largest diodes with the diameters shown in the legend. The capacitance of the smallest diode was below the noise floor.
 (b) The calculated depletion width based on the measured capacitance, the diode area and the vertical permittivity of GaN which is 10.4 ε₀. The dashed lines are the theoretical predicted profiles of an ideal diode with the same properties. 103
- 6.6 Reverse current-voltage measurements were repeated at various ramp rates on a 565 μ m diameter device. The reverse current-voltage characteristics are shown in (a) and the current at 20 V reverse bias is shown as a function of ramp rate in (b). . . . 104
- 6.7 A schematic of where the devices are illuminated during the stress and the two possible outcomes of the measurement. (a) The transients are surface related: edge illumination causes an increased current or (b) the transients are not surface related and illumination of the bulk and the edge has the same effect. 105
- 6.8 Transients of (a) capacitance and (b) current during reverse bias stress at the indicated bias. The current transients showed a peak which occurred earlier in time at higher stress voltages. The displacement current derived from the derivative of the capacitance transients in (a) are shown as dashed lines in (b) and agree fairly well with the measured currents early on and at low stress voltages. Capacitance and current transients are shown after the indicated stress in (c) and (d) respectively. All devices recovered to the same static capacitance of ~ 30.9 pF after 10³ seconds. Evolution over a similar time scale was measured for the recovery current transients. 106
- 6.10 (a) Current transients at a reverse bias of 10 V in the dark and under illumination. The current levels were normalised in (d) by the illuminated active areas shown with a yellow border in (b) and (c). After normalisation, there was no difference in the illuminated transients.

6.11	A sketch of the band structure of a pn diode (a) with no applied bias and (b) in reverse bias. The shallow Si donors are shown along with deep donors. In a region near the junction (shaded grey) some deep donors are neutralised in reverse bias. Below, the capacitances between the trapping region from the quasi-neutral regions are shown in blue	99
6.12	Band diagrams through a dislocation with the cut-line position indicated in (a) are shown at equilibrium (b) and in while evolving in reverse bias in (c). For clarity, the shallow donors are not shown. The proposed impurity band (IB) is represented by the blue shaded region	1
6.13	A sketch of a current transient decomposed into two components; displacement and leakage. Energy vs. density of states diagrams at progressively later times show how a monotonic movement of the Fermi level can give rise to a peak in the leakage current. 11	.1
7.1	Step stress failure measurements on the small and large devices are shown in (b) and (d) respectively. The failure time is indicated with a circle when the current exceeded 10 mA. These failure times are binned in the histograms (a) and (c) with the Weibull step stress distribution fit and 95% confidence limits	17
7.2	Photograph of the surface failure experienced by the devices. The dendritic structures originate from the pn junction on the bevel surface and extend towards the contact 11	.8
7.3	Construction of the step stress Weibull distribution with parameters $(V_0, p, \beta) =$ (1000,4,1) with a 30 V step every 200 s. The vertical dashed lines show the time of a step and the horizontal dashed lines show the fraction failed at that time. When the voltage steps, the step stress distribution (thick, red curve) is continued by moving laterally onto the next constant stress distribution at the same failure fraction 11	.9
7.4	The failure time data in Figure 7.1 is integrated into cumulative failure distributions for (a) the small and (b) the large devices. These data are fit with the step stress Weibull distribution (solid line) and shown with the 95% confidence limits (dashed lines).	20
7.5	All three measured failure distributions are shown as symbols. Overlaid are the step stress Weibull distribution curves, each with the same average parameter set and differing only by the periphery scaling factor. The distribution curves represent the measurement data well, indicating that all of the device sizes can be described by the same parameters	21
7.6	(a) The data in Figure 7.5 is replotted on ln[-ln(1-CDF)] vs. log(time) axes to force a linear fit. In (b), the failure distributions are shifted by the periphery scaling term and all align well.	22

- 7.8 Simulations of the electric field in the device with a reverse bias of 230 V. The peak field of 4 $MVcm^{-1}$ occurs near the base of the bevel just away from the surface. . . . 124



INTRODUCTION

ore than one tenth of the worlds electrical power is wasted in conversion losses between generation and consumption [1–3]. Through wide-spread adoption of high efficiency power converters, these losses can be halved [2], easing the demand for electrical power which is projected to increase by 12% in the US over the next 30 years [4]. The demand for highly efficient power converters is growing with applications in data centres, electric vehicles, wireless charging and LiDAR [5] as well as enabling new technologies where no other practical solutions exist. 30% of global greenhouse gas emissions comes from industrial power consumption [6] which has been reported to consume double the theoretical minimum power requirements, primarily due to energy inefficiency [7]. Therefore, highly efficient power electronics will impact positively on the global demand for power, global greenhouse gas emissions and can enable new technologies such as electric vehicles.

Applying mature and well proven silicon based technologies to this problem has resulted in diminishing returns of performance with system efficiencies ultimately limited by the material properties. The introduction of wide bandgap semiconductors can surmount these limits and facilitate ultra-high efficiencies and high power densities all delivered at a commercially viable price. Gallium nitride (GaN) power electronic devices are already being commercialised and beginning to compete with the \$30B silicon power electronics market [5, 8]. As a wide bandgap semiconductor, GaN devices can operate at higher voltages, reducing the need for lossy step down and at higher temperatures, further reducing cooling requirements. The critical breakdown field of GaN is > 5 MVcm⁻¹, more than ten times higher than Si, allowing device operation at higher voltages in smaller geometries [9]. In a high electron mobility transistor (HEMT) device architecture, GaN can deliver carrier mobilities of up to 2000 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ [10], reducing conduction losses and enabling up to a five times increase in the theoretical maximum switching speed.

Maximising the switching speed is desired since switching related losses depend on this duration when hard switching. An increase in the switching speed also allows the switching frequency to be proportionally increased without increasing switching losses, facilitating a reduction in the required size of passives [11, 12]. These smaller components, coupled with the high power density of GaN devices, gives rise to a >10 times reduction in the size of GaN based systems compared to silicon [13]. This gives GaN based power converters an advantage over Si and SiC in applications with weight and volume restrictions [14].

Taking the example of electric vehicles, efficiency and on-board power consumption are critical since batteries have a lower energy density than fuel tanks [15]. Currently silicon is still the primary material used in power conversion circuits but there is interest in the higher power conversion efficiency and reduced system size offered by new materials such as GaN [16]. In order to replace Si in electric vehicles, GaN power converters need to match or improve on the efficiency of existing technology. Current GaN based power converters are already able to compete with mature Si systems achieving efficiencies of up to 99% [17]. Additionally, GaN can operate at higher temperatures than Si which reduces the power requirements for cooling. The reduction in the volume of cooling systems coupled with the ability to use smaller passives enables GaN power converters to be smaller and lighter than Si equivalents. In all, GaN power converters have the potential to be lighter, more compact and more efficient, all of which increase the range of the vehicle while remaining competitive in total cost [18].

Power converters require high current transistors and diodes with current GaN technology targeting the application space of 600 V to 1200 V [16, 19]. The first GaN based HEMT was reported in 1993 by Khan et al. and was grown on a sapphire substrate [20]. However, the high defect density of the GaN and the poor thermal conductivity of sapphire made these devices unsuitable for power applications due to high leakage and difficulties in heat sinking. GaN-on-SiC fabrication in 1997 by Binari et al. solved these issues, taking advantage of the higher thermal conductivity of SiC and by including an AlN nucleation layer to reduce dislocation density [21]. This created devices suitable for high power operation but at great expense due to the cost of the SiC substrates, meaning this technology was not competitive to industry and was originally limited to defence based applications. It was not until 2001 with the development of GaN-on-Si technology that a suitable and affordable solution was found [22]. As a well-established material, silicon offers widely available infrastructure for growth on >150 mm wafers with a higher thermal conductivity than sapphire, and ten times cheaper than SiC. A challenge in growth on silicon is the large lattice mismatch and the differing coefficients of thermal expansion. This caused wafer cracking and introduced high densities of dislocations (> 10^{10} cm⁻²) which required the development of strain management techniques. By introducing compressive stress through AlN interlayers or AlN/GaN superlattice layers the cracking can be eliminated, although the epitaxies are still highly defective with typical dislocation densities in the order of 10^9 cm⁻². GaN HEMTs are normally-on since the 2DEG channel is only depleted with a negative bias on

the gate. However, there is a demand for normally-off devices as they offer fail-safe operation and more simplified gate driver circuitry [23]. Normally-off behaviour can be achieved in a cascode configuration with a low voltage Si MOSFET [24]. Additionally, true normally-off GaN HEMTs have been achieved by locally reducing the 2DEG density under the gate either by barrier recession, deposition of a p-type layer or Florine implantation [25–27]. GaN-on-Si wafers are sufficient for GaN HEMTs as the high dislocation densities do not affect the 2DEG. However, for vertical device geometries where vertical leakage is more critical the dislocation density is too high, although some pseudo-vertical devices have been demonstrated [28, 29]. Growth on native GaN substrates enabled by hydride vapour phase epitaxy (HVPE) or ammonothermal growth [30, 31] allows epitaxial growth with defect densities 10^4 times lower, facilitating production of the first vertical GaN-on-GaN pn diode in 2003 [32]. Unlike lateral devices, vertical devices can be scaled up to operate at higher electric fields without greatly increasing their area on the wafer [33]. Improvements in material quality and device design have increased the breakdown of vertical GaN pn diodes to 4 kV [34] but until recently the cost of the substrate has been prohibitive. The possibility of developing epitaxial lift-off techniques would allow the reuse of these expensive substrates, greatly reducing the production cost and enabling commercialisation.

After the 25 years of progress summarised above, GaN power devices are beginning to become commercially available with GaN based consumer products now available for purchase such as compact laptop chargers. However, some limitations are still to be overcome to harness the full potential promised by the material properties. The maximum forward bias surge current depends on the junction thermal capacity and the reliability of the device also depends on the junction temperature. These two factors are driving research into heat extraction from GaN devices since the thermal conductivity is lower than in silicon. GaN-on-GaN pn diodes offer high breakdown fields, low reverse leakage and have been reported to show avalanche capability. However, reverse bias leakage is still seen in these devices due to the presence of vertical dislocations. Reducing the reverse leakage would increase the operating efficiency, motivating work on further reduction of the dislocation density as well as study of the leakage mechanisms. Building a firmer understanding of the physics behind the leakage may present alternative methods of leakage suppression. This highlights the need for further study of bulk GaN devices which are already very low leakage and have the potential to approach the material limits of the reverse breakdown field.

In AlGaN/GaN-on-Si HEMTs, both the lateral and vertical leakage can be reduced by introducing carbon into the epitaxy below the channel [35]. The carbon can incorporate as an acceptor or a donor, making it an amphoteric dopant and various trap levels are possible. Overall, carbon has the effect of pinning the Fermi level in the mid gap, increasing the material resistivity. This method of leakage suppression works well and is commonly used despite an incomplete understanding of exactly how the carbon sets the resistivity. Since the carbon introduces acceptors and donors, these both influence the position of the Fermi level and the exact resistivity of carbon doped GaN depends on this ratio of donors to acceptors, referred to as the self-compensation ratio. Direct measurements of the carbon self-compensation ratio are difficult as most methods for measuring dopant density are destructive and so only measure the total carbon density. Therefore, for a complete understanding of this widely used material, and for estimations of the resistivity of carbon doped GaN which are needed for simulation, an estimate of the carbon self-compensation ratio is required.

The vertical breakdown field also benefits from the carbon doping as it increases the resistivity of the epitaxy. Vertical breakdown is determined by the epitaxial resistivity and thickness which, when grown on silicon, is limited by strain management to ~ 7 μ m [36, 37]. For operation of GaN-on-Si devices at higher voltages new strain management strategies need to be devised facilitating thicker epitaxial growth. Alternatively, the breakdown field of the epitaxy must be increased which is still much lower than the theoretical limits of GaN. For this latter reason, it is critical to study and optimise any aspects of the growth or processing which reduce the breakdown field of the epitaxy. For example, it has recently been shown that the passivation stoichiometry, deposited after growth, can influence the buffer resistivity [38, 39].

The typically stated requirements of a transistor specify a low specific on-resistance in the order of $1 \text{ m}\Omega \text{cm}^2$ with a dynamic on-resistance of less than 10% [40] i.e. the channel on-resistance never increases by more than 10%, regardless of any historical stress. Dynamic on-resistance or current collapse refers to the temporary increase in on-resistance of the channel after electrical stress in the off-state. In GaN HEMTs this occurs either via surface trapping causing a virtual gate or by bulk trapping acting as a back-gate. The use of source and gate field plates to redistribute the electric field and reduce the electric field peak at the drain side of the gate edge, as well as optimised surface passivation has allowed good management of surface related current collapse. In the bulk, trapping is mostly caused by deep levels related to the intentional carbon doping. Rapid de-trapping of these states and hence the suppression of current collapse requires leakage paths to facilitate the removal of the charge. It has been shown experimentally that low current collapse buffers can be achieved through a leaky GaN channel layer [41, 42] where leakage paths are either just under the contacts or distributed along the entire channel depending on the growth and processing. Thus in HEMTs an apparent trade-off is presented between current collapse and vertical leakage.

1.1 Thesis Structure

A selection of the challenges discussed above are addressed in this thesis. The following two chapters cover the required theoretical background and measurement techniques. In Chapter 4, two AlGaN/GaN samples, with and without carbon doping, are used to study the electrical effects of carbon in AlGaN. The empirically observed increase in resistivity is attributed to carbon being self-compensating. With the aid of device simulations, the carbon self-compensation ratio

in AlGaN, which was previously unknown, is estimated. Since this ratio alone sets the material resistivity, a reasonable estimate is required by researchers performing device simulations. Chapter 5 identifies and investigates a reduction in the epitaxial resistivity of an AlGaN/GaN HEMT epitaxy due to device processing. This is seen as an additional vertical leakage under Ti/Al based Ohmic contacts. Measurements of the leakage current on bespoke structures are used to identify the presence of these preferential leakage paths below the contacts. A novel analysis of quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurement data is used to identify the length of these leakage paths in the epitaxy and estimate their resistivity. This Ti/Al contact process is widely used and so the implications of this result extend to the majority of GaN devices. A full understanding of this behaviour is crucial for maximising the operating voltage of GaN-on-Si devices, which requires optimisation of the epitaxial breakdown field for successful high voltage device operation.

Continuing on to vertical devices, Chapter 6 investigates the reverse bias leakage mechanism in GaN-on-GaN pn diodes. Transient measurements of the reverse leakage and device capacitance reveal previously unseen features which are not possible to explain using existing models. A new model is constructed attributing the reverse leakage to conduction along impurity bands in the cores of the dislocations. In this model, the core conductivity is controlled by the charge states of surrounding point defect clusters. This work provides the first direct evidence for impurity band conduction along dislocations in bulk GaN. The reverse leakage in pn diodes is a critical parameter for the operating efficiency and this model provides new insight into the leakage mechanisms in GaN-on-GaN vertical devices. Another important factor for the commercialisation of this technology is the reliability. Chapter 7 evaluates the lifetimes of current vertical devices on bulk GaN. A step stress technique is used, which reduced the measurement time compared to conventional accelerated lifetime testing techniques. Analysis of these measurements is performed using methods not previously applied to GaN devices. The results provide the first lifetime estimations for vertical GaN-on-GaN pn diodes.



THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

In order to understand the electrical characterisation in this thesis, some context is required. This chapter presents a summary of the material properties of GaN and compares it to other materials in the context of power electronics. An overview of GaN device architectures is presented as well as the material quality requirements and growth methods. This chapter also discusses some selected semiconductor physics which is relevant to later research chapters and introduces the challenges faced with device reliability.

2.1 Gallium Nitride

2.1.1 Crystal properties

Gallium nitride is a III-V compound semiconductor existing in two crystal structures; wurtzite and meta-stable zinc blend. For power devices, the more stable wurtzite crystal structure is used, shown in Figure 2.1. This is a hexagonal crystal system with inter-penetrating hexagonal close packed lattices of gallium and nitrogen. Wurtzite belongs to the symmetry group P6₃mc meaning that the primitive cell has sixfold screw symmetry, mirror symmetry in the a plane and transflection symmetry in the c direction. Critically however, this crystal has no inversion symmetry in the c-plane. This means that reflecting the position of each atom about the centre of the primitive cell does not recover the original crystal. Coupled with the large difference in electro-negativity of the two constituent elements, this gives rise to an intrinsic internal electric field. This spontaneous polarisation is enhanced by a piezoelectric polarisation when the crystal is subject to tensile stress perpendicular to the c-plane.

The electronic properties of a crystal can be evaluated by consideration of the structure in reciprocal space. The primitive cell in reciprocal space is referred to as the Wigner-Seitz cell and



Figure 2.1: A hexagonal section of wurtzite GaN, viewed (a) along the a direction, (b) in isometric view and (c) along the c direction. The thick black lines outline the primitive cell while the solid grey lines represent bonds and the dashed lines highlight the hexagonal symmetry.

is constructed such that its basis vectors are orthogonal to the basis vectors of the primitive cell and the dot product of the two corresponding vectors is a multiple of 2π [43]. The centre of the reciprocal cell is referred to as the Γ point and represents zero momentum. The Γ point and the locations of other high symmetry points are labelled in Figure 2.2(a). Considering Bloch's theorem, electron plane waves with wave vector **k**, must be periodic with the crystal lattice [44]. As such, the size of the Wigner-Seitz cell represents the longest possible wavelength an electron wave function can assume. The energy-momentum band structure can be constructed with this consideration of **k** space and the periodic crystal potential field $V(\mathbf{r})$ using the Schrödinger equation of the form

$$\left(\frac{-\hbar^2}{2m^*}\nabla^2 + V(\mathbf{r})\right)\Psi(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{k}) = E(\mathbf{k})\Psi(\mathbf{r},\mathbf{k})$$
(2.1)

where m^* is the carrier effective mass, Ψ is the wave function and E is the carrier energy. By solving this equation for each momentum state, the electronic band structure can be constructed. The band structure of GaN is shown in Figure 2.2(b) between the high symmetry points.

Only the bands closest to the Fermi level, which are partially filled above 0 K, contribute to conduction. In GaN, conduction occurs at the Γ point where the bandgap is minimum. The carrier effective mass is inversely related to the curvature of the band which means that in GaN, electrons have a lower effective mass than holes. As the mobility is inversely proportional to the



Figure 2.2: (a) The reciprocal cell with labelled high symmetry points. (b) The band structure of wurtzite GaN, adapted from [45]. Around the conduction band minimum (CB) and valence band maximum (VB) the bands are approximately parabolic with the light electron band and light and heavy hole bands.

effective mass, electrons have a higher mobility and as such, are used as the charge carrier in unipolar GaN devices. In addition, since the curvature of the conduction band differs between the Γ -M and Γ -A directions, the electron effective masses will be anisotropic. The electron effective masses parallel and perpendicular to the c axis are $m_e^* = 0.2m_0$ and $m_e^* = 0.18m_0$ respectively where m_0 is the mass of a free electron [46].

The conduction band minimum and valence band maximum both coincide at the Γ point making wurtzite GaN a direct bandgap semiconductor. This means that zero momentum change is required for carriers transitioning across the bandgap. A direct bandgap can reduce the minority carrier lifetime by adding direct recombination to the list of available recombination mechanisms. The impact of this in the context of diodes is discussed in Section 2.4.2.1. A direct bandgap is a requirement for optoelectronic devices such as LEDs and solar cells since photons provide no momentum to the interaction. Indirect bandgap materials require the presence of phonons for optical interaction which greatly reduces the probability of these radiative transitions occurring. The direct bandgap of 3.4 eV makes GaN suitable for UV LEDs, which can be extended to blue LEDs when alloyed with indium. Moreover, the wide bandgap increases the energy required to create electron hole pairs and therefore increases the field required for impact ionisation and breakdown. Typically, the breakdown field scales with the bandgap to the power of 2.5 when the bandgap is direct [47]. This is the reason wide bandgap semiconductors are ideal for high power applications.



Figure 2.3: The spontaneous (SP) and piezoelectric (PZ) polarisation fields are shown in (a) on a purely instructive epitaxy with (b) the resulting band diagram and (c) the density of the carrier accumulation.

The band structure of wurtzite AlN contains many of the same features as GaN but with a much wider bandgap of 6.1 eV. The spontaneous polarisation of wurtzite AlN is higher than in GaN, with the polarisation field of AlGaN described by a non-linear interpolation [48]. Growing these materials epitaxially with abrupt changes in aluminium composition results in heterointerfaces at which there is a discontinuity in the polarisation field. In addition, the difference in lattice parameters between the two materials causes growth induced stress, adding a piezo-electric contribution to this discontinuity as shown in Figure 2.3(a). An interface charge, σ , is required to facilitate these internal field discontinuities and results in the accumulation of free carriers shown in Figures 2.3(b) and 2.3(c). Depending on the polarity of the interface charge, this results in the formation of a polarisation induced two dimensional electron gas (2DEG) or a two dimensional hole gas (2DHG). The density of the sheet charge is determined by the difference in the net polarisation fields, i.e. for material *B* on material *A*,

$$\sigma_{AB} = (P_A^{SP} + P_A^{PZ}) - (P_B^{SP} + P_B^{PZ})$$
(2.2)

where P^{SP} and P^{PZ} are the spontaneous and piezoelectric polarisations respectively and have been determined empirically for the GaN-AlGaN-AlN material system as a function of the Al composition by Ambacher et al. [48]. These equations hold, providing there is no strain relaxation which typically will occur in layers $\geq 20 \ \mu$ m thick [49]. To conserve net neutrality, the electrons which form the 2DEG must originate from elsewhere and leave behind a positively charged region of the crystal. In a HEMT, this source is commonly attributed to surface states on the AlGaN barrier and explains why a minimum barrier thickness is required for 2DEG formation [49]. As the barrier thickness is increased, the Fermi level at the surface is lowered by the polarisation field, shown in Figures 2.4(a) and 2.4(b). When the Fermi level drops below the highest surface state energy, that state can become unoccupied and the electrons in those states can migrate



Figure 2.4: The source of electrons in the 2DEG, adapted from [49]. Band diagrams depicting the ionisation of surface donor states of depth E_D due to the polarisation field are shown in (a) and (b). The 2DEG density as a function of AlGaN barrier thickness is shown in (c). The deviation from the model above ~ 15 nm was attributed to strain relaxation.

to form the 2DEG. Therefore, the thicker the barrier, the more surface states will be emptied into the 2DEG. The experimentally measured 2DEG density as a function of AlGaN barrier thickness is shown as points in Figure 2.4(c) and fits well with this theory. This mechanism is completely analogous to the polar catastrophe in polar thin films [50]. From Figure 2.4(c) the minimum barrier thickness for 2DEG formation is seen to be around 3.5 nm with a $Al_{0.35}Ga_{0.65}N$ barrier. Increasing the polarisation field by increased Al content in the barrier, and thus reducing the minimum barrier thickness for 2DEG formation is not possible since the differing lattice constants result in cracking. However, thinner barriers can be achieved by the introduction of a 1-5 nm AlN layer between the channel and the barrier which boosts the polarisation field and comes with the added advantage of further increasing the 2DEG mobility by reducing alloy scattering at the interface [51]. The reduction of the 2DEG density with increasing barrier thicknesses above ~ 15 nm in Figure 2.4(c) was attributed to strain relaxation.

2.1.2 GaN for power applications

The primary materials used in the power semiconductor industry are compared in Table 2.1. The comparatively small bandgap of silicon makes it less naturally suited to high power electronics, however, because of its high maturity and low cost, a lot of work has gone into workarounds, pushing device performance to beyond their theoretical material limits. In contrast, the bandgaps of GaN, SiC and diamond are much larger, resulting in breakdown fields more than ten times larger than Si. This allows far simpler approaches in device design to achieve superior devices.
	Bandgap (eV)	Relative permittivity	Electron	Breakdown	Baliga figure
			mobility	field	of merit (BFOM)
			$(cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1})$	(MV/cm)	normalised to Si
Si	1.1	11.8	1450	0.3	1
4H-SiC	3.2	10	900	3	526
GaN	3.4	9.5	440	5	1131
C (diamond)	5.5	5.3	4500	10	51627
β – Ga ₂ O ₃	4.4-4.9	10-15	200-300	7-8	1485-4987

Table 2.1: Bulk intrinsic properties of semiconductors used in the power electronics industry [40, 55, 56].

SiC has an advantage in heat extraction with its higher thermal conductivity but has a lower breakdown field. A good measure of the suitability of a material to power switching is the Baliga figure of merit (BFOM) [52]. This is defined as

$$BFOM = \epsilon \mu E_C^3 \tag{2.3}$$

where ϵ is the material permittivity, μ is the carrier mobility and E_C is the critical field. This analysis is also presented in Table 2.1 normalised to silicon. Here it is immediately obvious that on paper, diamond is the best material for high power devices. However, there is no known n-type dopant for diamond and even for unipolar devices, diamond is fundamentally unsuitable due to the 300 meV deep acceptor which has low activation and thus presents a high series resistance. The next highest figure of merit is beta phase Ga_2O_3 which is currently a material of high interest in the research community but is still in the very early phases of device development. Comparing GaN and SiC, the material based figure of merit of GaN is significantly better. This is reflected in the theoretical performance limits of GaN devices which should be able to block higher voltages while simultaneously providing lower on-resistances than the best SiC devices [53]. SiC has the advantage in heat extraction with a higher thermal conductivity and this is desired as junction temperature is linked to device lifetime. However, the property that sets GaN based devices apart from SiC equivalents is the polar crystal structure. With the polar structure of GaN comes the ability to use device architectures which exploit a 2DEG channel. This will be discussed in more detail in section 2.2.2 but among other things, this facilitates an increase in carrier mobility from the bulk value of 440 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ (at 300 K with a donor density of ~ 10^{17} cm⁻³ [54]) to as high as $2000 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ at room temperature [10].

2.2 Devices

2.2.1 Metal-semiconductor junctions

Metal-semiconductor junctions are required for device contacting and form with two distinct behaviours depending on the work function of the metal and the electron affinity of the semi-



Figure 2.5: The band diagrams of metal-semiconductor junctions before contact and after equilibrium. (a) Before contact $\Phi < \chi_e$ resulting in the Ohmic contact in (b). (c) Before contact with $\Phi > \chi_e$ resulting in a barrier height of ϕ_B and (d) the resulting Schottky junction after contact with a depletion width of W_d .

conductor. The work function, Φ , and the electron affinity, χ_e , are defined as the energy to the vacuum level from the Fermi level and conduction band minimum respectively. If $\Phi \leq \chi_e$ as in Figure 2.5 (a), upon contact, electrons will move from the metal to the semiconductor increasing the chemical potential in the semiconductor and bending the bands down. This means after equilibrium, the band structure looks like Figure 2.5 (b) and there is no barrier to charge flow in either direction resulting in an Ohmic contact. The opposite case, in Figure 2.5 (c) where $\Phi > \chi_e$ introduces a barrier, ϕ_B , with a height of $\Phi - \chi_e$. On contact, electrons flow from the semiconductor to the metal, exposing a positive space-charge and forming the Schottky junction shown in Figure 2.5 (d).

The example band diagrams in Figure 2.5 feature an n-type material but the same can be applied to p-type semiconductors. In practice on GaN, Ohmic contacts are made on n-GaN with the metals titanium and aluminium. These metals are used together to permit diffusion of the contact metals into the GaN enabling the contact of 2DEGs. To make an Ohmic contact to a p-type

semiconductor, the work function must be high such that the metal Fermi level is in the vicinity of the valence band energy. Few metals have a sufficiently large work function to satisfy this requirement for GaN making Ohmic contacts to p-GaN challenging. Nickel is commonly used for this purpose, however, the contacts are not Ohmic but Schottky with a very small barrier. While the barrier height is set by the material, the depletion width, W_d is determined by the doping density as will be shown in section 2.4.4 (where the potential V_{bi} in equation 2.12 is equivalent to the barrier height ϕ_B). Therefore by heavily doping the p-GaN, the barrier width can be made very thin, reducing the impact of the barrier and rendering only weak Schottky behaviour. On the other hand, nickel on n-GaN presents a large barrier height and results in good rectifying behaviour.

It is not uncommon for multiple metals to be used in a stack. For example gold can be deposited on top of the metal-semiconductor junction to stop oxidisation of the contact metal in air. In HEMTs where the Ohmic contacts need to contact a 2DEG through a barrier, a common approach is to deposit layers of titanium, aluminium, nickel and then gold (Ti/Al/Ni/Au) [57]. During annealing the Ti/Al layers react and spike through the barrier into the 2DEG resulting in a low resistance electrical contact. The nickel acts as a cap and keeps the contact smooth with the inert gold ensuring the contact retains a conductive surface allowing the pad to be probed or wire bonded. This metal stack is not compatible with silicon foundries since in silicon devices gold is a rapidly diffusing contaminant. Acting as a deep recombination centre, gold destroys the minority carrier lifetime. Alternative gold free metal stacks providing similar contact resistances are Ta/Al/Ta [58] and Ti/Al/TiN [59].

2.2.2 Lateral device design

Because of the advantages presented by the 2DEG, early research was focused on developing lateral devices to exploit this. As such, lateral devices are the primary architecture entering the electronics industry today. The typical design of a lateral GaN power transistor is the HEMT, shown in Figure 2.6. The source and drain contacts make Ohmic contact to the 2DEG channel with a Schottky gate contact in between. The layers of the epitaxy will be discussed in detail in section 2.3.1.

A HEMT is a type of field effect transistor (FET) whereby the potential of the gate controls the size of the depletion region below it and the source-drain conductance is controlled by the gate potential in this way. Unlike conventional FETs, which create the depletion region by a pn junction, HEMTs employ a heterojunction for this job. This means that more specifically, HEMTs are a type of heterostructure FET (HFET) [43]. HFETs are desirable since the large barrier to the gate allows for low gate leakage and the confinement of the conductive channel gives rise to a high transconductance. However, most HFETs require doping in the channel layer to make it conductive and this presents a large number of impurity scattering sites. As a result the carrier mobility is low and the switching speeds are limited. To resolve this issue in gallium



Figure 2.6: The layer structure and device topology of a typical power switching GaN-on-Si HEMT with mesa isolation. The 2DEG forms at the top of the unintentionally doped (UID) GaN channel, below the AlGaN barrier.



Figure 2.7: Typical DC (a) output and (b) transfer characteristics of a GaN HEMT. This data was replotted from [60] with permission. These recently published data are representative of the output and transfer characteristics currently achievable with GaN HEMTs.

arsenide devices, modulation doped FETs (MODFETs) were developed wherein a region below the heterointerface was doped to provide carriers in the channel with reduced impurity scattering. However, in GaN, this challenge is automatically resolved by not requiring dopants at all to form a conductive channel. Instead the polarisation induced 2DEG in GaN HEMTs provides all of the advantages of doped HFETs without the drawbacks of impurity scattering. Namely, these advantages are an increased transconductance, aided by the sheet charge being confined close to the gate metal, increased carrier mobility, and the carrier density in a 2DEG is typically in the order of 10^{13} cm⁻² delivering the low specific on-resistance required for high power applications. The typical DC current-voltage characteristics of a GaN HEMT are shown in Figure 2.7 and demonstrate a transconductance of > 100 mS. The mobility of electrons in the 2DEG is far higher than in the bulk material which permits faster switching. This is desired as the switching speed dictates switching related loss and switching at a higher frequency reduces overall system size when considering passives. Taking the example of a capacitor smoothing the output ripple of a DC supply, at higher frequency a smaller capacitance can be used since $Z_C = 1/i\omega C$. For device fabrication on a wafer scale, each device is isolated by destroying the surrounding 2DEG. This is achieved either by etching away a trench around the device to create a mesa (shown in Figure 2.6) or by implanting the area around the device with ions such as nitrogen to locally destroy the crystalline properties of the material (and hence the 2DEG). These are referred to as mesa and implant isolation respectively.

In the majority of power switching applications, transistors will be accompanied by high power diodes such as in DC-DC converters. With the intention of developing GaN power ICs in the future, lateral diodes are also being developed on the same GaN-on-Si epitaxies [61–63]. Even now, early stage all GaN-on-Si ICs featuring HEMTs and lateral diodes have already been demonstrated [64, 65]. Lateral GaN-on-Si devices also allow for easy integration with Si MOSFETs, delivering versatile and compact circuits [66, 67]. These lateral diodes are mostly Schottky devices, modelled on the gate and drain of a HEMT. Thus these devices continue to harness the advantages of the 2DEG and have been developed with a range of field plate designs to increase the operating voltage [68, 69].

2.2.3 Vertical device design

In addition to lateral devices, vertical devices are also beginning to emerge. Despite the lack of 2DEG, the advantages of a vertical topology include increased breakdown voltage without increasing the device area, reduced peak surface fields and easier heat extraction [70]. In high power applications, pn diodes are desired over Schottky diodes as they are able to withstand higher voltages and have been reported to exhibit avalanche breakdown which is required for surge protection [71–73]. As well as pn diodes, a range of vertical device designs on bulk GaN are being investigated for a broad range of applications. For very high power devices, large areas are required for power dissipation and to drop the high potential in the off-state. A lateral geometry



Figure 2.8: Vertical device designs of advanced Schottky barrier diodes, (a)-(b), current aperture vertical electron transistors, (c)-(d) and MOSFETs (e)-(f). Adapted from [19].

for this purpose is unfavourable since the cost of the device scales with the area of the wafer real estate. Therefore vertical devices surpass their lateral equivalents in chip size and ease of thermal management and present themselves as a more financially advantageous alternative. However, vertical architectures are much more sensitive to material quality [33]. As will be explained in section 2.3.2, these devices require low defect density material and this can be provided by growth on native substrates.

Schottky barrier diodes (SBDs) are capable of switching faster than pn diodes and so are more suited for high frequency applications. Schottky barrier diodes also have a lower turn-on voltage than pn diodes but are less suited for high power applications as the reverse leakage and breakdown characteristics are comparatively poor. Recently, trench schottky barrier diodes have been developed using a metal-insulator-semiconductor (MIS) [74] or pn junction [75] to increase the size of the depletion region in reverse bias. These devices are shown in Figures 2.8(a) and 2.8(b) respectively and enable the combination of the best properties of Schottky and pn diode characteristics. Namely, the high forward current and low turn-on voltage from the Schottky diode, with the high breakdown voltage and low reverse leakage of the pn diode. These structures enable low turn-on voltages for vertical GaN devices which can block high voltages. In addition to diodes, vertical transistors are being developed. A key motivation for pushing the development of vertical transistors over lateral devices is the possibility of achieving far superior breakdown voltages. This is enabled by the bulk nature of the device and the resulting absence of surface breakdown. A common vertical transistor design on bulk GaN is the current aperture vertical electron transistor (CAVET) [76]. A p-type layer in the epitaxy impedes vertical conduction apart from through an aperture. Control of the 2DEG above this aperture controls the vertical conductivity of the device. This architecture, shown in Figure 2.8(c), maintains the electron mobility of a lateral 2DEG and so has comparable gate control to a HEMT but with the added advantage of no large surface fields around the gate, since the drain is on the substrate. Moreover, this design can be adapted to an enhancement mode device by growing the 2DEG-forming heterointerface on the semi-polar facet [77] as shown in Figure 2.8(d).

A different approach to vertical GaN transistors is to revert to the metal-oxide-semiconductor field effect transistor (MOSFET) topology, common in Si device design. A trench MOSFET is shown in Figure 2.8(e) which has fewer growth steps than a current aperture vertical electron transistor and defaults to enhancement mode behaviour [78]. The growth can be further simplified by moving to the fin MOSFET design in Figure 2.8(f). This architecture gives rise to enhancement mode operation without the need to grow any p-GaN [79]. Enhancement mode operation is desired in power switches because it acts as a safeguard should the gate control circuitry fail. However, the absence of a 2DEG in GaN MOSFETs means the carrier mobility is very low, typically around $150 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ [79, 80].

2.3 Growth

2.3.1 Heteroepitaxial Growth

The growth of lateral GaN devices is typically done by metal-organic chemical vapour deposition (MOCVD) as this is a cost effective method for mass production and is faster than alternatives such as molecular beam epitaxy (MBE). The principle of metal-organic chemical vapour deposition is to combine two or more carrier gases over a high temperature substrate, typically 1000 °C, where they react, resulting in the epitaxial deposition of GaN. Carrier gases often used are tri-methyl-gallium (Ga(CH₃)₃), tri-methyl-aluminium (Al(CH₃)₃) and ammonia (NH₃). Due to the organic nature of the gases, carbon as well as other impurities are invariably incorporated into the GaN. The concentration of these impurities can be controlled by tuning the temperature and pressure of the reactor. In some cases carbon incorporation is desired in levels higher than provided by the carrier gases. In this case the additional carbon is supplied by the introduction of carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄) as an additional carrier gas. Nitrogen vacancies and low levels of other impurities such as oxygen make as-grown GaN n-type hence undoped GaN is often referred to as unintentionally doped (UID) GaN.

For lateral devices, silicon is the substrate material of choice as it is low cost and the epitaxy



Figure 2.9: A depiction of (a) a screw and (b) an edge dislocation in a crystal lattice with Burgers vectors of 1c and 1a respectively. The arrow represents the Burgers vector and the extended defect propagates up from the lattices as shown.

can be grown in existing Si foundries. However, a lot of work has been done to devise transitional layers to make this growth possible due to the large lattice mismatch between Si and GaN as well as the differing coefficients of thermal expansion (CTE). A generic diagram of the required epitaxial layers for growth on Si is visible in Figure 2.6. When exposed to the tri-methyl-gallium used in the metal-organic chemical vapour deposition reactor, the Si is etched causing damage to large areas of the substrate. This effect is known as meltback etching and must be avoided for successful growth [81]. A thin AlN layer is deposited on the Si for this purpose and both protects the Si and provides a nucleation site for the growth. To manage the stress caused by the lattice mismatch, a number of AlN and AlGaN layers are incorporated to transition from the AlN nucleation layer to GaN. The exact design and composition of these layers, often referred to as transition layers or strain relief layers (SRL), are generally not disclosed by growers. However, they invariably consist of either a AlN/GaN or AlN/AlGaN superlattice, AlN interlayers or (step) graded AlGaN. To compensate for the differing coefficients of thermal expansion, the silicon wafer is intentionally warped to cause compressive stress during the growth of the III-N layers, which compensates for the tensile stress on cool down. These tricks to reduce the strain of the lattice mismatch and enable the growth of GaN-on-Si have their limitations. Currently, the maximum achievable thickness of the wide bandgap epitaxy is limited to ~ 7 μ m including the strain relief layers [36].

The strain relief layers also have the effect of reducing the dislocation density by approximately a factor of ten from 10^{10} to 10^9 cm⁻² [82]. This is due to the many junctions of differing strain each introducing a chance of causing dislocations to turn over by 90° where they may find another dislocation of the opposite Burgers vector and annihilate. The Burgers vector represents the magnitude and direction of a lattice distortion. For example, Figures 2.9(a) and 2.9(b) show a screw and an edge dislocation with Burgers vectors of 1c and 1a respectively. When tracing a circuit around the dislocation, following the lattice planes, the circuit does not return to its starting point by the displacement of the Burgers vector. Reduction of the dislocation density is important since these extended defects give rise to leakage paths, explained in section 2.4.5. As leakage current flows along dislocations, these epitaxies with a high density of vertical dislocations are unsuitable for vertical devices. However, fortunately, there appears to be little impact on the lateral leakage and lateral mobility, likely because the high density of the 2DEG screens these scattering centres. As the operation of a lateral device never requires low resistance vertical conduction below the 2DEG, heavy doping of the buffer and strain relief layers with carbon can be used to reduce vertical leakage and increase the vertical breakdown voltage.

2.3.2 Homoepitaxial Growth

For vertical devices such as pn diodes, where reducing the vertical leakage is critical, the dislocation density is one of the most important epitaxial characteristics to consider. Homoepitaxial growth is desirable in this case since it introduces no additional strain or defects other than those already existing in the substrate. Bulk GaN substrates can be grown by hydride vapour phase epitaxy or by the ammonothermal method. The hydride vapour phase epitaxy process first reacts hydrogen chloride with gallium at high temperatures to produce gallium tri-chloride (GaCl₃). This is subsequently reacted with ammonia (NH_3) to produce GaN and is generally deposited on foreign seeds such as sapphire. The latter reaction takes place near equilibrium conditions with growth rates as high as 500 μ m per hour [83]. In contrast, the ammonothermal method takes place in a high pressure autoclave. GaN solution is dissolved in ammonia and transported by convection to an area containing GaN seeds. The presence of the temperature gradient causes the solution to become supersaturated, forcing deposition onto the native seeds and prompting crystal growth [84]. This method has been able to produce 2" substrates of high structural quality but with a high point defect density and a growth rate of only a few μm per hour [85]. The ammonothermal method has also been used to grow seeds for faster hydride vapour phase epitaxy deposition resulting in a rapidly grown, low strain substrate. Bulk GaN substrates typically have dislocation densities in the order of 10^5 cm⁻² but are currently much more expensive than Si substrates and only widely available in small, 2" wafers. However, advances in growing technology are rapidly driving down the cost and increasing the size of the available substrates.

2.4 Selected semiconductor physics

2.4.1 p- and n-type doping of GaN

GaN can be doped both n- and p-type by introducing impurities during the growth which incorporate substitutionally. For n-type doping during metal-organic chemical vapour deposition growth, silane gas (SiH₄) is introduced which causes the incorporation of silicon on the gallium site [54]. This is associated with a shallow donor level of 12-17 meV [54] creating conductive n-GaN. Conversely, p-GaN can be grown by introducing bis-cyclo-penta-dienyl-magnesium (Cp₂Mg) into the metal-organic chemical vapour deposition reactor which results in the incorporation of magnesium on the gallium site [86] with an acceptor energy level of ~112 meV when in high densities [87]. This level is deep compared to the thermal energy at room temperature, therefore these acceptors are only partially ionised. In addition, as grown, the magnesium is generally incorporated in complexes with hydrogen which passivate the dopant, rendering it electrically inactive. The hydrogen can be removed by annealing in a hydrogen poor environment, reactivating the dopant [88, 89]. However, the deeper level means that very high donor densities are required for conductive p-GaN. Typically, densities as high as 10^{20} cm⁻³ are required as only 1-10 % are ionised at room temperature. Increasing the magnesium density beyond this value results in material degradation and a drop off in the hole density [87].

2.4.2 pn diodes

A pn diode is a junction between p- and n-type material and exhibits an asymmetric currentvoltage characteristic, described by the Shockley equation as

$$I = I_0 \left(\exp\left(\frac{qV}{nk_bT}\right) - 1 \right) \tag{2.4}$$

where I_0 is the reverse saturation current, n is the ideality factor and k_b is the Boltzmann constant. When forward biased, carriers flow across the junction causing minority carriers to be injected on both sides. At low defect densities, the minority carrier lifetime is sufficiently long that the minority carriers travel all the way through the junction into the bulk quasi-neutral region where they recombine either by a band-to-band process or via defects. Conversely, in a junction with very high defect densities, the recombination of minority carriers can occur in the junction before the carrier has seen the full potential drop of the junction. At most, this halves the voltage drop seen by the carrier i.e. the voltage is divided by an ideality of two. More realistically, both of these two cases occur resulting in an ideality between one and two depending on the defect density at the junction. Study of the ideality over temperature is a good way to identify thermally activated defects in the junction and identify the activation energies. From the exponential term in the Shockley equation it looks like the forward current should be reduced at higher temperatures. Instead, the current increases and the turn on voltage shifts to lower voltages as the temperature is increased. This is because the reverse saturation current is also temperature dependant, with the form

$$I_0 = e p_{n0} \sqrt{\frac{D_p}{\tau_p}} + e n_{p0} \sqrt{\frac{D_n}{\tau_n}}$$
(2.5)

where p_{n0} (n_{p0}) is the minority carrier density in the n (p) side of the junction, τ_p (τ_n) is the minority carrier lifetime for holes (electrons) and D_p (D_n) is the diffusion constant for holes (electrons). The diffusion constants are defined by the Einstein relation;

$$D_{e,h} = \frac{k_b T \mu_{e,h}}{e} \tag{2.6}$$

which linearly increases with temperature. The minority carrier density also increases with temperature but less strongly. Therefore, the reverse saturation current increases with temperature while the exponential term in the Shockley equation decreases with temperature. Overall, the temperature to the power of a half wins, resulting in an increase in forward and reverse current with temperature.

2.4.2.1 Minority carrier lifetime

The minority carrier lifetime is the mean time a minority carrier exists before recombination. This can occur via band-to-band recombination, via a defect state known as Shockley-Reed-Hall (SRH) recombination, or via Auger recombination. In Auger recombination the recombination energy is donated to a third carrier which typically de-excites non-radiatively. Shockley-Reed-Hall and Auger recombination generally deposit the additional energy as heat into the crystal (phonons), while band-to-band recombination emits the energy as photons. The effective minority carrier lifetime, τ_{eff} , is governed by the recombination option with the shortest time constant, described by the equation

$$\frac{1}{\tau_{eff}} = \frac{1}{\tau_{Band}} + \frac{1}{\tau_{SRH}} + \frac{1}{\tau_{Auger}}$$
(2.7)

where τ_{Band} , τ_{SRH} and τ_{Auger} are the time constants for recombination via band-to-band, Shockley-Reed-Hall and Auger recombination respectively. As GaN is a direct bandgap semiconductor, band-to-band recombination does not require any momentum exchange and so can occur without requiring phonon interaction. This greatly increases the likelihood of band-to-band recombination compared to an indirect bandgap semiconductor and reduces the band-to-band recombination time constant accordingly. Shockley-Reed-Hall recombination via defect states intuitively depends on the defect density. The higher the material quality, the lower the recombination rate and the longer the time constant. Auger recombination is only significant at high current densities.

In metal-organic chemical vapour deposition grown GaN, the minority carrier diffusion length has been measured as 0.28 μ m corresponding to a minority carrier lifetime of 6.5 ns [90]. In hydride vapour phase epitaxy grown GaN which has a much higher material quality, the minority carrier diffusion length has been measured as high as 2.5 μ m corresponding to a minority carrier lifetime of 40 ns [91]. In order to achieve a diode ideality near 1, the minority carrier diffusion length must be greater than the depletion region size. In equilibrium, the typical depletion width of a GaN diode is around 0.5 μ m and reduces in forward bias. This is less than or in the same order of magnitude as the diffusion lengths reported above meaning near ideal GaN diodes are achievable given a sufficiently high material quality, despite the direct bandgap nature of GaN.



Figure 2.10: (a) The energy levels in GaN resulting from carbon incorporation with their charge states. Density functional theory simulations of the formation energies of these defects are reproduced from Lyons et al. [92]. These results are shown as a function of Fermi level in (b) Ga-rich and (c) N-rich growth conditions.

2.4.3 Carbon doping in GaN

In GaN-on-Si HEMTs for power switching applications, carbon is often intentionally incorporated in high densities in the buffer and strain relief layers to increase the material resistivity, suppressing buffer conduction and increasing the vertical breakdown voltage [93]. Carbon doped GaN (GaN:C) has been measured to have a resistivity in the order of 10^{13} Ω cm and its use in power devices is based on this empirical observation [35]. The exact mechanism that makes GaN:C highly resistive is only now becoming clear. Density functional theory (DFT) simulations by Lyons et al. [92] predict that carbon will incorporate in GaN primarily substitutionally with trap levels shown in Figure 2.10(a). This figure shows that carbon in GaN is amphoteric since depending on how it incorporates, it can act as a donor (+/0) or an acceptor (0/-). Substitutional carbon on the nitrogen site (C_N) forms a deep acceptor level at 0.9 eV above the valence band. It is predicted that this defect can undergo a lattice relaxation and become a donor-like complex by capturing a second hole. However the result is a very deep donor level 0.35 eV above the valence band and so is of little importance. Substitutional carbon on the gallium site (C_{Ga}) is predicted to incorporate as a shallow donor in or near the conduction band [92] while the lowest energy interstitial carbon configuration (C_i) forms a level of 1.35 eV above the valence band. These defect levels have also been observed spectroscopically [94–96]. The formation of these defects costs energy, so carbon will be incorporated in whichever configuration has the lowest formation energy. Therefore, the lower the formation energy the higher the relative abundance of a particular defect. Figures 2.10(b) and 2.10(c), show the simulated formation energies of each defect type in Ga-rich and N-rich growth conditions respectively. In these figures, the x-axis represents the

position of the Fermi level during growth. At a given Fermi level position the relative formation energies are a good indicator of the expected relative abundances of the defect states since a higher formation energy means a slower incorporation rate. The interstitial carbon defect only has the lowest formation energy when the Fermi level is very near the valence band in Ga-rich conditions. Most as-grown GaN is n-type because of unintentional dopants such as H and O and so interstitial carbon is unlikely to form in normal growth conditions. In both Ga-rich and N-rich conditions in n-type GaN, C_N is the most energetically favourable and so is predicted to be the most abundant. C_{Ga} is only the lowest energy in N-rich growth when the Fermi level is below the midgap and so in n-type GaN will not be the most abundant but can still be present in a lower density in addition to C_N .

The presence of both acceptors and donors in a semiconductor leads to a phenomenon called compensation. Compensation occurs when the electrons donated by a donor are accepted by an acceptor and no carriers are available for conduction despite the presence of dopants. The term self-compensation applies when both the donor and acceptor states are a result of the same amphoteric impurity. In this particular case, the donors and acceptors are the C_{Ga} and C_N defects respectively in Figure 2.10. Since the C_{Ga} level is very shallow, all these donors will be ionised at room temperature. In the absence of any other states, this would pull the Fermi level up to near the conduction band. However, with the presence of the C_N acceptor states at 0.9 eV, lifting the Fermi level towards 0.9 eV will begin to cause the ionisation of these acceptors which will push the Fermi level down again. From the discussion above there will always be more carbon acceptors than carbon donors but acceptors will only become ionised to match the charge of the ionised and the Fermi level will be located in the vicinity of 0.9 eV. This pinning of the Fermi level in the midgap explains the experimental observations of increased resistivity in carbon doped GaN.

The high acceptor concentration pinning the Fermi level in the lower half of the bandgap makes GaN:C slightly p-type [41] and the hole concentration, p, can be calculated using standard equations for compensated semiconductors [97];

$$p = -\frac{N'_V + N_D}{2} + \frac{\sqrt{(N'_V + N_D)^2 + 4N'_V (N_A - N_D)}}{2}$$
(2.8)

Here, N_A and N_D are the acceptor and donor densities respectively and N'_V is the adjusted effective density of states in the valence band, since the acceptors are only partially ionised. This adjusted density of states is defined as

$$N_V' = \frac{N_V \exp(-E_A/k_b T)}{2}$$
(2.9)

where E_A is the difference in energy between the trap level and the valence band edge and N_V is the effective density of states, which laterally in GaN is $8.9 \times 10^{15} \times T^{3/2}$ cm⁻³. Since the carbon acceptor level is deep, N'_V is very small and is treated as $N'_V << N_A, N_D$. Under this



Figure 2.11: The hole concentration and resistivity of carbon doped GaN as a function of the compensation ratio, plotted from Equations 2.8, 2.10 and 2.11. This result is independent of the carbon density though a value of 10^{18} cm⁻³ was used in this plot at a temperature of 20 °C.

assumption, it has been shown that a Taylor expansion of this expression about $(N_A - N_D) = 0$ gives an excellent first order approximation of the hole concentration as [98]

$$p = N_V'(\frac{N_A}{N_D} - 1) + \mathcal{O}(N_V'^2)$$
(2.10)

Second order terms of this expression are negligible since N'_V is so small. Equations 2.8 and 2.10 are plotted, indistinguishably in Figure 2.11 along with the resulting resistivity, ρ , calculated by

$$\rho = (ep\mu_h)^{-1} \tag{2.11}$$

where μ_h is the hole mobility, assumed to be 10 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹.

Therefore, in a compensated material, Equation 2.10 demonstrates that the carrier concentration is determined by the ratio N_D/N_A alone, and not the net dopant density. This ratio is defined as the compensation ratio and through the carrier concentration, sets the material resistivity. In the special case of both the donor and acceptor being shallow with the total dopant density much higher than the intrinsic carrier density, and neglecting carrier freeze-out, equation 2.8 can be instead approximated as $p \simeq N_A - N_D$ [99], but this is not the case here. This understanding is relevant to Chapter 4 which explores the value of the carbon self-compensation ratio in AlGaN.

2.4.4 Capacitance in semiconductors

A depleted region in a semiconductor may exist at a junction as carriers are driven away by a built-in junction potential. If the edges of the depleted region are approximated to be abrupt, it can be treated as the dielectric of an ideal parallel plate capacitor. With this depletion approximation,

several properties of the materials and the junction can be extracted. From electrostatics, the depletion width, W_d , of a highly asymmetric pn junction or a Schottky junction can be expressed as

$$W_d = \sqrt{\frac{2\epsilon}{qN_D}(V_{bi} - V)}$$
(2.12)

where ϵ is the permittivity of GaN, N_D is the dopant density of the lower doped material, V_{bi} is the built-in junction potential and V is the applied bias. It is apparent from this equation that the depletion width expands with increasing applied reverse bias. As such, the capacitance is also a function of voltage, expressed as

$$C(V) = \frac{\epsilon A}{W_d(V)} \tag{2.13}$$

where A is the area of the junction. Therefore, measurements of the capacitance can be used to identify the depletion width as a function of voltage. The doping density, and built-in junction potential can also be extracted with this technique using the following analysis.

A small increase in the reverse bias, dV, causes a small volume of material at the depletion edge to become depleted, expanding the depletion volume. To do this, a number of carriers, carrying a total charge of dQ, must be swept out of the newly depleted region. By definition, the capacitance measures this change in charge with voltage since

$$C = \frac{dQ}{dV} \tag{2.14}$$

The charge that left the depletion region can be expressed as

$$dQ = qAN_D dW \tag{2.15}$$

Therefore, combining equations 2.14 and 2.15, the capacitance of the depletion region can be written as

$$C = qAN_D \frac{dW}{dV} \tag{2.16}$$

Differentiating equation 2.12 with respect to voltage and substituting into equation 2.16 removes the depletion width term and gives

$$C(V) = qAN_D \sqrt{\frac{\epsilon}{2qN_D(V_{bi} - V)}}$$
(2.17)

where the dependence of the capacitance on voltage as been made explicit. Re-arranging this result in terms of $1/C^2$ gives

$$\frac{1}{C^2} = \frac{2(V_{bi} - V)}{qA^2 N_D \epsilon}$$
(2.18)

There are a few useful reasons to re-plot capacitance data as $1/C^2$ against voltage as in Figure 2.12. Firstly, using equation 2.18, the doping density can be derived from the gradient in Figure



Figure 2.12: (a) Capacitance-voltage data of various diameter diodes plotted as $1/C^2$. Inset, the data near zero was extrapolated to find the built-in junction potential. The dopant density is shown as a function of (b) voltage and (c) depth using equation 2.13.

2.12(a) with some other constants. As a plot of equation 2.18 will be a straight line provided the doping is constant, it is easy to see changes in the doping with depth. Secondly, as the value of $1/C^2$ is only sensitive to the dopant density at the depletion edge, as this edge moves through the sample with increasing applied voltage, the dopant density through the full volume of the sample can be profiled as demonstrated in Figures 2.12(b) and 2.12(c). Finally, by linearly extrapolating the $1/C^2$ curve to V = 0, the built in junction potential can be determined (inset to Figure 2.12(a)).

2.4.5 Transport mechanisms

Beyond carrier promotion to the conduction or valence bands, there are other, non-Ohmic, means of transport by which leakage processes can occur. Direct tunnelling of carriers can occur through a barrier that is sufficiently thin, shown in Figure 2.13(a). The likelihood of this occurring decreases exponentially with barrier thickness so this is only possible over very short distances in the order of 1 nm. Tunnelling through thicker barriers is possible by (multi-step) trap assisted tunnelling (TAT) wherein the carrier tunnels a shorter distance to an unoccupied defect state within the barrier as one or more intermediate steps (Figure 2.13(b)). With the built-in electric fields of III-nitrides or with an applied bias, barriers can become triangular and this enables Fowler-Nordheim tunnelling; tunnelling to the conduction band of the barrier. This is shown in Figure 2.13(c) and provides a shorter tunnelling distance than the total barrier thickness. Another field enabled mechanism is Poole-Frenkel barrier lowering, shown in Figure 2.13(d). This is not directly a conduction mechanism but rather field assisted emission which can lead to current flow when repeated. The lowered barrier reduces the energy required for detrapping, reducing the effective depth of a trap.



Figure 2.13: Transport mechanisms are presented through a barrier by (a) direct tunnelling, (b) trap-assisted-tunnelling, (c) Fowler-Nordheim tunnelling and (d) Poole-Frenkel barrier lowering where β_{PF} is the extent of the barrier lowering.

Mechanism	Expression	E-Field dependence
Poole Frenkel [100]	$I = I_0 \exp\left(\frac{\beta_{PF} E^{0.5}}{k_B T}\right)$	$\ln(I) \propto E^{0.5}$
Variable range hopping [101]	$I = I_0 \exp\left(\frac{CE}{2k_BT} \left(\frac{T_0}{T}\right)^{0.25}\right)$	$\ln(I) \propto E$
Surface leakage [102]	$I \propto \left(rac{E}{ ho} ight)$	$I \propto E$

Table 2.2: The dependence of various conduction mechanisms on electric field (E) and temperature (T). This table was adapted from [103].

 β_{PF} is the lowering of the barrier shown in Figure 2.13(d), *C* is a constant and T_0 is a characteristic temperature.

Similar to multi-step trap-assisted-tunnelling is the mechanism of variable range hopping (VRH) which equally involves carriers sequentially occupying multiple point defect states to cross a barrier. However, in the case of variable range hopping, each hop is thermally activated into states which are classically accessible and no tunnelling is required. Because of this, a variable range hopping current exhibits a temperature dependence while a trap-assisted-tunnelling current does not. Another leakage mechanism is hopping along surface states which exist from dangling bonds at the crystal surface. The dependence of this mechanism and those previously mentioned on electric field and temperature are shown in Table 2.2 with the exception of tunnelling mechanisms. Tunnelling currents are dependent on the barrier thickness and the density of states either side of the barrier and therefore are not dependent on temperature and have a more complicated dependence on voltage.

As stated in section 2.3.1, the presence of dislocations can give rise to leakage paths. It was originally thought that the very high dislocation densities in GaN would lead to rapid failure as the material degraded under stress due to the high number of leakage paths, as had been seen in II-VI semiconductors [104]. In this respect GaN is unusual and it appears that a large fraction of the dislocations are not electrically active. Recent work by Usami et al. identified the location of leakage paths in a structure using IR emission microscopy [105]. Cathodoluminescence (CL)

images of the same sample showed numerous dark spots signifying extended recombination centres. However, not all of the dark spots coincided with leakage points indicating the presence of non-leaky extended defects. Transmission electron microscope images of cross-sections taken through the leaky dislocations showed only pure screw dislocations with a Burgers vector of 1c [105]. Study of the current voltage characteristics of dislocation leakage and correlation with the dislocation density indicates that the mechanism for this transport is variable range hopping [106], along sites in the dislocation cores [107].

An additional method available for probing the conductivity of dislocations is conductive atomic force microscopy (CAFM). It has been observed that after surface etching, dislocations form pits with the pit size depending on the Burgers vector. Therefore the pit size and the conductivity can be correlated to the dislocation type. This was attempted by Cao et al. [108] however, analysis of conductive atomic force microscopy results requires great care; since the tip current depends on the contact area and force between the tip and the surface, scanning over a pit will always increase the leakage current when pushing forward up out of a pit. This issue of topology artefacts makes drawing conclusions from this technique challenging.

2.5 Reliability

Despite the promising material properties of GaN and the ability to fabricate lateral and vertical devices, there are still a number of reliability issues which need to be resolved. In lateral devices, although already in the early stages of commercialisation, HEMTs continue to suffer from issues related to the management of peak electric fields. While regarding the more early phase vertical devices, these challenges are related to optimising device designs but are equally related to electric field management, particularly at device edges. An ideal transistor presents an infinite resistance in the off-state and zero resistance in the on-state. In reality neither of these are ever true, but a constant, low on-state resistance is desired.

2.5.1 HEMT reliability

First discussing lateral GaN HEMTs, one reliability issue is current collapse. For a normally-on HEMT in the off-state, the gate is at a negative potential and the drain is at a large positive potential. The drain potential is dropped both laterally and vertically and results in high electric field regions. In these regions, 2DEG electrons can be accelerated to high energies and become trapped in acceptors in the GaN:C. This introduces a population of negatively charged trap states below the channel in the off state. When the device is turned on by setting the gate voltage to 0 V, the 2DEG channel does not fully recover because the negatively charged traps below it act as a back gate. Over time, these defect states thermally de-trap and the 2DEG density recovers to the initial density. This phenomenon is referred to as current collapse since the channel current is lower (has collapsed) after switching back to the on-state compared to the channel current



Figure 2.14: An illustration of the primary degradation mechanisms governing the reliability of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs as well as leakage and reversible charge storage phenomena.

before switching the device off. This phenomenon is equally described as dynamic on-resistance, referring to the higher than nominal channel resistance after switching to the on-state which gradually reduces to the nominal on-resistance. Both of these terms are used in equal measure but are both referring to the same physics. Dynamic on-resistance directly translates into power losses during switching since an increase in the on-resistance increases joule heating. However, the magnitude of the losses in a power converter will depend on the duty cycle of the switching. If the device is in the off-state most of the time, the buffer will not have time to de-trap and the channel resistance would be permanently higher, but if the device is mostly in the on-state, there will be little time for trapping and the on-resistance will remain low. A typical limit imposed on the dynamic on-resistance is a maximum increase in the on-resistance of 10% after switching on compared to the on-resistance before switching the device off.

The source of the increased on-resistance is the continued partial depletion of the 2DEG after the channel is turned on and is related to trapped charge on the surface and in the buffer. For both normally-on and normally-off devices in the off-state, the device experiences high electric fields between the gate and the drain. In the buffer this can mean the generation of hot electrons, which have been accelerated to have a kinetic energy far greater than the conduction band edge. These electrons can easily transit into the buffer where they are trapped in deep states with long time constants. On the surface, states associated with dangling bonds can allow surface hopping and the occupation of these states. If unaddressed, electrons can migrate onto the surface of the barrier from the gate, effectively increasing the gate length. This is referred to as a virtual gate [109]. After switching to the on-state, the electrons in the surface states remain, and continue to partially deplete the 2DEG. Likewise, the charged buffer traps act as a back-gate, partially depleting the 2DEG from the bottom. These charge storage phenomena are shown in Figure 2.14 as negative charge around the 2DEG.

Surface related current collapse can be resolved by the use of a passivation layer which reduces the density of surface states [38, 110, 111]. Additionally, surface migration can be further curbed by reducing the surface electric field at the gate edge. This can be done through the use of properly designed field plates [112–115]. Field plates are the extension of the contact metals laterally above the device. The T shaped gate and the source and drain field plates in Figure 2.6, reduce the peak electric field by causing the gate-drain voltage to be dropped at the edge of each field plate rather than all at the drain side of the gate edge [114–117]. The electric field is further reduced by increasing the gate-drain separation. For this reason, the gate is closer to the source to provide a larger distance over which the potential is dropped when the drain is biased. Field plates redistribute the electric fields reduces impact ionisation, which can otherwise lead to degradation and accelerated device failure. Therefore this part of the device design also increases the lifetime of GaN based devices [118, 119].

The issue of buffer related current collapse has proved more difficult to address. Deep levels in the buffer layers are invariably present from unintentional dopants and even required to increase the resistivity of the buffer (see section 2.4.3). Therefore, rather than minimising the density of buffer traps, their impact can be managed by allowing them to discharge more quickly. This has been approached by reducing the resistivity of the top of the stack which has the effect of injecting positive charge from the surface and expediting the neutralisation of the buffer [42]. It has been shown that processes which result in positive buffer charge injection can successfully reduce buffer related current collapse in this way [120]. The on-resistance determines the conduction losses which along with switching losses make up the total power losses. Therefore, resolving current collapse is essential for realising low loss devices [40, 121].

The magnitude of the leakage currents in the off-state places another constraint on the device performance since any leakage current represents another loss mechanism and the possibility of device degradation [122]. Unlike in the on-state, the drain bias will be much higher than the source, gate and substrate and the resulting electric fields can give rise to high off-state leakage currents and hot electrons. Lateral gate-drain leakage on the surface can generally be suppressed by a good passivation layer and well designed field plates, just like the virtual gate [113]. Lateral source-drain leakage can also occur through the buffer, below the gate depletion region. This is referred to a punch through and is the reason for carbon doping the layer below the channel, rendering it highly resistive and minimising such lateral leakage [123, 124]. Finally, vertical drain-substrate leakage can also occur and effectively limits the maximum device operating voltage. This vertical leakage can be managed by increasing the total thickness of the epitaxy as well as increasing the resistivity of the buffer and strain relief layers by carbon doping. Therefore, as the solution for off-state leakage is to increase the density of trapping defects, there is an apparent trade off between buffer related current collapse and off-state leakage [125].

2.5.2 Vertical device reliability

As introduced in 2.2.3 the development of vertical GaN devices is an active research field with a wide variety of design concepts. Beyond material quality and cost which are continuously improving, the primary challenge faced by vertical GaN devices is the optimisation of electric field management at the device edges. Unlike in lateral devices, vertical transistors do not suffer from current collapse or virtual gate issues. As can be seen in Figures 2.8(c)-(f), with the drain on the substrate, the surface contacts consist of only the source and gate terminals yielding low surface fields and so completely resolving virtual gate and surface leakage issues. Furthermore, as buffer conduction is a requirement in the off-state, there is no intentional carbon doping and so no buffer related current collapse. However, for vertical transistors in the off-state and vertical diodes in reverse bias, high voltages are blocked across the device creating high vertical electric fields. In the bulk of the device, the breakdown field of high quality GaN can begin to approach the material limits. However, device failure is determined by the weakest point of the device which is the periphery. Here, the material may be defective due to implant isolation or surface states may be present from mesa etching. The solution to this issue is the implementation of an appropriate edge termination method.

2.5.2.1 Edge termination

In addition to extending the breakdown voltage, it has also been indicated that management of surface failure at the edge of vertical devices is the key to avalanche breakdown, a requirement for robust operation [19]. Edge termination is all about extending the distance over which the potential is dropped. In Si and SiC devices, a typical edge termination method is junction termination extension (JTE) [126, 127]. Junction termination extension involves the inclusion of a lower doped region around the surface of the structure which reduces the peak fields by increasing the width of the depletion region. A qualitative sketch of the electric field profile after junction termination extension is shown in Figure 2.15(b) compared to an unterminated structure in Figure 2.15(a). Junction termination extension can be taken even further with field rings which are annular ion implanted regions around the device of varying width and separation. Correctly implemented, these selectively doped rings distribute the electric field, dropping the potential over multiple junctions and thus reducing the peak electric field as shown in Figure 2.15(c). In some materials such as Si, where the diffusion rate is sufficiently high, the selectively implanted field rings can be annealed to drive-in and spatially redistribute the dopants. This results in the new dopant distribution shown in Figure 2.15(d) and the electric field is spread yet more evenly. These edge termination methods are a commonly implemented solution in more mature semiconductors such as Si and SiC and adaptation of these edge termination methods to GaN has been attempted with some success, both with termination extension [34, 128, 129] and field rings [130, 131]. However, these processes are more difficult in GaN due to material processing challenges related to the activation of selectively doped areas [132]. Due to the immaturity of



Figure 2.15: Vertical pn diodes with (a) no edge termination, (b) junction termination extension (JTE), and (c) field rings. Annealing of the field ring structure gives the dopant distribution shown in (d). A sketch of characteristic electric field profiles along the dashed lines are shown below each diagram. The peak electric field is much higher in the geometry with no edge termination.

selective area doping technologies in GaN, the resulting implanted material is highly defective and yields low quality devices [75]. As such, the development of edge termination technology has been identified as the target of future optimisation work [133].

An alternative and immediately achievable edge termination method in GaN devices is to bevel the structure. A properly designed bevelled edge on a planar pn junction can result in a reduction of the electric field on the surface. This increases the likelihood that breakdown will occur uniformly in the bulk and not unpredictably at the surface. A schematic example of how this can be done is shown in Figure 2.16. The surface field is reduced by redistributing the voltage drop to change the surface field profile [134]. This is only effective for small bevel angles after which the peak surface field rises above the peak internal field [135]. In this small angle range bulk breakdown is ensured, however at a fraction less than the ideal infinite planar junction, determined by the bevel angle. [136]. The effectiveness of the bevel in reducing the surface field compared to the bulk field is influenced by the doping levels. Calculations suggest that increasing



Figure 2.16: A schematic of the bevelled edge of a planar pn junction with equal doping densities. The dashed lines represent the depletion edge. In the depletion region, the space charge is shown and must be equal on each side of the junction. Where the pn junction reaches the surface, the lack of p-type material requires it to depleted further away from the junction to match the positive space charge in the n side. This results in an increased depletion width and a reduced surface electric field.

the background donor density in the n-type drift region would increase the bulk field, and the surface field would also increase but to a lesser extent [135]. This indicates that the bevel is more effective at higher doping densities since the surface field is a smaller fraction of the bulk field. The surface depletion width is extended since where the junction meets the surface, there is not sufficient p-type material to match the charge exposed in the n-type material, and so the depletion on the p-side must extend further up the bevel. This extension of the depletion width by depleting the material up to the surface is a similar principle to the reduced surface field (RESURF) effect which can increase the breakdown voltage in lateral GaN devices [137]. Management of the surface electric field is critical to reduce surface related reverse bias leakage. Surface states can give rise to a hopping current across the junction in this device geometry. As with surface issues on HEMTs, this can be addressed with a good passivation layer and by reducing the electric field, in this case by a bevelled edge termination. This principle of tapering edges to reduce peak fields has already been applied to vertical transistors [138]. As edge termination can extend the device operating voltage, it can be useful to study the effectiveness of different termination techniques using more simple structures such as pn diodes. As with test structures, studies of simple devices like pn diodes provide the foundations for more complicated structures such as the advanced schottky barrier diodes and vertical transistors of Figure 2.8.



CHARACTERISATION TECHNIQUES

o build up a physical understanding of device behaviour, various characterisation techniques have been employed in this thesis. This section begins by detailing the capabilities of the laboratory instrumentation and then goes on to detail the experimental methods and simulation processes applied in later chapters.

3.1 Measurement capabilities

3.1.1 Measurement environment

The devices throughout this work are unpackaged and measured on-wafer. This allows rapid feedback in device development as new samples can be measured and characterised without the need to spend time and money developing and optimising packaging. On-wafer measurements also allow finer control of the device conditions such as temperature and optical inspection of the device after breakdown is simple. However, on-wafer measurements require the use of a probe station and, in this case, extended cabling to source measurement units which cause the test circuit to have a high loop inductance. This limits the speed at which a device under test can be switched and the maximum switching speed of a device may be difficult to assess. Measurement of this device parameter is crucial for estimating switching losses. Quantitatively, the inductance of a typical power switching circuit is ~ 2 nH, whereas an estimate of the loop inductance of a probe station used in this work is around 100 times higher. In this thesis, all measurements were at sufficiently low frequencies that they were not affected by this limitation. Performing electrical measurements in the dark is important for unpackaged semiconducting devices since any light can affect the results, either by increasing the carrier density through photo-excitation or by introducing photo-currents. To avoid this problem, measurements were carried out in darkness



Figure 3.1: A cross-section of a triaxial cable with a diagram of the simplified biasing circuitry internal to the source measurement unit. Current measured by the source measurement unit cannot be attributed to leakage through the cable dielectric since the buffer input presents an ideally infinite impedance and there is no potential difference between the signal and guard.

inside a measurement enclosure. Since these enclosures are metallic they also act as a Faraday cage and help with the reduction of EM noise and interference.

3.1.2 Triaxial cabling

The grounded shield of co-axial cabling offers shielding of the core signal from electromagnetic interference. Coaxial cable is thus well suited for sensitive electrical measurements. However, at very low currents, leakage in the dielectric between the core and shield can become significant and mask the measurement signal. This can be addressed by the inclusion of an additional concentric sheath between the core and shield, referred to as the guard. As shown in Figure 3.1, the guard is biased through a current buffer to the same potential as the core and as such, there is no electric field across the dielectric surrounding the core. Thus, no leakage current due to the cable is present during low current measurements. Leakage from guard to shield remains present but this current is provided from the current buffer and so not included in the current measurement.

3.1.3 Probe stations

Measurements were performed on probe stations from Wentworth labs. These are composed of a top illumination microscope above a chuck for device positioning and probing and surrounded by space for magnetically attached micro-positioners. This is shown in Figure 3.2 inside the dark measurement enclosure. The probe stations and chucks are massive to reduce the amplitude of any vibrations. The positioners each have three degrees of translational freedom with a 3 μ m



Figure 3.2: The probe station inside the measurement enclosure with a top illumination microscope, micro-positioners and a guarded chuck.

spacial precision and with a tungsten probe tip of nominally 5 μ m diameter. As with triaxial cabling, the chuck is guarded; the top surface of the chuck sits on an insulator on top of another conductor, biased at the same potential through a current buffer. This way the chuck surface is guarded and ensures that current measured from the top conductor must be from the device under test since there are no other electric fields.

For measurements at elevated temperatures, the chuck contains resistive filaments which offer heating to a maximum temperature of around 300° C. In addition, the chuck can be actively cooled by pumping an ethylene-glycol based coolant through channels below the chuck. With both heating and cooling, the chuck temperature can quickly reach any set-point using a proportional-integral-derivative (PID) controller. The temperature of the chuck in Figure 3.2 is controlled by varying the heater power and coolant circulation via pulse width modulation (PWM). This is common for proportional-integral-derivative controlled heaters since it is cheap and easy to implement, however, pulse width modulation introduces unmanageable RF noise to low current measurements. Therefore, for measurements requiring very low noise (< pA) at high temperatures an alternative method of regulating the current is required such as adjusting the magnitude of an applied DC voltage.



Figure 3.3: The semiconductor characterisation instrumentation available in the laboratory and their connectivity.

3.1.4 Laboratory Instrumentation

The laboratory is equipped with a number of source measurement units (SMUs) which are measurement instruments capable of sourcing either a current or voltage while simultaneously measuring the other. These units typically have two tri-axial connections for force and sense permitting kelvin configuration measurements. Each of the three systems have different capabilities as outlined below and shown in Figure 3.3.

Firstly, the Keithley 4200-SCS instrument has four medium resolution source measurement units with a current resolution down to 100 pA and a voltage range of ± 200 V. In addition the system is equipped with a high voltage capacitance measurement unit (CMU) allowing CV measurement up to 200 V with the use of bias tees and in the frequency range of 10 kHz to 100 MHz. The system can also be configured with a low current pre-amplifier unit which improves the current resolution of one source measurement unit to 10 fA. The HP 4156A is composed of four high resolution source measurement units with a maximum current resolution of 1 fA and a voltage range of up to ± 100 V. This is accompanied by the 41501B expander unit which adds an additional high power source measurement unit with a voltage range of up to ± 200 V and current resolution of 1 nA. Lastly, the Keithley 2657A is a single high power source measurement unit sourcing up to ± 3 kV at 1 mA or ± 100 V at 100 mA with nA resolution. For safety, each system is equipped with an interlock connected to a micro-switch on the enclosure door. If the enclosure is opened while a source measurement unit is supplying a lethal voltage, the interlock is triggered and all voltage sources are set to zero volts. All of these instruments are equipped with a general purpose interface bus (GPIB) enabling external control for measurement automation and coordination making possible the simultaneous use of multiple systems for the same device measurement. The latter may be required in some measurement techniques, for example, when applying high voltages but measuring small currents as is the case in Chapter 7. The national instruments software, LabVIEW, was used for this purpose. New control programs were written by the author and existing programs were modified to perform the measurements in this thesis.

3.2 Electrical Characterisation Techniques

The primary measurement techniques applied in this thesis are outlined in this section.

3.2.1 Current-voltage

Measurement of current-voltage (I-V) characteristics is a simple but very effective characterisation tool. By rescaling the results with the dimensions of the device, the I-V can be expressed in terms of the current density versus electric field (J-E). The dependence of the current density on the electric field can be used to identify the transport mechanism based on known relations [139] such as those shown in Table 2.2. The dependence of the I-V on temperature can also be studied to determine if the transport process is thermally activated. This is performed by changing the chuck temperature to set the temperature of the sample. Using the Arrhenius equation,

$$I = I_0 \exp\left(\frac{E_A}{k_b T}\right) \tag{3.1}$$

the current dependence on temperature can be used to extract an activation energy, E_A , often corresponding to the trap energy responsible for the leakage. Current-voltage sweeps form the basis of all electrical characterisation and as such, are used throughout this thesis.

3.2.2 Capacitance-voltage

One method to measure the capacitance of a sample is the capacitance-voltage (CV) technique. This entails applying a small amplitude AC signal across the sample which is modelled as a leaky capacitor. The current which flows through a leaky capacitor with parallel capacitance, C_p , and resistance, R_p is expressed as

$$I = \frac{V}{R_p} + iV\omega C_p \tag{3.2}$$

where ω is the angular frequency of the applied voltage and *i* is the imaginary unit due to the phase shift of 90°. The amplitude and phase of the measured current is fit to this model to extract the material parameters. Throughout this measurement a DC bias can be applied to the sample which is isolated from the small amplitude AC signal by a bias tee. This works well since the inductor in the DC branch of the bias tee presents no impedance to the DC voltage but presents a high impedance to the AC signal and the opposite is true for the capacitor in the AC branch. By varying the DC bias, the capacitance and depletion width can be identified as a function of voltage. As explained in section 2.4.4, this data also facilitates the extraction of the dopant density, profiled as a function of distance, and the built-in junction potential. It is necessary to perform a calibration of the system to correct for the capacitance and inductance of the system and setup. This is approached by assuming any parasitic capacitances are in parallel with the device under test and so simply add together. Parasitic inductances are treated as in series and measurements at multiple frequencies are used to distinguish these elements through their frequency dependence [140]. With the Keithley capacitance measurement unit used here, the calibration process is automated. With the device under test removed from the setup, the response of the system is measured and from this, a correction is applied to future measurements. This capacitance-voltage technique is primarily used in Chapter 6 to characterise the size of the depletion region of a pn diode and to profile the uniformity of the dopant density through the drift region.

3.2.3 Quasi-static capacitance-voltage

The Keithley capacitance measurement unit used for the capacitance-voltage technique described above is limited in frequency range to a minimum of 1 kHz [141]. In practice, measurements at frequencies below 10-100 kHz are obscured by noise and so it is not possible to use this technique. However, measurement at low frequencies may be desired, for example, to measure slow dynamics such as RC networks with time constants much longer than the period of the small amplitude signal. In this case, a different approach can be taken in the form of the quasi-static capacitance-voltage (QSCV) technique. This entails applying a constant voltage ramp across the sample and measuring the resulting current. From the definition of a capacitor, Q = CV, the time derivative gives rise to a displacement current, I_{disp} , of

$$I_{\rm disp} = C \frac{dV}{dt} + V \frac{dC}{dt}$$
(3.3)

Assuming a constant capacitance such that dC/dt = 0, the second term goes to zero and the displacement current is directly related to the capacitance. In reality, the measured current will be the sum of this displacement current and any leakage current. Conveniently, the displacement current is separable from the leakage current since it depends only on the ramp rate of the voltage and not the magnitude or polarity. That is, reversing the direction of the voltage ramp will change the sign of the displacement current but not the leakage current. Therefore, if the polarity of the voltage is kept the same (e.g. always above zero) and the ramp is performed in both directions, the displacement current can be identified from the difference between the two ramp directions.

Another possible addition to the measured current is the effect of trapping or charging. This may increase with voltage and may also partially change sign with ramp direction, and so may introduce some error in the separated displacement current. If present, this contribution adds to the separated displacement current and makes it appear to increase with voltage rather than depend only on the ramp rate. Therefore, this technique is not suited for capacitance measurements on samples which show a very large charge storage. Conveniently, this contribution is often small compared to the displacement current, especially at faster ramp rates.

It is important to ensure that the ramp is smooth and not stepped as would be provided by a source measurement unit. A stepped voltage ramp would result in displacement current spikes during the step followed by a decay during the current measurement. As the source measurement unit integrates the current for some time after the step, this would measure a lower current and underestimate the capacitance. On the other hand, a smooth ramp ensures the displacement current is constant and the full displacement current will be measured, regardless of integration time. This is assuming a constant capacitance which is a fair assumption over a small voltage change.

A smooth ramp was generated by an integrator circuit based on an op-amp with a capacitor in the feedback loop, shown in Figure 3.4. This causes the output voltage, V_{ramp} , to linearly increase at a rate set by the time constant of the RC network and the input voltage, V_{set} . The gain of an op-amp is determined by the ratio of the feedback impedance to the input impedance. Considering the definition of the impedance of a capacitor, $Z_C = 1/i\omega C$, the gain of this integrator circuit is



Figure 3.4: The integrator circuit used to generate the ramp is shown in (a) along with the labels of the source measurement units used for each task. Photographs of the ramp generator as shown in (b) with the terminals labelled.

given by

$$G = \frac{1}{i\omega C_1 R_1} \tag{3.4}$$

This equation describes the gain if V_{set} is an AC signal. If V_{set} is constant, the gain can be described (as derived here [142]) by the dimensionally equivalent form

$$G = \frac{t}{R_1 C_1} \tag{3.5}$$

which results in the output voltage, V_{ramp} increasing over time until the op-amp saturates at one of its voltage rails (40 V in this case). This circuit was used in conjunction with the Keithley 4156A and 41501B systems to set the ramp rate by applying a constant voltage to the V_{set} terminal using source measurement unit 5. Source measurement units 3 and 4 were then used to measure the voltage applied to and current flowing through the device under test. A switch was included in the circuit to discharge the capacitor, as required, before beginning a ramp. This technique is used in Chapter 5 to measure very low frequency capacitance.

3.2.4 Back-biasing

The back-biasing technique, also referred to as the substrate bias ramp or substrate bias technique is a method of identifying charge movement in the epitaxy below the 2DEG. A small potential difference is applied between two contacts in the same active area to monitor the conductivity of a 2DEG resistor. This is normally 0 V and 1 V as shown in Figure 3.5(a). The substrate is then used as a back gate and ramped to a negative bias to pinch off the 2DEG. This negative substrate bias results in vertical electric fields of the same polarity as in a HEMT with a positively biased drain



Figure 3.5: (a) A 2DEG resistor is used to sense the substrate bias. (b) An example of the measurement results that are possible from this technique. The measured channel current is normalised to the initial value, effectively normalising the conductivity to the 2DEG area between the contacts. Positive and negative charge refers to the injection of carriers into the buffer which may accumulate or become trapped.

and a grounded substrate. The rate of depletion of the 2DEG by this back gate can be analysed to identify charge movement and storage in the buffer. A useful advantage of this technique is that the 2DEG completely screens the surface from any strong electric fields. Therefore the measurement is sensitive only to charge in the buffer and surface effects can be ruled out. If the stack were an ideal dielectric, the epitaxy could be treated as the dielectric of an ideal capacitor with the 2DEG and substrate as the conductive plates. For an ideal capacitor, applying a bias to one plate would have the effect of inducing a charge of opposite polarity on the other plate of magnitude CV. It follows that applying a negative bias to the substrate would reduce the 2DEG density by CV per unit area. Therefore applying an increasingly negative bias at a constant rate would pinch off the 2DEG at a rate proportional to the stack capacitance per unit area. This is shown as the capacitive coupling line in Figure 3.5(b). Asserting an initial 2DEG density of n_0 , the 2DEG density with an applied substrate bias, n_{2DEG} , would deplete as

$$n_{2\text{DEG}}(V) = n_0 - \frac{\epsilon |V|}{d} \tag{3.6}$$

where ϵ and d are the average permittivity and thickness respectively of the stack below the 2DEG.

When analysing measurement data, two deviations from this ideal behaviour are possible; the 2DEG depletes faster than ideal or slower as shown in Figure 3.5(b). First discussing the 2DEG



Figure 3.6: The inferred internal potential and charge movement through the epitaxy with a -400 V substrate bias (a) with the lower part of the stack leaking, (b) with a carbon doped region forming a dipole and (c) with the upper part of the stack leaking. The potential in red indicates an increase in the vertical electric field compared to an ideal dielectric.

depleting faster than the ideal case, this must be caused by excess negative charge near the 2DEG. There are two common ways this can occur depicted in Figures 3.6(a) and 3.6(b). Firstly, as the epitaxy begins to exhibit vertical leakage due to the high vertical field, if the lower part of the stack begins to leak first, this causes an injection of electrons from the substrate. Since the same potential must be dropped over the epitaxy it can be seen from Figure 3.6(a) that this must increase the potential in the top of the epitaxy compared to the ideal case. This increased negative potential causes a greater depletion of the 2DEG. An alternative way that excess negative charge can manifest below the 2DEG is the polarisation of carbon doped layers shown in Figure 3.6(b). Carbon is often present is layers below the channel and under a sufficiently high field, holes can be swept away from thermally ionised acceptors. These holes then accumulate or become trapped at a heterointerface lower in the epitaxy. This spatial separation of the positive free holes and negative ionised acceptors creates a dipole layer. The negative pole of this dipole will be closer to the 2DEG since the holes will be swept towards the negative substrate. Therefore the 2DEG will see a net negative charge and deplete more rapidly than in the absence of the dipole layer [120].

The other observable behaviour is the depletion of the 2DEG at a slower rate than expected from an ideal dielectric stack. This can only be attributed to excess positive charge below the 2DEG which acts to screen the 2DEG from the substrate bias. This can occur when, under the high vertical field, the top of the epitaxy begins to leak first. This is shown in Figure 3.6(c) and causes an injection of holes into the epitaxy, reducing the potential under the 2DEG.

When ramping back to 0 V, the stored charge continues to influence the 2DEG density. In the case of positive buffer charge, when the substrate bias is sufficiently small, stored positive charge can lower the barrier confining electrons to the 2DEG. This allows electrons to rapidly neutralise these positive charges and causes a saturation of the 2DEG density near or slightly above the initial unbiased density. Ultimately at the end of the measurement, the 2DEG density is unchanged or slightly higher than the initial density. This makes positive buffer charge storage benign. In the opposite case, there is no equivalent mechanism to neutralise stored negative charge, meaning it is trapped with much longer time constants, causing the 2DEG density to remain partially depleted after the measurement. This lack of recovery is indicative that transistors on the same epitaxy will suffer from buffer related current collapse as the root cause is the same. Further detail on this analysis technique can be found in other material [42, 143, 144].

3.3 Test structures

Test structures are used to isolate specific device characteristics which cannot be measured on a complete device. For example, contact resistance and the sheet resistance of the 2DEG cannot be distinguished in a HEMT, since they are in series. Both of these quantities should be minimised to reduce conductive losses. These parameters can be quantified through the use of a transfer length measurement (TLM) structure shown in Figure 3.7. The transfer length measurement structure consists of a series of Ohmic contacts connected by a 2DEG, each increasingly further apart. By measuring the resistance between two contacts at various separations, the 2DEG sheet resistance and contact resistance can be distinguished. On a graph of resistance vs. length of 2DEG, the y-intercept is twice the contact resistance and the gradient is the 2DEG sheet resistivity. Extrapolating this line back to the negative x-axis gives two times the transfer length. During the measurement, current flows laterally in the 2DEG under the contact metals for a distance determined by the 2DEG sheet resistance and the contact resistance. This distance is called the transfer length, as it is the distance the current takes to transfer from semiconductor to metal, hence the name of the structures. Moving from the edge towards further under the contact, the current density and potential are reducing and the resulting potential distribution under the contact is described by the function [145]

$$V(x) = \frac{I\sqrt{R_s\rho_C}\cosh[(L-x)/\lambda]}{Z\sinh[L/\lambda]}$$
(3.7)

where R_s is the sheet resistance and ρ_C is the contact resistivity, L and Z are the length and width of the contact and λ is the transfer length.

Another useful test structure is the isolation structure. This consists of a single Ohmic contact, isolated by a mesa trench or implantation and can be used for characterising the vertical leakage though a stack and assessing the vertical breakdown. This is done by applying a bias to the Ohmic contact with the substrate at 0 V. Two such structures can also be used to evaluate the lateral leakage by measuring the current at a second isolation structure, biased at 0V like the substrate. It may not be obvious, however, if the lateral leakage is through the bulk or on the surface. A further test structure to make this distinction is the guard ring structure [146], shown in Figure 3.8. Here, a Schottky metal is deposited in a loop around the biased Ohmic contact and is also held at 0 V. All surface leakage will flow to the guard ring and be measured there.



Figure 3.7: Top down view of a transfer length measurement structure. The structure consists of a series of Ohmic contacts with varying separation in the same active area. Outside of the mesa or implant isolation is more 2DEG but this is electrically isolated from the structure. Plotting the resistance of each gap vs. gap size allows determination of the contact resistance R_C , sheet resistivity and transfer length, λ .



Figure 3.8: One half of a surface leakage structure. In the full structure, the Schottky guard ring completely surrounds the central Ohmic contact. The Ohmic contacts are surrounded by an implant isolation and the arrows indicate the flow of surface and buffer leakage currents.

Whereas the external Ohmic contact will measure only the current that has flowed through the buffer under the guard ring. A small fraction of the buffer current will flow to the guard ring but the Schottky junction limits this undesirable effect. This structure is used in Chapter 5 to study surface leakage and charging.

3.4 Materials analysis

3.4.1 Scanning transmission electron microscopy

Transmission electron microscopy permits the study of material structure and composition and allows the observation and characterisation of structure cross-sections. The principle uses a

focused electron beam which interacts with the sample as it is transmitted. The sample must be sufficiently thin for electron transmission and image clarity, therefore, in preparation, the sample must be thinned down to less than 100 nm. This can be achieved by focused ion beam (FIB), etching or mechanical polishing. As the electron beam passes through the thinned sample, some of the electrons are scattered by a large angle and are observable in the high angle annular dark field (HAADF), so named as scattering events to such a high angle have a low probability rendering the annulus dark. The larger the atomic weight, the more high angle scattering events occur, resulting in a brighter high angle annular dark field image. This is referred to as z-contrast since the image intensity is proportional to the proton number of the scattering centre. This technique can be adapted to scan over the surface of a sample (scanning transmission electron microscopy, STEM), and a profile of the atomic composition can be determined over an area. An image measured using this technique is used in Chapter 4 to determine the profile of the aluminium content in a nominally abrupt junction AlGaN/AlN/AlGaN heterostructure.

3.4.2 Secondary-ion mass spectroscopy

Secondary-ion mass spectroscopy (SIMS) is a destructive method of measuring the atomic composition of a sample. An ion beam is used to bombard the sample, causing the constituent atoms to be ejected as secondary ions. These secondary ions are then accelerated away from the sample surface and identified using typical mass spectrometry methods. Profiling of the composition as a function of depth is possible in this method since the ion beam ejects matter from deeper and deeper into the sample over time as it cuts through. The primary ion beam has a sputter rate of around 10 μ m per hour giving depth profile resolutions of around 20 nm. The sensitivity of this technique varies depending on the element but is around 10^{15} cm⁻³ for the common dopants and impurities in GaN (C, Si, Mg, H, O). This method is applied in Chapter 4 for measuring the concentration of dopants in an AlGaN/GaN epitaxy.

3.5 Simulation

Correlation of experimental measurements with simulations enables the understanding of internal, unmeasurable or unintuitive processes. Electrical device simulations in this thesis have been carried out using ATLAS, a drift diffusion simulator produced by Silvaco. This framework is specifically designed for the electrical simulation of semiconducting devices.

A 2D device cross-section is simulated in which the carrier concentration, electric field, etc. are calculated based on circular boundary conditions in and out of the plane. The device cross-section is designed in a program called DevEdit which also handles the triangular meshing of the structure for the finite element calculations shown in Figure 3.9. A high density mesh is required in areas experiencing high electric fields or with sharp features such as heterointerfaces. If the mesh density is too low, it can lead to the simulation failing to converge and terminating without
output. If the simulation does converge, it is still possible that some device behaviour may be underestimated such as 2DEG density or peak electric fields. For example, in the mesh around the 2DEG, the vertical spacing of nodes should be approximately 1 nm since the 2DEG is only a few nanometers in thickness. The lateral spacing is less important provided there are no strong lateral electric fields. In general, a dense mesh is better but the higher the mesh density, the longer the simulation takes to run. DevEdit contains a library of standard material properties, thus in design, only the name of the desired material need be selected for the layer to be assigned an associated electron affinity, bandgap, mobility, etc. and these properties can be modified as required for specific device geometries. For example, in the channel region, the electron mobility must be increased from the bulk mobility to accurately simulate the 2DEG. The addition of dopants and trap levels can also be done at this stage as required. Traps are added by specifying the region, density and energy level as well as the capture cross section and degeneracy. The simulator is called by the program DeckBuild, in which the desired physical models are selected such as transport, scattering or generation/recombination statistics. The more models selected increases the computation time and not all models are always required. For example if currents are always low, the effect of joule heating need not be calculated. Polarisation charges at interfaces can be set here, either by instructing ATLAS to calculate them automatically or manually using the "interface charge" statement as demonstrated in Appendix C. Setting the polarisation charge in this way, using equations from the literature, ensures that strain/relaxation are accounted for. When simulating a HEMT epitaxy it is possible to set the charge of the simulated surface in order to tune the 2DEG density. This may be required for more accurate comparison of simulations with measured data and is also achieved using the "interface charge" statement.

It is also in Deckbuild that the details of the desired measurement are specified. In this input deck, the voltages of the contacts and ramp rates are set as well as the specification of the output parameters. The simulator is fundamentally based on solving the Poisson equation, carrier continuity and transport equations which together give the drift diffusion equations;

$$J_n = q n \mu_n E_n + q D_n \nabla n \tag{3.8}$$

$$J_p = q p \mu_p E_p + q D_p \nabla p \tag{3.9}$$

Here, $J_n (J_p)$ is the electron (hole) current density, n(p) is the electron (hole) concentration, $\mu_n (\mu_p)$ is the electron (hole) mobility, and $D_n (D_p)$ is the diffusion coefficient for electrons (holes). E_n and E_p are the effective electric fields experienced by electrons and holes and may differ between the two carriers as they depend on the local gradients of the quasi-Fermi levels [147]. These equations along with any other models specified are solved at each node in the device mesh. The variation of an output parameter (e.g. electric field) along a 1D path through the device can be extracted by drawing a cut-line and the parameter along that path is plotted. This simulation tool is used in Chapter 4 to simulate buffer charge and substrate bias measurements.



Figure 3.9: A section of a device simulation showcasing the finite element mesh where the equations are solved at each node. Note the high mesh density near the surface 2DEG and buried interlayer at 1.3 μ m.

CHAPTER

THE SELF-COMPENSATION RATIO OF CARBON IN ALGAN

s previously discussed, carbon is often incorporated into the buffer and strain relief layers of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs. This is to increase the buffer resistivity by the mechanism explained in section 2.4.3. The purpose is to increase the breakdown voltage and suppress buffer conduction [93, 148]. In turn, this facilitates higher voltage operation leading to more efficient switching. Equations 2.10 and 2.11 explicitly showed that the compensation ratio alone determines the free carrier density. Therefore, in the absence of parallel defect related conduction, the compensation ratio sets the resistivity and bulk leakage of carbon doped GaN. This chapter works towards determining this unknown ratio, of which a reasonable estimate is required for accurate device simulation.

The samples used in this study were grown by the Inter-University Micro-Electronics Centre (imec). Imec also performed the secondary-ion mass spectroscopy, scanning transmission electron microscopy and Hall measurements on these samples. The substrate bias ramps and lateral leakage measurements as a function of contact separation presented in section 4.3 have been published in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices [149]. Significant content has been reproduced from this publication. The flow of the research in this chapter is presented in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: The flow of the research in this chapter.

4.1 Introduction

Despite the widespread use of carbon doped GaN, there is still some debate about the underlying physics of how it increases the material resistivity. Carbon can incorporate into GaN in multiple different ways; substitutionally on the nitrogen or gallium sites, interstitially, or in a variety of complexes with other point defects [92, 150, 151]. Early theoretical calculations struggled to identify the energy levels of these traps and predicted that carbon would exist primarily substitutionally on the nitrogen site (C_N) as an acceptor at $E_v + 0.3$ eV and on the gallium site (C_{Ga}) as a donor at $E_c - 0.2$ eV [152]. However, experimental attempts to observe these carbon levels through the use of various transient and optical spectroscopy techniques were unsuccessful. Instead, two different trap levels were experimentally correlated with carbon density; a deep acceptor around $E_v + 0.9 \text{ eV}$ and a shallow donor near the conduction band [94, 96, 153]. Today, after considerable debate, consensus has been reached on the depth of carbon levels in GaN. More recent theoretical work, improving on initial approximations [92], predicted that carbon on the nitrogen site is a deep acceptor with a level of $E_v + 0.9$ eV and carbon on the gallium site is a shallow donor in or near the conduction band. This acceptor level is much deeper than previous estimations and in agreement with the spectroscopic data. In addition, device simulations with this deeper C_N level agree well with experimental results [154].

There are no definitive results or methods for measuring the compensation ratio (N_D/N_A) . The total carbon concentration can be profiled using secondary-ion mass spectroscopy, however, no information is gained with this technique about the compensation ratio. This is because the crystal structure is destroyed in the process and with it, the information about the site of origin of each atom. The resistivity of GaN:C inferred from electrical measurements of AlGaN/GaN HEMT epitaxies is in the order of $10^{13} \Omega cm$ [42, 155]. This is in agreement with measurements of this property presented in Chapter 5. If all of the carbon were incorporated on the nitrogen site as deep acceptors the resistivity would be much lower - in the order of $10^6 \Omega$ cm for a typical carbon density of 2×10^{18} cm⁻³ [42]. Therefore, donors must be present in high densities in order to compensate these acceptors and increase the resistivity to observed levels. From Figure 2.11, these indirect electrical measurements of resistivity indicate the compensation ratio must be between 0.1-0.6. Dislocations through the GaN:C give rise to additional leakage, possibly via defect band conduction [156]. Therefore the ideal, bulk resistivity of GaN:C may be greater than what is measured. This means that the compensation ratio inferred from those measurements represents a lower limit. Regarding an upper limit, electrical measurements have directly observed Fermi level pinning near the carbon acceptor level demonstrating that C_N is dominant i.e. $N_D/N_A < 1$ [157]. This chapter presents electrical measurements and simulations which are able to refine this interval by identifying the donor charge required to neutralise known polarisation charges. Identifying a reasonable estimate of the compensation ratio improves understanding of the role of carbon in AlGaN which is pivotal in the management of buffer leakage and vertical breakdown.



Figure 4.2: The samples used in this study differed only by the carbon doping level in the back-barrier; unintentional doping or 2×10^{19} cm⁻³. In both samples a 2DEG formed in the unintentionally doped GaN channel below the AlGaN barrier, represented by the blue dashed line. In the sample with the unintentionally doped back-barrier the location of the 2DHG is shown above the top interlayer as a series of red crosses. A sketch of the band structure is presented to the right of both structures.

4.2 Experimental Details

4.2.1 Samples

The two samples in this study were grown by metal-organic chemical vapour deposition and are shown in Figure 4.2. The layer structures were typical of an AlGaN/GaN HEMT grown on silicon. The strain relief layers were implemented with 10 nm AlN interlayers in carbon doped $Al_{0.08}Ga_{0.92}N$, with a total thickness of 2.8 μ m. These AlN interlayers were under tensile stress to introduce compressive stress into the buffer. This was followed by a 0.8 μ m Al_{0.08}Ga_{0.92}N back-barrier, a 0.5 μ m unintentionally doped GaN channel and an AlGaN barrier to form a 2DEG. The two samples differed only by the doping level in the Al_{0.08}Ga_{0.92}N back-barrier. The layer was either highly carbon doped with a concentration of 2×10^{19} cm⁻³, as measured by secondary-ion mass spectroscopy, or unintentionally doped which is typically a level of $\sim 10^{16}~{
m cm}^{-3}$ in metalorganic chemical vapour deposition GaN [158]. These samples will be referred to as the carbon doped and unintentionally doped samples respectively. Generally, back-barriers are made with GaN:C to provide a highly resistive layer and suppress buffer leakage below the channel, but trapping in the carbon related defects can lead to current collapse. AlGaN back-barriers were included in these epitaxies in an attempt to introduce a blocking hetero-interface and reduce trapping in the back-barrier [159]. This design is not commonly used however, presumably for reliability reasons pertaining to stress; the high electric fields in the top device layers and the inverse piezoelectric effect could cause delamination at heterointerfaces. Only Ohmic contacts

were processed on these samples which were made with an annealed Ti/Al/Ni/Au metal stack. Each cell of the mask-set contained transfer length measurement structures, isolation structures and a Hall bar structure. Isolation was implemented with a mesa trench with a depth of ~ 600 nm, ending in the back-barrier. The depth of this trench isolated the 2DEG but was not sufficiently deep to reach the back-barrier/AlN interlayer interface.

4.2.2 Measurement techniques

The samples were subjected to a substrate bias ramp as described in section 3.2.4. The channel conductivity was measured by applying 1 V across two contacts of a transfer length measurement structure with a Keithley 4200. The substrate bias was ramped at 5 Vs⁻¹ in both directions, from 0 V down to -350 V and back to 0 V with a Keithley 2657A. Measurements above |-350| V were not performed due to the high substrate current densities in the unintentionally doped sample.

Lateral leakage measurements were performed on the isolation structures which were 100 μ m × 100 μ m in area. This entailed applying a bias to one isolation structure which was ramped to -150 V. The current on a second isolation structure which was biased at 0 V was measured. This was done using the Keithley 4156A with a 41501B expander which also biased the substrate at 0 V during the measurement. No electric field between this second structure and the substrate ensured all current measured on the second structure must have flowed laterally. This measurement was performed with various separations between the isolation structures to identify the trend of the leakage current with separation. Additional lateral leakage measurements were performed with a constant separation between the two isolation structures but increasing the area of the structure at 0 V. Since all of the isolation structures were 100 μ m × 100 μ m the effective contact area was increased by probing multiple isolation structures and shorting them together as shown schematically in Figure 4.3. The additionally probed structures were further away from the biased structure leaving the separation and the surface electric field unchanged as the effective area was increased.

Finally, vertical leakage and charging properties were investigated in the low field range with up to 40 V over the epitaxy. This was a two terminal measurement applying a positive ramped bias to the substrate and measuring the current flowing through an Ohmic contact on the surface which was held at 0 V using a Keithley 4156A. In order to accurately measure any charging effects, a continuous ramp was required. If a stepped ramp was used, charging currents would decay during the current integration time. Therefore, a linear ramp generator was used to apply the substrate bias like that used for the quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurements described in section 3.2.3. The measurements were performed at various ramp rates between 0.1 and 1 Vs^{-1} .



Figure 4.3: A schematic of three isolation structures demonstrating the way the effective area of the 0 V contact was increased. Overlaid is the equivalent circuit diagram of the structures. The diode-like behaviour over the channel layer is from to the band bending near the barrier which confines the electrons to the 2DEG.

4.3 Results

The substrate bias ramp measurement data are shown in Figure 4.4(a). The measurements were performed on a transfer length measurement structure with a channel length of 20 μ m. These results are displayed with the capacitive coupling line which was calculated from the epitaxial thickness and mean permittivity as explained in section 3.2.4. The 2DEG density in the carbon doped sample showed an approximately linear dependence on substrate bias, similar to the ideal capacitive line. After the return sweep, the conductivity returned to slightly less than the initial value indicating an insignificant negative charge storage. This behaviour is consistent with other carbon doped epitaxies [42]. In stark contrast, the behaviour of the unintentionally doped sample was far from the ideal dielectric case. The 2DEG showed very little substrate bias dependence and on the return sweep appeared to saturate at the initial conductivity, as is typical for positive charge storage (see Section 3.2.4). This indicated there was no negative charge stored in the buffer after the measurement which is consistent with what has been observed in another study [160]. The substrate currents measured during the substrate bias ramp are shown in Figure 4.4(b). The vertical current is \sim 100 times higher in the unintentionally doped sample than in the carbon doped sample at -350 V. The substrate bias measurements were repeated on the sample with the carbon doped back-barrier with various transfer length measurement structure contact separations. The results, shown in Figure 4.5 present a variation in pinch-off behaviour with transfer length measurement structure gap. The smaller the transfer length measurement structure gap, the smaller the changes in channel conductivity, indicating a weaker dependence of the 2DEG density on the substrate bias.

The results of the lateral leakage measurements as a function of isolation structure separation are presented in Figure 4.6. The structures were between 3 μ m and 18 μ m apart. The lateral leakage current in the carbon doped sample decreased rapidly with increasing isolation structure separation. This structure separation, *d*, is shown in Figure 4.3 where the left most contact is



Figure 4.4: (a) The measured and simulated 2DEG conductivity during the substrate bias ramps on the unintentionally doped and C doped samples. The voltage was ramped at 5 Vs⁻¹. The solid line shows the sweep down to -350 V with the dash line the return to 0 V. The capacitive coupling line is the response of an ideal dielectric. (b) The substrate current density during the measurements. The unintentionally doped sample shows an ~ 100 times increase in vertical leakage at -350 V.



Figure 4.5: The normalised 2DEG conductivity during a substrate bias measurement for transfer length measurement structures of varying separation. The shorter the transfer length measurement structure gap, the slower the pinch off of the 2DEG. The dashed line represents the ideal capacitive line of the structure. The substrate bias was ramped at -5 Vs^{-1} .



Figure 4.6: Lateral current between two isolation structures (a) as a function of inverse separation at 150 V and (b) as a function of voltage. (a) is plotted as inverse separation to show that on the C doped sample, the lateral current follows an exponential dependence on inverse separation whereas the lateral current on the unintentionally doped sample is $\gtrsim 100$ times higher and only weakly dependent on separation.

not used in this particular measurement. The exponential reduction in current with inverse distance ($I \propto e^{C \times V/d} \propto e^{C \times E}$ where C is a constant) seen in Figure 4.6(a) is indicative of a leakage process which is exponentially dependent on the electric field such as variable range hopping [101]. Again, the unintentionally doped sample showed a different behaviour than the carbon doped sample with only a weak dependence on separation and a lateral current $\gtrsim 100$ times higher. When increasing the metal-semiconductor area of the isolation structure biased at 0 V by probing multiple structures, additional probes were connected in parallel to the same source measurement unit. This increased wiring connected to the measurement system increased the noise floor into the pA level. This meant that the lateral leakage current level of the carbon doped sample in Figure 4.7 was below the noise floor. However, the lateral current in the unintentionally doped sample shows an approximately linear increase with increasing 0 V contact area.

The vertical leakage measurements on the sample with the carbon doped back-barrier showed no measurable leakage current up to 40 V. This is consistent with the vertical current during the substrate bias ramp in Figure 4.4(b) which was below the noise floor of 10 μ Acm⁻² until $|V_{sub}| > 250$ V. However, the results of the measurement applied to the sample with the unintentionally doped back-barrier showed a surprising dependence on applied voltage and is shown in Figure 4.8. For ease of reference to these results, different stages in the current behaviour in this figure are numbered and referred to in the text. Initially, (1), the current increased with the voltage as expected from the substrate bias ramp. At (2), the voltage was constant for a few seconds as the system prepared to change the ramp direction. During this time when the voltage was



Figure 4.7: Lateral current between two isolation structures at a separation of 8 μ m (a) as a function of contact area of the 0 V contact and (b) as a function of voltage. On the unintentionally doped sample, the lateral current shows a near linear dependence on area. The noise floor was in the order of pA as a result of adding additional probes to the system which was above the lateral leakage current level of the carbon doped sample.

fixed at 38 V, the vertical current increased. Then, as the voltage began to ramp down again, the current continued to increase, (3). At a point on the return ramp, (4), and at a time dependent on the ramp rate, the current turned over. Finally, (5), the current quickly reduced with a steep gradient. Increasing the ramp rate reduced the magnitude of the current and delayed the time in the return ramp that the current began to decrease. This result of increasing vertical current with decreasing field during the return ramp is obviously far from conventional field dependent leakage current behaviour.

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Substrate bias ramps

First discussing the substrate bias ramps in Figure 4.4, since this technique is sensitive to the electric field under the 2DEG, the weak dependence of the 2DEG conductivity on substrate bias seen in the unintentionally doped sample, means the field below the 2DEG is very low. Electrostatically, this screening of the substrate bias can only be caused by the accumulation of positive charge in the buffer. As the substrate bias increases, the positive charge must also increase to continue screening the 2DEG from the substrate bias as observed. On the return sweep, the 2DEG density saturated at a fixed level. This occurs since, as the bias is removed, the positive charge in the buffer is quickly neutralised as it lowers the barrier confining electrons to the 2DEG (the diode in the equivalent circuit diagram in Figure 4.3 is forward biased). This is in



Figure 4.8: The vertical current measured during a linear ramp of the substrate potential at various ramp rates. An unusual hysteresis was observed in which the vertical current apparently continues to increase as the vertical field is reduced.

contrast to stored negative charge which has much longer time constants for neutralisation [120]. Since this behaviour is only observed in the unintentionally doped sample it is reasonable to infer that this behaviour is related in some way to the doping of the back-barrier. Therefore, two possible explanations are proposed; either a polarisation induced 2D hole gas (2DHG) is present at the unintentionally doped back-barrier/AlN interlayer interface [161–165], or, a population of donors is present in the unintentionally doped back-barrier with a sufficient density to screen the largest substrate bias [166].

Considering screening by ionised donors, the density required to be present can be calculated using Poisson's equation. Assuming that the donors are only present in the back-barrier and that they are uniformly distributed in the region, the charge distribution forms the top hat function as shown in Figure 4.9(a) with a height related to the charge density, ρ , from the ionised donors. Using Poisson's equation,

$$\nabla^2 \varphi = -\frac{\rho}{\epsilon} \tag{4.1}$$

the maximum potential which can be screened for a given back-barrier donor density can be calculated by double integration with respect to space. The form of the electric field and potential are shown in Figure 4.9(b) and 4.9(c) respectively. Screening was experimentally observed up to a substrate voltage of -600 V which from Figure 4.9 indicates a minimum donor density of 1.3×10^{17} cm⁻³. Such a high density is unlikely in a good quality unintentionally doped layer



Figure 4.9: A calculation of the charge density required to screen a substrate bias of -600 V when distributed uniformly in the back-barrier. The charge density, (a), electric field, (b), and potential, (c), are each shown as a function of depth through the epitaxy.

as used here, therefore donors are unlikely to be the cause of the screening here. Instead, if the hetero-interface at the top of the interlayer is blocking, positive charge could accumulate there, either as free carriers or as ionised dopants. These two cases can be distinguished by considering the lateral resistivity as free carriers will provide a low resistance lateral conduction path.

During the substrate bias measurements, the substrate current in the unintentionally doped sample was observed to be 100 times higher than the carbon doped sample (Figure 4.4(b)). In the unintentionally doped sample, the thickness of the stack doped with carbon was reduced by a factor of ~0.7 compared to the carbon doped sample. Therefore, it may be logical to try to attribute this 100 times increase in leakage to the reduced thickness of highly resistive carbon doped GaN. However, even in the most extreme scenario of the entire 2DEG-substrate potential being dropped over only the carbon doped layers, a 0.7 times change in thickness would result in an increase in the electric field in the unintentionally doped sample by a factor of 1.4. Although the leakage current is likely to be exponentially dependent on the electric field, this is still a very small change in field compared to the measured 100 times difference in the vertical current. Therefore, this disparity cannot simply be attributed to the reduced thickness of highly resistive carbon doped layers. On the other hand, the presence of a 2DHG can account for this increased vertical leakage by considering that it spreads out over an area greater than the mesa area [167]. This results in a higher vertical leakage current since the same potential is dropped over additional parallel leakage paths because the active area is effectively increased.

4.4.2 Lateral leakage

The lateral leakage measurements further verify the presence of a 2DHG at the unintentionally doped back-barrier/AlN interlayer interface. With reference to the equivalent circuit diagram in Figure 4.3, the weak dependence on separation in the unintentionally doped sample in Figure 4.6 indicates the lateral resistivity is much lower than vertical resistivity. Assuming Ohmic transport through all the resistors, the current-distance gradient implies the total lateral resistivity is \sim 10 times lower than the vertical resistivity. In reality the vertical conductivity is far from Ohmic and so the lateral resistivity will be much less. This is consistent with the model of a low resistance 2DHG acting as a deep lateral conduction path below the mesa isolation trench. The lateral current increasing with the area of the unbiased contact in Figure 4.7 is particularly interesting. Proceeding with the assertion that the lateral resistance is small compared to the vertical resistance, the equivalent circuit diagram in Figure 4.3 reduces to two back-to-back leaky diodes. With -150 V on the biased isolation structure, the diode below that contact is forward biased resulting in a negatively biased 2DHG. The 2DHG will not be at a potential of -150 V since it will also be coupled to the 0 V substrate by some leakage process, but it will certainly be below 0 V over an extended area (since the 2DHG is not confined by the mesa isolation). The diodes below the isolation structures at 0 V will therefore be reverse biased and the current in Figure 4.7 represents the reverse bias leakage. It follows that any additional isolation structure biased at 0 V will experience the same bias conditions and so the measured leakage current scales linearly with the number of structures at 0 V. Therefore, the model to explain this data requires a p-type layer below the 2DEG, a blocking back-barrier and low resistance lateral conduction. The presence of a 2DHG satisfies these requirements and can explain the behaviour of the leakage current increasing with the total area of the isolation structures biased at 0 V.

As the density of the 2DHG must vary in order to change its potential, an obvious question is how far does this change in density extend and what limits it from extending over the entire sample? One model proposed by Chatterjee et al. [167] suggests the extension is limited by preferential leakage paths which pin the potential around them by sourcing electrons from the substrate. This is illustrated in Figure 4.10 as Model 1 with the vertical resistors in the strain relief layer representing dislocations. The preferential leakage paths are shown as orange resistors and the potential along the 2DHG is shown in orange. Since the potential at the dislocation is pinned and the potential in the active area is pinned, the 2DHG potential must drop linearly between these two potentials. In this model, the 2DHG extension area under a given isolated structure is fixed, based on the locations of these preferential leakage paths. An alternative model considers that the 2DHG is in AlGaN and so alloy scattering and dopants can give rise to a percolated potential. This would lower the hole mobility and increase the sheet resistance of the 2DHG so a lateral electric field and hole density gradient could be sustained. In this way, the 2DHG could be bound by many parallel vertical leakage paths with the magnitude of any lateral extension equivalent to a transfer length. This second model assumes the equivalent



Figure 4.10: An epitaxy is presented with a 2DHG and a negative substrate bias. Overlaid is an equivalent circuit diagram where vertical resistors represent dislocations and the arrows represent hole flow. In the active area the 2DHG potential (and density) is increased relative to the rest of the wafer and the extension is limited by two possible models. In orange, the Chatterjee model whereby the potential is completely dropped at preferential leakage paths. In purple, the extension is limited by dropping the potential over many dislocations.

circuit diagram of the strain relief layer is instead composed of the many purple resistors in Figure 4.10. The resulting potential distribution, shown in purple, follows the same potential drop as in a 2DEG along the transfer length under a contact described in Section 3.3. Although here, the contact resistivity instead represents the dislocation resistivity and the transfer length is the extension outside of the mesa. Moving away from the isolated area, each time the hole gas encounters a dislocation, some of the potential is dropped until, eventually, the potential is the same as elsewhere in the wafer. The dislocations in this model would not need to be as leaky as those in the Chatterjee model since at the edge of the 2DHG, the potential is dropped over multiple dislocations rather than just one.

Electrical measurements of the 2DHG extension beyond the mesa area by Chatterjee et al. indicated an average extension length of 100 μ m. Reinterpreting this as a 100 μ m transfer length, λ , the sheet resistance of the hole gas can be estimated using the equivalent circuit diagram in Figure 4.11. It is assumed that the resistivity of the epitaxy below the 2DHG is $\rho_2 \sim 10^{13} \Omega$ cm. To further simplify the model, it is assumed that the resistivity above the 2DHG, ρ_1 , is much smaller such that it can be neglected. Under these assumptions, the sheet resistance, R_s , can be approximated as

$$R_s = \frac{\rho_2 L_2}{\lambda^2} \tag{4.2}$$



Figure 4.11: A circuit diagram to explain the transfer length interpretation of the 2DHG extension. The thickness and resistivity of the epitaxy above the 2DHG are represented by L_1 and ρ_1 respectively and likewise, L_2 and ρ_2 below the 2DHG. R_s is the sheet resistance.

where L_2 is the thickness of the strain relief layers in [167] (guessed as 2 μ m). These model assumptions give rise to a sheet resistance in the order of $10^{13} \Omega^{-1}$ which is exceptionally high for a free sheet charge and much higher than that interpreted from the lateral leakage in Figure 4.6. Further, assuming a sheet density of 10^{12} cm⁻², the apparent hole mobility from that sheet resistance is 10^{-6} cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, much lower than the bulk mobility of ~ 10 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ [168]. Discarding the assumption that ρ_1 is small, a numerical simulation of the equivalent circuit was performed. Here, it was instead assumed that $\rho_1 = \rho_2$ and the thicknesses L_1 and L_2 were guessed as 1.5 μ m and 2 μ m. No longer assuming a negligible series resistivity for ρ_1 reduced the required sheet resistance to $10^{12} \Omega \Box^{-1}$, though only by a factor of 10. The experimental data clearly shows a low resistance 2DHG, therefore based on these calculations it is clear that either the model or some other assumptions are incorrect. The most likely issue is in assuming that all the dislocations have the same resistivity and give rise to a 'bulk' resistivity of $ho_2 \sim 10^{13} \ \Omega cm$. In reality, different dislocations with differing Burgers vectors (see Section 2.3.1) may vary in resistivity by orders of magnitude. This way the most leaky dislocations may limit the 2DHG after much smaller extensions. Unfortunately, it is not possible to test this as the density and conductance of such dislocations are not known.

4.4.3 Vertical leakage and charging

The measurements of the vertical current through the epitaxy with the unintentionally doped back-barrier, in Figure 4.8, showed some surprising results, most notably an apparent negative resistance when reducing the positive substrate voltage. This measurement was applying a positive substrate bias and hence the opposite polarity to the substrate bias ramps in Figure 4.4. The linear ramp used in these measurements would give rise to a displacement current based on the capacitance of the epitaxy. However, the displacement current expected from this structure



Figure 4.12: The vertical charging model is shown as a series of band and equivalent circuit diagrams. Holes flow from the 2DHG while its potential is less than zero, increasing the number of available vertical leakage paths. In the band diagrams, the arrow on the substrate indicated the direction of the substrate ramp. In the circuit diagrams the resistors in red indicate vertical leakage paths carrying current. The thick horizontal lines represent the region of the 2DHG at a reduced potential with the arrow heads indicating the direction of extension.

is a few pA, much smaller than the measured current. Since no leakage mechanism could give such a result, an alternative model has been constructed to explain this behaviour which again requires the presence of a 2DHG. Working around the current loop and with reference to the circled numbers in Figure 4.8, the model processes are described in each phase. For clarity, this description is also represented pictorially in Figure 4.12.

(1) As the substrate voltage increased, the vertical current increased. As the positive bias was applied to the substrate, the potential of the entire epitaxy became more positive as it was capacitively coupled between the substrate and the surface. A hole leakage current flowed from the interlayer 2DHG to the surface at 0 V. The potential of the 2DHG locally under the mesa was reduced compared to the rest of the 2DHG and this potential difference was dropped laterally along the 2DHG which is resistive. The resistivity of the strain relief layers below the 2DHG is constant and so the vertical current through this portion of the epitaxy is proportional to the area over which the potential is applied. As the substrate voltage was increased and the hole current continued, the area of the 2DHG at a reduced potential grew and so the vertical leakage through the epitaxy below the 2DHG increased with this area.

(2) The substrate voltage was constant but the vertical current continued to increase. The sustained vertical field meant the hole current continued and the area of the 2DHG at a lower potential outside the mesa area continued to expand. This caused the substrate leakage to continue to increase with the increasing size of the effective active area.

(3) The substrate voltage began to ramp down but the vertical current continued to go up as if the epitaxy had a negative resistance. Reducing the substrate potential caused the 2DHG potential to capacitively reduce everywhere. However at this point, the 2DHG under the mesa

was still at a more positive potential than the surface so the leakage current between the two was reduced but continued. As such, the area of the 2DHG with a reduced density and at a reduced potential continued to expand. This expansion led to a continued increase in the current through the stack.

(4) During the return to 0 V, there was a turning point in the vertical current and it began to decrease. The substrate potential decreased to the point where the 2DHG potential was exactly 0 V and the hole current to the surface stopped as there was no longer any electric field through the top of the epitaxy. The 2DHG under the mesa stopped expanding and the current through the epitaxy stopped increasing.

(5) Finally, as the potential of the 2DHG continued to capacitively decrease, the 2DHG potential under the mesa became more negative than the surface and the leakage current restarted but in the opposite direction, with holes flowing from the surface to replenish the 2DHG density and keep its potential at 0 V. The area of the depleted 2DHG rapidly decreased in this phase causing a rapid decrease in the vertical leakage current.

The ramp rate dependence of the measurements can also be explained with this model. At the fastest ramp rate, the leakage in the top of the epitaxy occurred for less time so there was less time to change the 2DHG density. Therefore, the area of the reduced density 2DHG stayed small and the vertical leakage current stayed low. The time at which the turn over point, (4), occurred in the return ramp was also ramp rate dependent. If this measurement were performed so slowly that everything came into equilibrium, the high leakage between the surface and the 2DHG would keep the 2DHG at 0 V. Then on the return sweep, the 2DHG would instantly have a lower potential than the surface and the turn over would happen immediately. Conversely, considering an extremely fast measurement so that only a few holes flowed from the 2DHG to the surface during the positive substrate ramp. When ramping back down, the potential of the 2DHG would continue to be more positive than the surface right until the substrate was nearing 0 V and then the leakage current would reverse, and the few holes would return to the 2DHG. Therefore, the slower the ramp rate, the sooner the leakage current begins to decrease on the return ramp.

4.4.4 Sub-contact leakage

As established in section 4.4.1 the potential of the 2DHG must be able to change in order to screen the substrate bias in the substrate ramp measurement. This requires it to be in electrical contact with the Ohmic contacts. Electrical contact is also required to explain the lateral leakage and vertical charging measurements. Possible ways this can occur includes contact spiking, metal in-diffusion and the decoration of dislocations with the contact metals. Although it is not obvious which, if any of these, is the cause, the presence of these leakage paths is apparent from the substrate bias screening in the unintentionally doped sample. Since the only difference between the two samples is the doping in the back-barrier, the sub-contact leakage should be the same in both. Therefore, the sub-contact leakage can be further investigated by substrate ramp

measurements on the carbon doped sample, using transfer length measurement structures of varying channel length. These measurements are shown in Figure 4.5 on the sample with the carbon doped back-barrier. The 2DEG is depleted at a rate that depends on the distance between the contacts with the largest distance depleted fastest. This behaviour can only be explained by the field driven injection of positive charge into the buffer, just under the contacts. In this case with a carbon doped back-barrier, the positive charge is much less able to transport laterally as there is no 2DHG providing a low lateral resistance. Therefore, only the 2DEG near the contacts is affected. The size of the area around the contact that the holes extend into is determined by the time constant of the GaN:C ($\rho \epsilon \sim 10$ s) and the ramp rate of the measurement. As the contacts are moved closer together, a greater fraction of the total 2DEG is affected by the lower vertical field caused by the positive charge and so the rate of depletion is separation dependent. This phenomenon of increased vertical leakage under the Ohmic contacts will be investigated in depth in Chapter 5.

4.4.5 Self-compensation

By now there is a strong argument for the presence of a polarisation induced 2DHG in the unintentionally doped back-barrier. Equally compelling is the evidence that this 2DHG is not present when the back-barrier is carbon doped. Therefore it is a reasonable assertion that the presence of carbon is the cause of the 2DHG suppression. Only donors can suppress the 2DHG [169, 170] and this is explained considering the band diagram around the top interlayer as shown in Figure 4.13. The polarisation discontinuities at the top and bottom interfaces of the AlN interlayer result in the presence of interface charges; negative at the top interface and positive at the bottom. The negative interface charge at the top interface is neutralised either by free holes forming a 2DHG or by ionised donors. When the back-barrier is carbon doped, deep acceptor and shallow donor levels are present. At room temperature all of the shallow donors are ionised. Far from the interface, the net charge will be neutral despite the ionised donors, since an equal number of deep acceptors become ionised, pinning the Fermi level. However, in the depletion region above the interlayer, all of the deep acceptors will be neutral as the bands are pulled up by the interface charge. In this region the positive donor charge is revealed and if the donor density is sufficiently high, can completely neutralise the interface charge, suppressing any hole gas. The AlGaN layer below the interlayer is carbon doped in both samples. As the bands bend down at this interface, the ionisation of additional deep acceptors will neutralise any positive interface charge at the lower interface. As a result, no 2DEG will be present in either sample at the interlayers.

From this model of 2DHG suppression, it is required that donors are introduced by carbon doping, meaning that carbon is self-compensating. These measurements can be used with simulations to put limits on the minimum donor density (and therefore the minimum compensation



Figure 4.13: Diagram of the band structure around the AlN interlayer (a) with the carbon doped back-barrier and (b) with the unintentionally doped back-barrier. With carbon doping, the depletion region above the interlayer (in red and of width X_n) causes an ionised donor charge to be revealed which can neutralise the upper interface charge. Without carbon, the interface charge is not neutralised by donors and free holes can accumulate. In both cases, a net negative charge from additional ionised acceptors in the depletion region below the interlayer, neutralises the lower interface charges.

ratio) required to neutralise the polarisation charge. This is approached in the following section using technology computer aided design (TCAD) simulations. The purpose of these simulations is to quantify the carbon donor density required to reproduce the experimentally observed 2DHG suppression. The simulations will accurately model the magnitude and distribution of the polarisation charge around the interface and vary the carbon donor density (i.e. the self-compensation ratio). This will allow simulation of the 2DHG density and the minimum donor density required for 2DHG suppression can be identified. This result can then be converted into the lower bound of the carbon self-compensation ratio in these samples.

4.5 Simulations

Simulations of the epitaxy in Figure 4.2 are discussed both with and without carbon doping in the back-barrier. By varying the carbon self-compensation ratio it is possible to identify the minimum donor density required to suppress the formation of a 2DHG. The polarisation charges are calculated as a function of the aluminium composition following from the work of Ambacher et al. [48]. The exact composition profile was measured using a scanning transmission electron



Figure 4.14: An scanning transmission electron microscopy z-contrast image of an AlN interlayer in AlGaN is shown in (b), acquired with a high-angle annular dark-field detector (courtesy of S. Stoffels, imec). The mean Al composition through the interlayer is shown in (a) along with the model used in the simulations. A square profile is also shown demonstrating the deviation from the ideal composition profile.

microscope image in the high angle annular dark field, shown in Figure 4.14(b). This technique, detailed in Section 3.4.1, looks at high angle scattering events of the electron beam. The heavier the atoms in the sample, the more high angle scattering occurs and the brighter the image. Therefore the Al composition was inferred by assuming the darkest point was AlN and the average grey far from the interlayer was $Al_{0.08}Ga_{0.92}N$. The image was averaged along the length of the interlayer to generate Figure 4.14(a). A model of the Al profile of the interlayer, used in the simulation, was approximated from the measured profile and is shown overlaid. This is compared to a square profile of an ideal 10 nm AlN interlayer in 8% AlGaN.

Since the structure was grown by metal-organic chemical vapour deposition, when rapidly changing Al composition, residual carrier gases in the reactor lead to a transition in Al content over a few nanometres of growth. As the junction is not abrupt, the polarisation charge is distributed over the transition. In calculating the polarisation charges it was assumed that the AlN layer was completely relaxed. This is a fair assumption since the nominal interlayer thickness was 10 nm which exceeds the critical thickness for relaxation of AlN on GaN [171]. However, if the interlayer were partially strained this would have introduced a piezoelectric polarisation to add to the spontaneous polarisation, resulting in an underestimate of the calculated interface charges.

The simulations were implemented using Silvaco's ATLAS drift diffusion simulator described in section 3.5. Donor and acceptor levels were included in the simulation to represent carbon based on the energy levels determined by Lyons et al. [92] and discussed in section 2.4.3. To simulate a given self-compensation ratio, ξ , the total carbon density was divided into a donor density and an acceptor density by consideration of two constraints; the compensation ratio is defined as $\xi = N_D/N_A$, and the total carbon density must remain as $N_{\text{carbon}} = N_D + N_A$. Combining and rearranging these two constraints derives the formulae for the two trap densities as

$$N_A = \frac{N_{\text{carbon}}}{1+\xi} \tag{4.3}$$

$$N_D = \frac{\xi N_{\text{carbon}}}{1+\xi} \tag{4.4}$$

As required, the sum of these donor and acceptor densities recovers the total carbon density $(N_D + N_A = N_{carbon})$. The shallow donor level representing C_{Ga} was included at 0.02 eV below the conduction band of the $Al_{0.08}Ga_{0.92}N$ with a density of N_D . In addition, the deep acceptor representing C_N was included with a density of N_A and at a depth of 0.98 eV above the valence band. The depth of the donor in the simulation is not too important, so long as it is sufficiently shallow that it is thermally ionised at room temperature. The depth of the C_N deep acceptor level is 0.9 eV in GaN and 1.88 eV in AlN, the level used here of 0.98 eV in 8% AlGaN was determined through a linear interpolation between these levels. The total carbon density on both sites $(N_D + N_A)$ was kept constant at the secondary-ion mass spectroscopy measured density of 2×10^{19} cm⁻³. In addition to these trap levels in the carbon doped layers, unintentional donors were incorporated throughout the structure with a density of 10^{16} cm⁻³ at a level of 0.02 eV below the conduction band. The surface charge above the AlGaN barrier was set to 5×10^{12} cm⁻² to bring the simulated 2DEG density in line with the Hall measured density of 5.9×10^{12} cm⁻². The simulated surface charge was lower than the simulated 2DEG density as some 2DEG electrons were provided by bulk donor states. To include the sub-contact leakage paths, described in section 4.4.4, some creative simulation was required. In a real device this leakage presumably occurs through a band-to-band trap-assisted-tunnelling process, however, this is currently beyond the capabilities of the simulator. Instead, small 15 nm p⁺⁺ spike regions were added below the contacts which allowed a space charge limited hole current to flow locally in the unintentionally doped GaN when the structure was in reverse bias conditions. This was similar to the way preferential sub-contact leakage was implemented by Uren et al. [41]. Although there, the p-type spikes were much longer which would have contacted the 2DHG in these simulations. Generally in device simulations, only the top few layers of the epitaxy are simulated along with the processed device. This is done to reduce the simulation complexity and also because often the exact composition of the lower layers is not disclosed to protect intellectual property. The simulations performed here included the entire stack, including the deep buffer structure, which was absolutely necessary to understand the role played by the interlayers. The full simulation files required for this simulation of the structure with a carbon doped back-barrier are included in Appendix C.



Figure 4.15: Simulated 2DHG density as a function of donor density (and compensation ratio) in the back-barrier. The simulations were repeated with realistic and square interlayer composition profiles. The 2DHG is completely suppressed at donor densities greater than 5.5×10^{18} cm⁻³ with a realistic profile corresponding to compensation ratios $\gtrsim 0.4$. Whereas with a square interlayer profile the 2DHG is not suppressed even at a donor density of 7×10^{18} cm⁻³. This figure corrects that published in [149] where the tick mark positions on the compensation ratio axis were incorrectly linearly spaced between the extremal ratios.

4.5.1 Equilibrium conditions

For clarification, all of the parameters in this simulation have been set based on measured material properties, measured composition profiles and defect energy levels presented in the literature. The total number of carbon defects has been measured experimentally but the fraction that are donors and the fraction that are acceptors is varied in this set of simulations. Therefore, the only parameter which is varied in this set of simulations is the carbon self-compensation ratio. The minimum carbon self-compensation ratio required for 2DHG suppression was determined by running the carbon doped simulation with a range of carbon self-compensation ratios. In these simulations, no bias was applied and the density of any 2DHG formation at the backbarrier/AlN interlayer interface was monitored. The simulated 2DHG density as a function of self-compensation ratio is shown in Figure 4.15 where the 2DHG was completely suppressed at a donor density of 5.5×10^{18} cm⁻³ corresponding to a compensation ratio of ~ 0.4.

The simulated cross-section of the unintentionally doped back-barrier with this compensation ratio is shown in Figure 4.16(b) and displays hole concentration. Figures 4.16(a) and 4.16(c) show the band structure and net charge of the carbon levels respectively from a cut-line mid way



Figure 4.16: Simulation results of a transfer length measurement structure on the sample with the unintentionally doped back-barrier with all terminals at 0 V. A cross-section of the epitaxy showing hole concentration is presented in (b). The band structure from a cut line mid way between the contacts is shown in (a) and the net trap charge (ionised donors minus ionised acceptors) is shown in (c).



Figure 4.17: Simulation results of a transfer length measurement structure on the sample with a carbon doped back-barrier with all terminals at 0 V and $N_D/N_A = 0.4$. A cross-section of the epitaxy showing hole concentration is presented in (b). The band structure from a cut line mid way between the contacts is shown in (a) and the net trap charge (ionised donors minus ionised acceptors) is shown in (c).

between the contacts. At the upper and lower interfaces of the unintentionally doped back-barrier, holes accumulate with a density of 1.5×10^{12} and 8.6×10^{12} cm⁻² respectively. The carbon doping results in a net negative trap charge below the interlayers as additional acceptors are ionised (as explained in section 4.4.5), which suppresses any 2DEG formation. The equivalent results for the simulation of the sample with a carbon doped back-barrier are shown in Figure 4.17 also with $N_D/N_A = 0.4$. In contrast to Figure 4.16(b), this simulation shows no accumulation of free holes in the back-barrier demonstrating a complete suppression of the 2DHG. Examination of Figure 4.17(c) presents the explanation; the interface charges are now neutralised by a net positive charge, revealed from the ionised carbon donors in a depletion region above the interlayer which was not present in Figure 4.16(c). The size of this depletion region was ~ 20 nm with $N_D/N_A = 0.4$ and increased up to ~ 35 nm with $N_D/N_A = 0.1$. The cause of this depletion region was outlined in section 4.4.5 and depicted in Figure 4.13. The indication is that the 2DHG can indeed be suppressed by carbon dopants but requires a compensation ratio of at least 0.4, in agreement with the previously estimated lower range of 0.1-0.6 [42]. Coupled with the previously discussed upper bound of 1 [157], the carbon self-compensation ratio in Al_{0.08}Ga_{0.92}N must be $0.4 < N_D/N_A < 1.$

This set of simulations was repeated with the square interlayer profile rather than the realistic model. In that case, the 2DHG density was much higher and was not suppressed even at donor densities of 7×10^{18} cm⁻³. This was because the polarisation charge was entirely located at the ideal heterointerface rather than being spread out over a few 10s of nm. The smearing of the interface charge from the gradient in Al composition means that it can be neutralised with a lower donor density since the depletion volume is larger. This demonstrates the necessity of modelling the aluminium composition profile realistically in simulations of the deep buffer.

The simulations require a donor density of at least 5.5×10^{18} cm⁻³ be present in the carbon doped back-barrier to suppress the 2DHG. In converting the donor density to a compensation ratio it was assumed that all of the donors were a result of carbon on the gallium site. In reality, to incorporate carbon during the growth, the growth temperature was reduced. This increases the generation rate of point defects such as nitrogen vacancies which also act as donors [172, 173]. This consideration implies the minimum bound of the self-compensation reported here is an overestimate. However, the density of additional point defects will be much lower than the required 5.5×10^{18} cm⁻³ donors and so the large majority must be related to C_{Ga}. Therefore, this will only introduce a small error in the lower bound of the compensation ratio.

4.5.2 Substrate bias ramp simulations

In order to verify these simulations were accurately representative of the samples, the simulated structures were subject to the same substrate bias ramps as in the experimental measurements. The simulation results are shown overlaid with the measurements in Figure 4.4(a). As in the experimental results, the 2DEG conductivity is independent of the substrate bias in the



Figure 4.18: Simulated transfer length measurement structure with an unintentionally doped back-barrier and an applied -350 V substrate bias. A cross-section of the epitaxy showing hole concentration is presented in (a). The band structure from a cut line mid way between the contacts is shown in (b).



Figure 4.19: Simulated transfer length measurement structure with a carbon doped back-barrier $(N_D/N_A = 0.4)$ and an applied -350 V substrate bias. A cross-section of the epitaxy showing hole concentration is presented in (a). The band structure from a cut line mid way between the contacts and directly through the contact spike is shown in (b), with a solid and dashed line respectively.

unintentionally doped sample and depletes linearly in the carbon doped sample. At applied substrate biases of $|V_{sub}| > 250$ V, the measured 2DEG conductivity on the carbon doped sample begins to deviate from the simulation. This is most likely related to the upper part of the stack starting to leak via a trap-assisted-tunnelling mechanism which is not included in the simulation. The simulated device cross-section with an unintentionally doped back-barrier is shown in Figure 4.18(a) with a substrate bias of -350 V. The corresponding band structure is shown in Figure 4.18(b) from a cut-line mid way between the contacts. From these results it is clear that the screening occurs from the top interlayer and all the field is dropped between this interlayer and the substrate. Holes are seen here flowing from the contact spike all the way to the interlayer where they are blocked and accumulate. The corresponding simulation result for the sample with the carbon doped back-barrier is shown in Figure 4.19. In this case, the vertical electric field is dropped linearly between the 2DEG and the substrate in areas not under a contact. Since the GaN channel layer is the same in both samples it is unsurprising that the holes are injected in the same way. However, with the carbon doped back-barrier, these injected holes pool under the contacts at the channel/back-barrier interface and form a locally reduced vertical electric field seen in the dashed grey line of Figure 4.19(b). The formation of these pools lower the electric field directly below the contact at the expense of increasing the vertical electric field in the back-barrier. This is an example of the Maxwell-Wagner effect which describes the accumulation of charge at discontinuities in material resistivity [174, 175]. This simulation result is consistent with the observed transfer length measurement structure gap dependence during the substrate bias ramps on the carbon doped sample and with the model discussed in section 4.4.4. These results are also relevant in Chapter 5 where the electric field below the contacts is discussed.

4.6 From AlGaN to GaN

This study has been concerning carbon doping in an $Al_{0.08}Ga_{0.92}N$ back-barrier. However, as discussed earlier, the back-barrier is more commonly GaN and so there will be interest in the transferability of these results to GaN. This is approached by examining the formation energies of C_N and C_{Ga} from the density functional theory simulations introduced in section 2.4.3. The root cause of the self-compensation is a result of the incorporation rates of the C_N and C_{Ga} configurations depending on the position of the Fermi level [92, 151]. If the Fermi level is high in the bandgap, the formation energy of C_N decreases, increasing the generation rate of acceptors and lowering the Fermi level. Equally, as the Fermi level becomes low, the formation energy of C_{Ga} becomes small giving rise to a large incorporation of donors, raising the Fermi level. In this way, an equilibrium Fermi level is found during growth which sets the self-compensation ratio. Therefore, based on this information it is likely that carbon will also be highly self-compensated in GaN, just as in AlGaN. There are other factors which influence the position of the Fermi level during growth such as the incorporation of hydrogen and these may explain why the self-compensation ratio deviates from unity.

4.7 Conclusions

Substrate bias, lateral leakage and vertical charging measurements have been performed on two samples which differ only by the carbon concentration in the back-barrier. The differing behaviour of the samples was attributed to the formation of a polarisation induced 2DHG at the unintentionally doped back-barrier/AIN interlayer interface. The assertion was made that the presence of the carbon was the cause of the suppression of the 2DHG in the carbon doped sample. As only donors can neutralise the polarisation charge and suppress the 2DHG, this result allowed the determination of the minimum donor density introduced by the carbon. It was shown that the donor density required to suppress the 2DHG depended strongly on the composition profile through the interface. The same simulations with an ideal abrupt interface lead to unrealistic results, demonstrating the importance of accurately representing such features in these simulations. Additionally, leakage under the contacts was required in the simulations in order to match the experimental data. During the substrate bias ramps, these preferential leakage paths gave rise to substrate bias screening and transfer length measurement structure gap dependence in the unintentionally doped and carbon doped samples respectively. The simulated minimum donor density to suppress the polarisation induced 2DHG was found to be $5.5 \times$ $10^{18} {
m cm}^{-3}$. With the knowledge of the total carbon density from secondary-ion mass spectroscopy, the minimum carbon self-compensation ratio was shown to be 0.4 assuming an insignificant density of other point defect donors. The self-compensation ratio must also be less than unity since otherwise carbon doping would not increase the material resistivity. Therefore the carbon self-compensation ratio was determined to be $0.4 < N_D/N_A < 1$. The carbon self-compensation ratio is the key parameter for setting material resistivity and therefore strongly influences the vertical leakage and breakdown voltage. This value also defines the depletion behaviour under the gate in the off-state. Therefore, knowledge of this previously unknown value is fundamental for accurate device simulations.



VERTICAL LEAKAGE AND BREAKDOWN UNDER TI/AL CONTACTS

he presence of preferential leakage paths under Ohmic contacts and the need to include them in simulations has already been observed in the previous chapter. This leakage reduces the resistivity and breakdown field of the GaN, thereby degrading the properties that make it desirable. This chapter uses a set of purpose designed structures to study and characterise the sub-contact leakage. Vertical leakage and quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurements were interpreted to identify the depth of the affected region under the contacts and place bounds on the resistivity of the leakage paths.

The work in this chapter was performed in collaboration with imec who grew the samples and processed the structures which were designed by Michael J. Uren. The structures were characterised here and a model was developed to explain the data. The results have been published in the IEEE journal Electron Device Letters [155]. Significant content has been reproduced from this publication. The flow of the research in this chapter is presented in Figure 5.1.

CHAPTER 5. VERTICAL LEAKAGE AND BREAKDOWN UNDER TI/AL CONTACTS



Figure 5.1: The flow of the research in this chapter.

5.1 Introduction

The high breakdown field associated with AlGaN/GaN HEMTs means they have the potential to make systems more efficient by operating at higher voltages. Growing the nitride layers on silicon, makes these devices more affordable and competitive since the substrates are cheap compared to SiC or bulk GaN and growth can take place in existing Si foundries. Coupled with the high electron mobility and high carrier density offered by the 2DEG, these devices are capable of sustaining high fields in the off-state and permitting high currents in the on-state.

However, point defects and other imperfections in the material quality introduce non-ideal behaviour such as current collapse and buffer leakage. As explained in section 2.5, current collapse, also referred to as dynamic on-resistance, is the phenomenon of a short term increase in the transistor on-state resistance after switching from the off-state to the on-state. It occurs when charge is trapped in the buffer (or the surface) during the high electric fields experienced in the off-state, which later act as a back-gate to the 2DEG. A reduced resistivity in the channel and buffer layers has been shown to allow this trapped charge to leak away on shorter time scales and thus has been linked to improved device performance. The presence of enhanced leakage paths in the sub-contact region has been observed to, at least partially, reduce current collapse in this way [41, 42]. As seen in the previous chapter and elsewhere [144], the inclusion of these leakage paths in simulations is required to match experimental data. Despite the importance of these sub-contact leakage paths, little is known about the extent to which they impact the vertical leakage or how far they extend. Prior speculative explanations have suggested the cause is contact spiking, metal in-diffusion into the GaN or the decoration of dislocations [41, 42] and all of these will increase the vertical leakage. Managing the off-state leakage and breakdown is critical for maximising the device operating voltage. Both of these can be achieved by minimising the peak electric fields. Lateral electric fields like those experienced in HEMTs in the off-state can be controlled by an optimised field plate design and a sufficiently large gate-drain access region. The challenge comes with management of the vertical electric fields. Historically, the solution to higher voltage operation has been to increase the thickness of the epitaxy. However, the maximum achievable thickness of AlGaN/GaN layers on Si is about 7 μ m, after which the strain from the lattice mismatch causes cracking [36, 37]. An alternative solution is to optimise the breakdown field of the epitaxy in order to increase the hard breakdown voltage and this has been achieved with some success [176, 177]. Previously published work has shown that the vertical leakage through the epitaxy is influenced by the choice of contact metals [58]. In that work it was demonstrated that Ti/Al based contacts gave rise to an increase in the vertical leakage. However, contact metal stacks based on Ti/Al are desirable since they have been shown to offer low contact resistances and are compatible with fabrication in silicon foundries which cannot permit gold. This chapter studies the impact of Ti/Al/TiN contacts on the resistivity of an AlGaN/GaN HEMT epitaxy. Vertical breakdown and transient vertical leakage measurements have been applied to purpose designed vertical leakage structures to quantify the impact of the contacts. Together with analysis of quasi-static CV data, the resistivity and depth of the preferential leakage paths have been evaluated. These results provide much needed information required for understanding the leakage dynamics through the epitaxy under the contacts, which is related to both buffer leakage and current collapse.

5.2 Experimental details

5.2.1 Epitaxy and structures

The structures in this work were fabricated on an AlGaN/GaN-on-Si epitaxy optimised for power HEMTs. The nitride layers detailed in Figure 5.2 were grown by metal-organic chemical vapour deposition on a silicon substrate which had a resistivity of $> 1 \Omega$ cm. AlN and AlGaN transition layers were grown on the silicon followed by an AlGaN/GaN superlattice for strain relief with a combined thickness of 1.9 μ m. This was followed by a 1 μ m carbon doped GaN buffer layer, a $0.3 \ \mu m$ unintentionally doped GaN channel and an AlGaN barrier to form a 2DEG. The epitaxy was passivated with Al₂O₃ and SiO₂ and the 2DEG sheet resistance was measured as 550 $\Omega \Box^{-1}$. The Ohmic contacts were fabricated using the optimised process developed by Firrincieli et al. [59]. This entailed a full recess of the AlGaN barrier and the deposition of a Ti/Al/TiN metal stack. The Ti/Al thickness ratio was 0.05 and the contacts were annealed at 550°C which is lower than other equivalent processes. This resulted in fully Si CMOS compatible contacts with a low contact resistance of ~ 0.6 Ω mm. The unit Ω mm applies here since this contact resistance was measured using the lateral transfer length method described in Section 3.3. In a metal-2DEG junction the transfer length is much smaller than the length of the contact, so only the contact width affects the contact resistance. Taking a typical value for the transfer length as 1.6 μ m, this result corresponds to a specific contact resistance of $0.01 \text{ m}\Omega \text{cm}^2$.

On this epitaxy a suite of vertical leakage structures were fabricated (shown in Figure 5.2) which were designed to study the impact of the contacts on the resistivity of the epitaxy. All structures had the same active area of 110 μ m × 110 μ m, isolated by a nitrogen implantation. The maximum energy of the nitrogen ions was 375 keV which equated to a maximum depth of ~ 550 nm. In the centre of each active area, a square hole was opened up in the passivation and the AlGaN barrier was recessed to make an Ohmic contact. The contact areas varied in size from 5 μ m × 5 μ m to 95 μ m × 95 μ m. On top of the Ohmic contacts a probing pad was deposited with an area of 100 μ m × 100 μ m which was the same for all structures. The design of the structures was motivated by the assertion that all structures with the same active area should show the same vertical current unless the presence of the contact affects the vertical leakage.

In addition to these structures, surface leakage structures were used which were capable of isolating and separating surface and buffer leakage [146]. This structure, those topology was introduced in section 3.3, centres on an isolated 100 μ m × 100 μ m Ohmic contact which is surrounded by a Schottky guard ring at a distance of 20 μ m. Surface and buffer leakage with a



Figure 5.2: A cross-sectional diagram of a vertical leakage structure showing the layers of the epitaxy. The Ohmic contact area is defined by the window in the passivation but the active area is defined by the implant isolation.

lateral electric field were determined by applying a bias to the central Ohmic contact and 0 V on the guard ring and external Ohmic contact.

5.2.2 Characterisation

Vertical breakdown measurements of the epitaxy were performed using a simple 100 μ m × 100 μ m isolated Ohmic contact. This was compared to the same measurements on a vertical leakage structure with a contact area of 5 μ m × 5 μ m and an active area of 110 μ m × 110 μ m, as always. In all vertical measurements in this chapter, a negative bias was applied to the substrate such that the electric field in the epitaxy was of the same polarity as a biased HEMT with a positive drain with a grounded substrate. A Keithley 2657A was used to apply the substrate bias and the current was measured when applying 0 V to the surface with a Keithley 4200. The breakdown criterion was defined as a vertical current density of 10³ Acm⁻² (~ 100 mA).

In order to test for the presence of lateral conduction paths in the epitaxy, substrate bias ramps were performed as described in section 3.2.4. In the absence of lateral conduction paths, the magnitude of the substrate bias required to pinch off the 2DEG should be constant regardless of the active area. However, if such a lateral conduction path were present, it could extend laterally outside the isolation and effectively increase the active area. An example of this is a 2DHG which can extend up to 100 μ m outside the active area [167]. A smaller isolated area would be more susceptible to this change in effective active area as it is a greater fractional change. Therefore, the pinch off voltages of smaller structures would differ more and more as the

isolated area became comparable to the extension area of lateral conduction paths.

The vertical leakage structures were measured by applying -200 V to the substrate using a Keithley 41501B and the current was measured from the surface contact at 0 V using a Keithley 4156A. The current was measured over 30 s and the current at the end of the transient was assumed to be only leakage current. The use of a transient measurement to determine the leakage current ensured the absence of any displacement or surface charging currents which may otherwise be present during a voltage ramp. Applying the voltage step at the start of the measurements causes a spike in displacement current which decays with a time constant determined by the resistivity and permittivity of the layers. The sampling time of 30 seconds was selected as it was sufficiently late that the decaying displacement current did not effect the measurement. This sampling time was equally sufficiently short that it was not sensitive to any change in the current over longer time scales as a result of, for example, (de)trapping of deep levels. An additional reason to use a transient measurement to assess the vertical leakage was the ability to account for surface charging. If surface charging were occurring, applying a ramped voltage would lead to the erroneous addition of a surface current. By using a transient, surface charging may only appear as a transient with a certain decay time constant which can be measured separately to assess its impact. This was done using the intentionally designed surface leakage structure shown in Figure 3.8. The structure was designed to measure the surface and buffer leakage components by biasing the central Ohmic contact as described previously. An additional, alternative application was to use the structure in the vertical leakage measurements. The central Ohmic and the guard ring were both held at 0 V with the substrate at -200 V. This guaranteed the current measured on the central Ohmic contact was only vertical current, since any lateral surface charging current would be supplied by the guard ring and not measured.

More than 35 of each of the vertical leakage structures were measured to ensure a sufficient distribution size. Following this, three vertical leakage structures of each geometry exhibiting mean vertical leakage behaviour were selected for quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurements. As described in section 3.2.3, a negative substrate bias was applied to the substrate using a linear ramp generator. The current was measured from the vertical leakage structures which were biased at 0 V using a 4156A. The bi-directional, continuous ramp was applied at a rate of -1 Vs^{-1} down to a voltage of -40 V.

5.3 Results

The vertical breakdown of the epitaxy, measured on isolated 100 μ m × 100 μ m Ohmic contacts is shown in Figure 5.3. A maximum breakdown voltage of 2.7 MVcm⁻¹ was seen, demonstrating excellent breakdown performance. The same measurements were applied to vertical leakage structures with contact areas of 5 μ m × 5 μ m for comparison. The leakage current level and final breakdown field were both improved with the smaller contact, showing the same vertical



Figure 5.3: Vertical breakdown measurements on an isolated 100 μ m × 100 μ m contact (large contact) and a vertical leakage structure with a contact area of 5 μ m × 5 μ m (small contact). The measured current was normalised to the active area. The large contact structures showed an increased vertical leakage and on average, breakdown at an electric field 0.13 MVcm⁻¹ lower.

leakage current at an electric field approximately 0.45 MV cm^{-1} higher. Meanwhile, the mean hard breakdown field increased by approximately 0.13 MV cm^{-1} with a smaller contact.

The results of the substrate bias ramp measurements on three different active areas are shown in Figure 5.4. The substrate bias was ramped down to -400 V and back at a ramp rate of -5 Vs⁻¹. Each of the curves were very similar and showed the same rate of pinch off, indicating no dependence on the size of the active area. On the downward ramp, the rate of depletion slowed between 70 < |V| < 180 V followed by a return to a steeper gradient. On the return ramp, the 2DEG density returns to and saturates near the initial value by $|V| \sim 80$ V.

The surface leakage structure was first used by applying a bias to the central Ohmic and 0 V to the other contacts as shown in Figure 3.8. The lateral field between the central Ohmic and the guard ring was used to measure the surface resistivity. The guard ring current is shown in Figure 5.5(a). No buffer leakage was measurable above the noise floor on the external Ohmic contact. At 20°C the guard ring measured a surface current of 3.3 pA at the highest applied lateral field of 5 kVcm⁻¹. This corresponds to a 'sheet' resistance of ~ 7 × 10¹³ Ω□⁻¹. The current followed a power law relation with the electric field of $I \propto E^{1.32}$ and the current level increased with temperature like an activated process with an activation energy of $E_A = 0.7$ eV.

Secondly, the surface leakage structures were used to evaluate the effect of surface charging on the vertical leakage transient when -200 V was applied to the Si substrate. The central Ohmic and the guard were both set to 0 V ensuring only vertical current was measured by the Ohmic


Figure 5.4: Substrate bias ramps on three different active areas showing pinch-off voltage independence from the active area. The substrate bias was ramped at -5 Vs^{-1} with the solid and dash lines showing the ramp down and back respectively. The dotted line shows the capacitive coupling line that would be followed by an ideal dielectric. A reduced gradient was observed on the downward ramp in the substrate voltage range 70 < |V| < 180 V.

inside the guard. The results are shown in Figure 5.5(b) and are compared with the transients of the vertical leakage structure with a similar contact area of 95 μ m × 95 μ m. At short time scales there are some subtle differences, but this does not affect the current level by 30 s.

The vertical leakage transients of the vertical leakage structure with the smallest geometry are shown in Figure 5.6(a). These transients have a decay time constant of $\tau = -5$ s which is similar to that expected of carbon doped GaN, $\tau = \rho \epsilon = -10$ s The gradient of the current at 30 s was small compared to the initial gradient indicating that processes with short time constants such as the displacement current spike had decayed. The current at 30s was used to make the histogram in Figure 5.6(b) which exhibits a Gaussian distribution. The same measurements and analysis were applied to all of the vertical leakage structure geometries and the parameters of the Gaussian fits are shown in Figure 5.7(a). Here it is apparent that the vertical current increases approximately linearly with contact area. From the y-intercept of the linear fit, the current density through the 110 μ m × 110 μ m active area in the absence of an Ohmic contact can be estimated as 120 pAmm⁻². Similarly, from the gradient of the fit, the additional current density due to the contacts is 325 pAmm⁻². This indicates that with 200 V across the epitaxy, the vertical leakage current under the contact metal is increased by a factor of ~ 3.5. The same data is shown on log-log axes in Figure 5.7(b). The approximately constant size of the bars indicate that the ratio of the standard deviation to the mean is approximately constant.



Figure 5.5: Results of measurements on the surface leakage structures when applying (a) a lateral field and (b) a vertical field. The guard ring current is shown in (a), indicating a lateral resistivity in the order of $10^{13} \ \Omega \Box^{-1}$ at 20°C. The current-field relation was a power law $I \propto E^{1.32}$ and the process is activated with an energy of 0.7 eV. The current on the central Ohmic contact, biased at 0 V, during vertical transient measurements is shown in (b) with a substrate bias of -200 V. Compared with the unguarded structure, these results show that charging of the surface only changes the first few seconds of the transient.



Figure 5.6: (a) The vertical transients measured on the vertical leakage structure with a contact area of 5 μ m × 5 μ m and a substrate bias of –200 V. The current at 30 s was binned to form the histogram in (b). The histogram was fitted with a Gaussian distribution to extract the mean and standard deviation of the distribution.



Figure 5.7: (a) The mean vertical leakage of the vertical leakage structures increases linearly with contact area. The bars show the standard deviation of the distributions. The same data is plotted in (b) on log-log axes where the similar sizes of the bars indicates the ratio of the standard deviation to the mean is approximately constant. The linear fit has a gradient of 325 pAmm^{-2} and a y-intercept of 1.47 pA.

The results of the quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurements on the vertical leakage structures with the smallest and largest contact areas are shown in Figure 5.8. The direct measurements are shown in Figure 5.8(a) followed by the decomposition of the bidirectional current-voltage curve into the displacement and leakage components in Figure 5.8(b). Finally, the displacement component of each measurement was used to infer the quasi-static capacitance of the structures in Figure 5.8(c). A parallel capacitance of 0.93 pF was subtracted from an open calibration. Like the vertical leakage, the capacitances of the structures increased approximately linearly with the area of the contact.

5.4 Discussion

All of the vertical leakage structures had the same active area of 110 μ m × 110 μ m, and regardless of the area of the contact, electrical contact was made to a 2DEG which had the same area. Therefore, with an ideal contact to the 2DEG, the vertical leakage between the 2DEG and the substrate would be the same for all structure geometries. However, as seen in Figure 5.7, increasing the area of the contact increases the vertical leakage current. This implies the presence of the contact introduces additional vertical leakage paths below the 2DEG. The increase in the vertical leakage current-voltage characteristics in Figure 5.3 with the larger contact indicates the leakage mechanisms are strongly influenced by the contacts. However, the small shift in the hard breakdown voltage indicates the final breakdown mechanisms remain similar.



Figure 5.8: The quasi-static capacitance-voltage results of two vertical leakage structures. The measured current-voltage characteristics of the smallest and largest structures are shown in (a) which are then decomposed into the displacement and leakage components in (b) by identifying the fraction of the current which changes sign with the ramp rate. The displacement current is used with the ramp rate to identify the capacitance. The quasi-static capacitance of all the vertical leakage structures are shown in (c) and increases with contact area.

The substrate bias measurements showed no dependence on the active area indicating the absence of lateral conduction paths. This was expected since the buffer had been optimised to maximise breakdown voltage which would have been negatively impacted by the presence of lateral leakage paths. Therefore, the use of a 1D model in the analysis of the measurements on this epitaxy is justified. The deviation from the capacitive coupling line can be interpreted to infer the movement of charge in the epitaxy. One model to explain this data is that at $|V| \gtrsim 70$ V the top of the stack begins to leak, injecting positive charge into the buffer and reducing the vertical electric field near the 2DEG. This reduces its rate of depletion at the expense of increasing the electric field in the lower part of the epitaxy. Then at $|V| \gtrsim 180$ V, the entire epitaxy begins to leak and the 2DEG is resistively coupled to the substrate. On the return ramp, the 2DEG remains resistively and then capacitively coupled to the substrate until it recovers to its initial density. Then, the positive charge that was injected into the epitaxy lowers the barrier confining electrons to the 2DEG which rapidly neutralise it. This neutralisation of the positive charge as the substrate bias is removed causes the 2DEG density to saturate close to its initial value.

In Figure 5.5(a), a lateral field up to 5 kVcm⁻¹ was applied between the central Ohmic and the guard ring of the surface leakage structure with the resulting surface current of 3.3 pA at 20°C. The current-field relationship of $I \propto E^{1.32}$ was similar to that expected for a surface leakage current which generally follows $I \propto E$. The leakage was also seen to be an activated process, consistent with surface hopping with an activation energy of $E_A = 0.7$ eV, likely related to the energy level of the surface states. Surface leakage on this process has been studied in detail by imec [178] and their results agree very well with those shown here. Specifically, the near exponential increase in surface leakage with temperature. Apart from these data, all measurements were performed at room temperature and with much lower lateral electric fields, so surface leakage would have been at a minimum. In addition, there are two more considerations which support the argument that surface effects would not have affected the measurements. Firstly, during the quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurement, the magnitude of the applied substrate voltage was always less than 40 V, so although lateral fields on the surface were not well defined, those fields would be much lower than the 5 kVcm⁻¹ experienced in the surface leakage structure. It is worth noting that there were no metal structures in the vicinity of the test structure, and all unbiased structures would be floating. Secondly, as shown in Figure 5.2, the size of the window in the passivation determines the contact area but the probing pad extends on top of the passivation to a 100 μ m × 100 μ m pad which is the same for all structures and acts as a field plate. Therefore, any residual surface charging would be the same for all structures and would appear as an offset in the displacement current. Equally, lateral leakage over the surface then down through the epitaxy would not affect the quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurements since the technique relies on the displacement component which is separable from the leakage current.

The vertical transients on the surface leakage structure in Figure 5.5(b) were able to isolate the component of the transient related to the surface. This was compared to the vertical leakage structure with the largest contact of 95 μ m × 95 μ m which had a similar contact area to the 100 μ m × 100 μ m of the central Ohmic in the surface leakage structure. When measuring the transient with the vertical leakage structure, the measured current would have contributions from both the vertical leakage and surface effects. Whereas with the surface leakage structure, the central Ohmic and the guard were at the same potential, therefore, no current would flow between them and the surface currents would flow from the guard. Consequently, the current measured from the central Ohmic must be only vertical current. This means that the difference between the transients of the two structures pertains to the surface leakage contribution. At early time scales of a few seconds, the transients differ, probably related to some surface charging. However, after 30 s the current was unchanged by the presence of the guard ring. Therefore, by using a transient technique to measure the vertical leakage, the effect of displacement and surface related currents have been removed.

5.4.1 Capacitance model

The quasi-static capacitance-voltage results indicated a linear relation between structure capacitance and contact area. An interpretation of this result is that the capacitance of the epitaxy directly under the contact is higher than the capacitance in the remaining, uncontacted active area. As the structure capacitance is the sum of these parallel capacitances, an increase in the area of the contact (and a decrease in the area of the uncontacted active area) would result in a net increase in the capacitance. An equivalent circuit diagram of this model is formalised in



Figure 5.9: The equivalent circuit model constructed to explain the capacitance and vertical leakage dependence on contact area. The epitaxy is simplified into a leaky dielectric and an additional leakage path is included below the contact only, represented by ρ_2 .

Figure 5.9. In the uncontacted active area, the epitaxy is simplified into a single leaky dielectric, represented by ρ_1 and C_1 . Under the contact, the epitaxy is simplified into two layers; the top of the stack which is influenced by the contact and the lower part of the stack which has the same properties as in the uncontacted area. The resistivity of these two layers, $\rho_{1,\text{lower}}$ and $\rho_{1,\text{upper}}$ combine to have the same total resistivity as ρ_1 and likewise for the capacitances. The part of the model which introduces the dependence of the vertical leakage and capacitance on the contact area is the inclusion of an additional leakage path, represented by ρ_2 . This resistor is in parallel with $\rho_{1,\text{upper}}$, reducing the resistivity of the upper part of the epitaxy compared to the uncontacted areas.

The effect of ρ_2 is to increase the leakage through the layer such that the leakage current is much greater than the displacement current of C_2 . This means the layer no longer has a measurable capacitance and the capacitance of the epitaxy under the contact becomes C_3 rather than C_1 . The capacitance per unit area of C_3 is higher than C_1 since this is a thinner portion of the epitaxy. An alternative way to interpret this is by looking at the potential drop between the two series resistors under the contact. The lower combined resistivity of $\rho_{1,upper}$ and ρ_2 compared to $\rho_{1,lower}$ means more of the potential is dropped over the lower layer. Therefore, under the contact a higher capacitance will be measured since the displacement current under the contact will now be $I_{disp} \sim C_3 \times \frac{dV}{dt}$. It follows that as the contact area is increased the capacitance of the entire structure increases.

Assuming that $\rho_2 \ll \rho_1$, the resistivity directly under the contact is approximately equal to ρ_2 and is also small compared to $\rho_{1,\text{lower}}$. Based on this, the exact change in the structure capacitance with contact area depends only on the depth to which the region of reduced resistivity extends below the contact. Accordingly, the only fitting parameter in this model is the depth that

 ρ_2 extends down from the contact. The simulated response of the vertical leakage structures to the quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurements is shown in Figure 5.8(c) with different depths of ρ_2 . The quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurements most closely follow the simulations with leakage paths extending 1.6 μ m below the contact. This implies there is a region of reduced resistivity below the Ohmic contacts which extends all the way down into the top of the superlattice.

In Chapter 4, simulations of a similar epitaxy are shown in Figure 4.19. The contact metal stack of that sample was also Ti/Al based, though the process was different. In that process the AlGaN barrier was not recessed and the metal stack was Ti/Al/Ni/Au rather than the Ti/Al/TiN in this chapter. However, sub-contact leakage paths were included in that simulation and some qualitative comparisons can be made. A vertical cut-line of the potential directly under the contact spike is shown in Figure 4.19(b) as a dashed line. The effect of the contact spike with an applied vertical field was to inject carriers which reduced the effective resistivity of the GaN channel layer. In the channel layer, under the contact, there was no potential drop and this caused an increase in the electric field in the back-barrier. Since the vertical current depends on the electric field, this will cause an increase in the vertical leakage through the back-barrier under the contact. The subtle point here is that the depth of the region which is affected by the contact (and which is measured here) may be greater than the length of the sub-contact leakage path. This is since below the region of reduced resistivity, the electric field is higher, increasing field dependent leakage.

Regarding the physical cause of the additional leakage, transmission electron microscope images of other Ti/Al contacts have been compared. In-diffusion of the contact metals has been reported up to 30 nm down from the contacts [179, 180] and spiking has been seen as deep as 100 nm [181]. However, neither of these could explain a leakage path as deep as 1.6 μ m. The scanning electron microscope (SEM) and transmission electron microscope images of the contacts here in this work are shown in Figure 5.10 and reveal a completely smooth metal-semiconductor interface, confirming the absence of spikes or in-diffusion on the scale of microns. One possibility which could give rise to such extended leakage paths without appearing in a transmission electron microscope image is the decoration of existing dislocations through the epitaxy. It is plausible that this could happen with the contact metals during annealing and such an affect has previously been observed with Ti/Al contacts [182].

In order to measure a higher displacement current under the contact, it must be true that the resistivity ρ_2 , is sufficiently small that the vertical current is limited by the displacement current from C_3 . Therefore, an upper bound for ρ_2 is the effective resistivity of the capacitor C_3 during the ramp. The effective resistivity of a capacitor during a voltage ramp can be derived as

$$\rho_C = \frac{V}{\epsilon} \left(\frac{dV}{dt}\right)^{-1} \tag{5.1}$$

by combining the definitions of a capacitor ($C = \epsilon A/d$), displacement current (I = C dV/dt) and



Figure 5.10: (a) Scanning electron microscope and (b) transmission electron microscope images of the Ti/Al/TiN contacts in this study [59]. The metal-semiconductor interface is flat and devoid of spiking. ©2014 The Japanese Journal of Applied Physics.



Figure 5.11: (a) The CV profiles of the vertical leakage structures with the indicated contact areas measured by quasi-static capacitance-voltage and conventional high frequency CV. The CV at 1 MHz is approximately constant for all structures and agrees fairly well with the calculated ideal capacitance. The capacitance as a function of measurement frequency in shown in (b). The capacitances of the structures do not disperse down to the lowest measurable frequency of 100 kHz.

resistivity ($\rho = RA/L$). This puts an upper bound on ρ_2 of ~ 10¹¹ Ω cm. The resistivity of the epitaxy in the absence of an Ohmic contact can be evaluated from the y-intercept in Figure 5.7(a). This intercept current with an active area of 110 μ m × 110 μ m and a total epitaxial thickness of 3.2 μ m gives an average resistivity of 5 × 10¹³ Ω cm. This value is in good agreement with other estimations of the resistivity of carbon doped GaN [41, 183]. The implication is that the presence of the contact has reduced the resistivity of the GaN below it by at least a factor of 100.

In order to identify a lower bound for the resistivity of the sub-contact leakage paths, ρ_2 ,

conventional high frequency CV was used. The capacitance of the vertical leakage structures at 1MHz is shown in Figure 5.11(a) and compared to the quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurements. In contrast to the quasi-static results, all of the different structure geometries showed the same capacitance. This is expected since the leakage time constant ($\tau = RC = \rho_2 \epsilon$) is much slower than the 1 MHz modulation used in this measurement. The capacitances of the structures were measured over a range of frequencies in Figure 5.11(b) in order to observe the capacitance dispersion at low frequencies, seen in the quasi-static measurements. The highest frequency at which dispersion is visible between the structures will indicate the time constant and hence resistivity of ρ_2 . The lowest measurable frequency before the parasitic capacitances and inductances of the measurement system increased the noise floor was 100kHz. No dispersion was seen before this point which indicates at the very least that $\frac{1}{\rho_{2}\epsilon} < 100$ kHz resulting in the bounds $10^7 < \rho_2 < 10^{11}$ Ωcm. This is the main result of this chapter; the assertion that leakage paths extend below only the Ohmic contact for as far as 1.6 μ m into the epitaxy, with resistivities potentially as low as 10 M Ω cm. The presence of such leakage paths, though not previously studied to this extent, are evident in the transfer length measurement structure gap dependence in a number of other back-bias studies [144, 149, 184], showing that this issue is widespread. Reading from Figure 5.3, suppression of these leakage paths can reduce vertical leakage by two orders of magnitude and increase device breakdown voltage by 5%.

5.4.2 Vertical leakage simulations

The distributions of the vertical leakage currents in Figure 5.7(b) showed an approximately constant ratio of the standard deviation to the mean. At first sight, this is unexpected with the model set forward in the previous section. The model attributes the additional leakage to dislocations under the contact becoming more leaky. It follows, that increasing the contact area increases the number of affected dislocations and so the mean leakage current is proportional to the contact area. However, it may also be expected that the standard deviation is proportional to the square root of the contact area. After all, the larger the number of dislocations under the contact area of $\frac{\sigma}{\mu} \propto \frac{1}{\sqrt{\text{contact area}}}$ but this is not what is seen.

In order to understand this discrepancy, the vertical leakage distributions were simulated using MATLAB based on two simple model assumptions; (1) the vertical leakage occurs only along dislocations (bulk leakage is ignored) and (2), under the contact, the dislocations are more leaky than in the uncontacted active area. The procedure of the simulations is shown in Figure 5.12. The vertical leakage structures were simulated in 2D, in plan view. Therefore, vertical dislocations appeared as points whose locations were determined using a random number generator. The simulation started by filling a 200 μ m × 200 μ m area with dislocations until the specified dislocation density was reached. An example of this 200 μ m × 200 μ m area is shown in Figure 5.12(a) with the square active and contact areas overlaid. Following this, for a given



Figure 5.12: The procedure of the vertical leakage simulations is shown for a 20 μ m × 20 μ m contact. (a) A random spatial distribution of dislocations was generated with a random number generator and the number in the contact region and in the uncontacted active region were counted. (b) This was repeated 500 times to build up distributions for both regions. (c) The dislocations in each region were multiplied by a 'leakage per dislocation' to generate a leakage distribution for one structure (d) This was all repeated for a range of contact areas to simulate the scaling of the distribution parameters with contact area.

contact area, the number of dislocations under the contact and the number in the uncontacted active area around the contact were counted. This entire process was repeated 500 times to build up the distribution in Figure 5.12(b) of the number of dislocations in each of the areas for a given contact area.

To simulate the leakage distributions of the structure in Figure 5.12(c), the dislocations were multiplied by a value of the average 'leakage per dislocation' with 200 V across the epitaxy. The leakage current of the dislocations under the contact was increased by a factor which represented the preferential sub-contact leakage. All of the above was then repeated for a range of contact areas to build up the simulation of how the mean and standard deviation scaled with the area of the contact. The value of the 'leakage per dislocation' and the sub-contact factor were used as fitting parameters so that the simulated area dependence of the mean leakage agreed with the measurements.

The dislocation density of this GaN-on-Si sample was in the order of 10^9 cm^{-2} . It was initially assumed that 1% of these dislocations were electrically active, based on the observation that only dislocations with a Burgers vector of 1c are leaky [105]. The results of the simulation are shown in Figure 5.13(a) with a conductive dislocation density of 10^7 cm^{-2} . To fit the simulated mean leakage current to the measured data over the full range of contact areas, the current per dislocation was set to 1.1 fA and the factor of increased dislocation leakage under the contact was 3.6. This gave a 'leakage per dislocation' under the contact of 4 fA. This factor of 3.6 is in very good agreement with the measurement of this parameter (~ 3.5) extracted from Figure



Figure 5.13: A comparison of four simulations with the measured distribution parameters. (a) With an electrically active dislocation density of 10^7 cm^{-2} , (b) a density of 10^6 cm^{-2} , (c) a density of 10^7 cm^{-2} with dislocation clustering, and (d) a density of 10^7 cm^{-2} with variation in the dislocation conductances.

5.7(a). To resolve potential confusion, this factor of 3.6 refers to the change in vertically averaged resistivity of the entire epitaxy under the contact. This differs from the estimated $10^2 - 10^6$ times reduction in resistivity estimated by the quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurements which was referring to just the material directly under the contact. This simulation shows all of the same trends as the measurements. Specifically, the ratio of the standard deviation to the mean is flat as seen in the experimental data. While this model may not be exactly what is going on, it demonstrates that these leakage distributions (and in particular the constant ratio of the standard deviation to the mean) can be explained using a simple model based on preferential leakage paths under the contact.

The magnitude of the standard deviation with contact area is predicted by the simulation to be much smaller. This suggests an additional source of random variation exists which is not being accounted for in the simulation. One way to increase the standard deviation in the simulation would be to lower the dislocation density by a factor of 10 and increase the dislocation leakage by the same factor to maintain the same mean current. This is shown in Figure 5.13(b) and is in better agreement with the measured data. However, this would correspond to only 0.1% of the dislocations being electrically active which is unrealistic. Recent studies of the relative densities of different dislocation types suggests the percentage of leaky dislocations is more like 1-10% [105]. Alternatively, the source of variation could be from dislocation clustering. This was implemented in the simulation by introducing a clustering parameter, ξ . To generate a clustered dislocation distribution with average density, n, the first $n(1-\xi)$ dislocations were distributed randomly, as in the previous simulation. After this, the remaining $n\xi$ dislocation were allocated

sites within 1 μ m of already existing dislocations. By this method, a clustering of $\xi = 0$ recovered the original unclustered simulation whilst $\xi = 1$ placed all dislocations in one cluster. The results of this simulation are shown in Figure 5.13(c) with $\xi = 0.91$ and gives an equally improved result with the dislocation density back at 10^7 cm⁻². It should be noted however, that the extent of the clustering required to give this result was unrealistically high; 91% of the dislocations are located near the site of the first 9% which were generated. Measurements of the spacial distribution of dislocations on GaN-on-Si wafers by cathodoluminescence [185] show a clustering of $\xi = 0.013$, much lower than that required here. The final investigated possible way to introduce additional variation was by adding random variations into the amount of current carried by each dislocation. The dislocation density was 10^7 cm⁻² and the 'leakage per dislocation' was multiplied by a random number between 0.8 and 1.2. This range of variation was chosen as it best fitted the experimental data. The result shown in Figure 5.13(d) shows a very different shape to the previous simulations with the standard deviation only increasing sharply at high contact areas. The variation in leakage between different dislocations of $\pm 20\%$ may seem small. Considering that dislocation conductivity appears to depend strongly on the Burgers vectors [105], different dislocations could vary in leakage by orders of magnitude. However it is possible that the leakiest dislocation type will dominate the total current, and then it is the variation in leakage current of this dislocation type that defines the distribution which may only be small.

This idea that there may be orders of magnitude differences in leakage current between different types of active dislocations suggests an explanation for the simulation in Figure 5.13(b). The reduced dislocation density required to fit the measurements could be representative of 10% of the active dislocations being much leakier than the rest and defining the distribution shape. The 10^6 cm⁻² density in this simulation would be referring to just these most leaky dislocations which would have an average spacing of approximately 10 μ m.

To summarise these simulations, a simple 2D model is able to simulate the observed constant ratio of the standard deviation to the mean. The behaviour of $\frac{\sigma}{\mu} \propto \frac{1}{\sqrt{\text{contact area}}}$ can be forced in a non-physical simulation by setting the current carried by dislocations outside of the contact area to zero. Therefore, this constant ratio is a result of the interplay between the two distributions shown in Figure 5.12(b). The source of the underestimation of the distribution width in the first simulation in Figure 5.13(a) is still unknown. Possible sources relate to an overestimation of the electrically active dislocation density (or a fraction of the electrically active dislocations dominating the leakage), the clustering of dislocations, or a combination of both. Alternatively, it could be the case that this 2D model is oversimplified and a full 3D simulation is required, more like reality, in which the dislocation conductivity changes some way down under the contacts. However, adding a small random variation to the conductivities of the dislocations produced a result that did not agree well with the measurement data so this is less likely to be the source.

5.5 Conclusion

The effect that Ti/Al based Ohmic contacts have on the vertical leakage in AlGaN/GaN HEMT epitaxies has been studied. Vertical leakage structures were characterised to identify and quantify the additional vertical leakage as a result of the presence of the contact. Vertical current transients were measured on these structures and the magnitude of the leakage current was seen to increase linearly with the area of the contact. This is an important observation since it indicates that the presence of the contact reduces the resistivity of the epitaxy and hence, degrades the desirable properties of the GaN. Additionally, the vertical capacitance of these structures was measured both with conventional CV and by quasi-static CV. The quasi-static CV measurements revealed an increase in the structure capacitance, which was also linearly related to the contact area. These measurements supported the notion of a region below the contact with a reduced resistivity compared to the uncontacted epitaxy. The resistivity of this region was estimated to have reduced from $5 \times 10^{13} \Omega$ cm to between $10^7 \Omega$ cm and $10^{11} \Omega$ cm. The quasi-static capacitance-voltage measurements also indicated that the preferential leakage paths extended ~ 1.6 μ m below the contact, all the way down into the superlattice. It was also observed that these leakage paths reduced the hard breakdown field. Therefore, optimising the Ohmic contacts is essential for maximising device operating voltages. These results indicate that the impact of the contacting process is not limited to the surface but may also play a role in managing current collapse and buffer leakage. The depth to which these paths extend is suggested here to be much greater than previously expected with previous estimations not exceeding 100 nm. It is worth noting that this was an unusually low temperature process and so a more typical 800°C process may have an even bigger effect. Inclusion of such paths in device simulations will enable improved simulation accuracy as they are a requirement for the recovery of observed behaviour.

C H A P T E R

IMPURITY BAND CONDUCTION IN GAN-ON-GAN PN DIODES

he previous two chapters were discussing the development of HEMTs for high power applications. However, as explained in section 2.2.3, high power pn diodes with matched capabilities are required to compliment these HEMTs in many power switching circuit designs. The development of bulk GaN-on-GaN pn diodes for this purpose form the remainder of this thesis. In this chapter, the mechanism of reverse bias leakage is studied, resulting in a new model of leakage occurring through impurity band conduction in dislocation cores.

The devices in this section were grown by the Institute of Materials and Systems for Sustainability at Nagoya University. The author performed the measurements and developed the model to explain the data. The transient results and the model of impurity band conduction have been published in the AIP journal Applied Physics Letters [186]. Significant content has been reproduced from this publication. The flow of the research in this chapter is presented in Figure 6.1.



Figure 6.1: The flow of the research in this chapter.

6.1 Introduction

To meet the growing demand for efficient, high voltage and high power density switching systems, diodes with low on-resistance and simultaneous high breakdown voltage are required. GaN is an ideal material to meet this demand due to its high electron mobility and high breakdown field and outperforms its Si and SiC equivalents [53, 71, 72]. However, to scale up the breakdown voltage of lateral GaN-on-Si devices, the device area must be increased dramatically. This means a loss of yield which drives up the cost of production [33, 187]. Instead, vertical device geometries permit an increase in the breakdown voltage by increasing the epitaxial thickness rather than the area, and the device footprint can be even further reduced by contacting on the top and bottom of the wafer. In addition, as the forward biased current flows through the bulk material rather than a 2DEG, the device is heated over a larger volume resulting in lower peak temperatures [33]. Low cost vertical GaN-on-Si diodes have already been developed with some success but there are two main issues with this technology. Firstly, the devices exhibit reverse leakage currents much higher than would be possible with bulk GaN due to the high dislocation density [28, 139]. Moreover, the large lattice mismatch in these epitaxies limits the thickness of the drift region to 1.5 μ m which severely limits the breakdown voltage [70]. The solution to both of these issues is homoepitaxial growth on bulk GaN substrates. Until recently, the development of GaN-on-GaN devices was limited by the availability of low cost bulk GaN substrates. However, high interest in this field has rapidly driven progress in the growth of affordable bulk GaN. Low dislocation density substrates are now readily available in 2" wafers [71] and even 4" and 6" wafers in small volumes [19], grown by hydride vapour phase epitaxy or ammonothermally as detailed in Section 2.3.2.

Dislocation density is a critical parameter in vertical GaN-on-GaN diodes as it puts a limit on the reverse leakage. Recent work has combined leakage measurements with electron microscopy techniques to identify the location of the vertical leakage. As described in section 2.4.5, analysis of the leaky dislocations indicated that pure screw dislocations with a Burgers vector of 1c are responsible for leakage in GaN-on-GaN pn diodes [105]. The dislocation density of free standing bulk GaN wafers is typically in the order of 10^6 cm⁻². This is much lower than GaN grown on foreign substrates such as GaN-on-Si where dislocation density is typically in the order of 10^9 cm⁻². This huge reduction in the dislocation density is the reason bulk GaN diodes can have much lower reverse leakage currents compared to GaN-on-Si devices [34, 139]. There has been extensive study of reverse leakage in Si doped GaN and many reports identifying the reverse current-voltage characteristics are consistent with variable range hopping [101, 106]. Since the leakage has already been correlated with the dislocation density, the logical conclusion is that the hopping current occurs along the length of the dislocation core [107, 108, 139].

In this chapter, the reverse bias leakage and capacitance are studied in the time domain. These transient measurements identify previously unreported leakage characteristics which are explained here by a model involving impurity band conduction. It is suggested that conduction along the dislocation core is modulated by the charge state of surrounding point defect clusters. Although previously speculated [156, 157], this work represents the first direct observation of impurity band conduction along dislocations in GaN.

6.2 Device details

The vertical GaN-on-GaN pn diodes are shown in Figure 6.2(a) and were grown on an hydride vapour phase epitaxy bulk GaN substrate. The junction layers were grown by metal-organic chemical vapour deposition using Si as an n-type dopant and Mg as the p-type dopant. Starting with an n⁺ interface layer on the substrate, an n⁻ drift layer of 5 μ m was grown with a doping density of 3 × 10¹⁶ cm⁻³. This was followed by p-GaN with a doping density of 4 × 10¹⁹ cm⁻³ for 0.5 μ m. Finally, this was capped by a thin p⁺⁺ layer of 8 × 10¹⁹ cm⁻³ as part of an optimised contacting recipe for Ohmic contacts to p-GaN.

As explained in section 2.5.2.1, the edge termination of the diode is critical as high surface fields can limit the reliability of the device and ultimately set the hard breakdown voltage. These devices were fabricated with a bevelled edge to reduce the surface electric field. The processing steps used to fabricate the bevelled edge are outlined in Figure 6.2(b). First a layer of photo-resist was deposited on the p-GaN. During exposure, the photomask was not in contact with the surface and instead, an intentional ~ 20 μ m gap was present. This meant the exposure was not sharply defined causing the edge of the hardened photo-resist to be tapered. The result, after inductively coupled plasma etching, was a mesa structure with a slanted edge of 7-10°. The surface of the device was left unpassivated and Ohmic contacts were processed on the n- and p-GaN using Ti/Al and Ni/Au respectively. This optimised contact recipe was originally developed for LED fabricated with diameters between 126 μ m and 565 μ m. The dislocation density of the substrate was stated by the manufacturer to be in the order of 10⁶ cm⁻². This translates to an average distance between dislocations of 10 μ m with around ~ 1000 dislocations in the largest device area of 0.25 mm², of which as little as a few percent may be electrically active [105].

6.3 Device Characteristics

6.3.1 Current-Voltage

To build up a picture of the device behaviour, an initial characterisation was performed. This began with the measurement of the reverse and forward current-voltage characteristics of which typical results are shown in Figure 6.3. The forward bias current-voltage characteristics in Figure 6.3(b) can be modelled by the Shockley equation (equation 2.4). The measurement was repeated over a range of temperatures with an obvious negative shift in the current-voltage characteristics with increasing temperature as expected from section 2.4.2. Assuming the exponential term in



Figure 6.2: (a) A cross-section of the device layer structure. (b) The fabrication process to achieve a bevelled edge termination.



Figure 6.3: The reverse (a) and forward (b) current-voltage characteristics of the pn diodes. The reverse leakage ranged from 0.4 pA to 3pA at 200 V with an exponential dependence on voltage. The forward current-voltage characteristics of the largest diode are shown over a range of temperatures. The diode turns on at lower voltages as the temperature increases and has a peak ideality of 1.4 in forward bias (inset to (b)).

the Shockley equation is much greater than 1, equation 2.4 can be rearranged into the form

$$n \simeq \frac{q}{k_b T} \frac{V}{ln(I/I_0)} \tag{6.1}$$

This shows it is possible to determine the ideality from the gradient of the current-voltage characteristics on a log-linear plot. From this equation, the ideality is shown inset to Figure 6.3(b). The lowest ideality is approximately 1.4 before diverging as the series resistance becomes significant and limits the current. There is only a negligible change in the peak ideality with temperature, indicating the absence of thermally activated defects in the junction.

The reverse bias leakage current is shown for the five device sizes in Figure 6.3(a). The current-voltage characteristics were measured at a very slow ramp rate of 86 mVs⁻¹ so that any displacement current was small and did not completely obscure the leakage current. The measured current appears to increase with size but not in any predictable way that obviously scales with area or periphery. The reverse currents at 200 V were ~ 0.4 pA and ~ 3 pA for the smallest and largest devices respectively. The approximately linear shape on this log-linear plot indicates an exponential dependence on electric field, characteristic of a hopping current (see Section 2.4.5).

6.3.2 Capacitance-Voltage

Capacitance voltage measurements were performed as described in section 3.2.2 to identify the behaviour of the depletion region with reverse bias. The results shown in Figure 6.4(a) are the only measurements from which all the analysis in this section is derived. When increasing the reverse bias from 0 V to 100 V, the capacitance of the largest device decreased from 30.9 pF to 7.8 pF. The size of the depletion width can be estimated using the depletion approximation and equation 2.13. The calculated depletion width of the four devices is shown in Figure 6.4(b). For the largest diode, the capacitances at 0 V and 100 V correspond to the depletion width increasing from 0.6 μ m to 2.5 μ m.

As explained in section 2.4.4, by re-plotting the data in Figure 6.4 as $1/C^2$, more information about the junction can be learned. This has been done in Figure 6.5(a). The overlaid dashed lines are the result of applying a moving average filter. This is a simple low pass filter to remove high frequency noise. The filter generates a smoothed curve one point at a time by evaluating the average value in a small window (5 points wide in this case) before moving the window by one point and generating the next point in the smoothed curve. Once the smoothed curve has been generated, this process can be repeated on the smoothed curve for further smoothing and was repeated 100 times here. Linear extrapolation of the curves to zero indicate a built-in junction potential of 3.7 V. The doping density can also be evaluated from this analysis. The derivative of equation 2.18 can be re-arranged into an expression for the doping density as

$$N_D = \frac{-2}{qA^2 \epsilon d(1/C^2)/dV}$$
(6.2)



Figure 6.4: (a) Capacitance-voltage measurements on the four largest diodes with the diameters shown in the legend. The capacitance of the smallest diode was below the noise floor. (b) The calculated depletion width based on the measured capacitance, the diode area and the vertical permittivity of GaN which is 10.4 ϵ_0 . The dashed lines are the theoretical predicted profiles of an ideal diode with the same properties.



Figure 6.5: The data from Figure 6.4(a) is re-plotted in (a) as $1/C^2$. The data was smoothed with a moving average filter (dashed lines). Inset, the data near zero was extrapolated to find the built-in potential of the junction of 3.7 V. The dopant density was evaluated using equation 6.2 with the smoothed curves in (a). This is shown as a function of (b) voltage and (c) depth from the W(V) curve in Figure 6.4(b).



Figure 6.6: Reverse current-voltage measurements were repeated at various ramp rates on a 565 μ m diameter device. The reverse current-voltage characteristics are shown in (a) and the current at 20 V reverse bias is shown as a function of ramp rate in (b).

A plot of this equation is shown in Figure 6.5(b). This value of the doping density is a local measurement at the edge of the depletion region which is why it may change with voltage as the depletion edge moves through the material. In conjunction with equation 2.13, the voltage can be expressed as the depth of the depletion edge. This allows the dopant density to be expressed as a function of depth into the n-GaN in Figure 6.5(c).

These measurements indicate an average doping density of about 1.8×10^{16} cm⁻³. This is lower than the nominal density of 3×10^{16} cm⁻³, however, these figures are fairly close considering the difficulty in controlling dopants at such low levels. Using the built-in junction potential and doping density it is possible to recreate the shape of the ideal diode CV profile from theory. This is shown overlaid to the measurement data in Figure 6.4 as dashed lines and models the data fairly well.

6.4 Transient behaviour

The current measured in the current-voltage curves was found to be strongly dependent on ramp rate, as shown in Figure 6.6. This was due to the fact that the reverse leakage current of the diodes was so low, that the displacement current was comparatively large and so made up a major contribution of the measurement at ramp rates above 0.1 Vs^{-1} . To identify the leakage current only, transient measurements were carried out such that after the displacement current spike (from the large dV/dt of applying the bias) had decayed, the current measured would be only



Figure 6.7: A schematic of where the devices are illuminated during the stress and the two possible outcomes of the measurement. (a) The transients are surface related: edge illumination causes an increased current or (b) the transients are not surface related and illumination of the bulk and the edge has the same effect.

the reverse leakage current at a fixed voltage. This is the same principle that was applied to the vertical leakage structures on the HEMT epitaxy in Chapter 5. These measurements yielded surprising transient results and are the subject of the remainder of this chapter.

6.4.1 Experimental details

Diodes with an area of 0.25 mm² were subjected to current and capacitance transient measurements. In both cases the devices were measured in a reverse bias stress for 1000 seconds then for another 1000 seconds with 0 V across the device. This was repeated sequentially with increasing reverse bias stress voltages between 20 V and 100 V. Immediate repeats of this measurement gave the same results showing that there were no long term effects such as charging or degradation. Following the current transient measurements, the same sequence of stress and recovery conditions were repeated to measure the capacitance transient behaviour. The current transients were measured with a Keithley 4156A and the capacitance transients with a Keithley 4200 with a high voltage capacitance measurement unit.

To investigate the possibility that any transient features were the result of surface effects, the transients during reverse bias stress were carried out under illumination with a broadband sub-bandgap light source. If a surface hopping current was present at the edge of the device, illumination of the surface would lower the barrier to hopping and increase the surface leakage. This was compared to a measurement where a part of the junction in the bulk was illuminated through a hole in the contact so that surface hopping could be distinguished from a photo-current. As shown in Figure 6.7(a), if a surface leakage were present, illumination on the surface would increase the current but there would be no change when illuminating the bulk. Conversely, in Figure 6.7(b), if illumination of the bulk and edge gave rise to the same increase in current this would indicate the photo-generation of carriers was causing a photo-current and that any leakage present was not due to the surface but a bulk process such as dislocation leakage.



Figure 6.8: Transients of (a) capacitance and (b) current during reverse bias stress at the indicated bias. The current transients showed a peak which occurred earlier in time at higher stress voltages. The displacement current derived from the derivative of the capacitance transients in (a) are shown as dashed lines in (b) and agree fairly well with the measured currents early on and at low stress voltages. Capacitance and current transients are shown after the indicated stress in (c) and (d) respectively. All devices recovered to the same static capacitance of ~ 30.9 pF after 10^3 seconds. Evolution over a similar time scale was measured for the recovery current transients.

6.4.2 Results

The capacitance and current transients during stress and recovery are presented in Figure 6.8. The transients during stress in Figures 6.8(a) and 6.8(b) evolved over time scales of $> 10^3$ s with the current showing a peak, occurring at a time which was dependent on the magnitude of the stress voltage. This was accompanied by a subtle plateau in the capacitance transient occurring at about the same time. The results during the recovery phase of the measurement are shown in Figures 6.8(c) and 6.8(d). The capacitance transients show the devices recovering to the unbiased capacitance of ~ 30.9 pF over ~ 10^3 s and a current transient, despite no applied bias, on similar time scales. The sign of the recovery current was opposite to the current transient during the stress.

The prominence of the current peaks in the stress transient varied from device to device. The results shown here were the most distinct. The temperature dependence of the transients was investigated over a range of 30° C – 120° C, shown in Figure 6.9. Interestingly, there is no obvious dependence indicating this is not an activated process.

The results of the illumination measurements testing for surface leakage are shown in Figure 6.10. An increase in the transient current was observed when the device was illuminated both



Figure 6.9: The transient during reverse bias stress at 20 V and 100 V at various temperatures. The time constants appear to be independent of temperature.



Figure 6.10: (a) Current transients at a reverse bias of 10 V in the dark and under illumination. The current levels were normalised in (d) by the illuminated active areas shown with a yellow border in (b) and (c). After normalisation, there was no difference in the illuminated transients.

through the hole and on the device edge compared to in the dark. The illuminated active areas are shown in Figures 6.10(b) and 6.10(c) circled in yellow and differ in size. When normalising the current transient levels by the area of the illuminated junction, these transients overlap and are very similar. This suggests that the increase in transient current seen when illuminating the junction is due to a photo-current as carriers are photo-excited in the illuminated depletion region. If the increased current were due to a surface leakage, illumination of the bulk junction through the hole in the contact should have had no effect on the magnitude of the current transient. Therefore, these results show no evidence to support the presence of a surface leakage current.

6.4.3 Impurity band conduction model

The peak in the current transients during stress is particularly intriguing since there is no existing model that can explain this behaviour. Transient peaks in reverse biased diodes have been reported before by Rosencher et al. [188]. However, that was in conjunction with a shrinking depletion region, causing the electric field to increased over time. Field assisted emission processes such as the Poole-Frenkel effect mean this causes an increase in the emission rate and the result is an increase in the transient current. When all of the traps have discharged, the transient drops and the overall shape is similar to that observed here. However, the capacitance transients in Figure 6.8(a) were decreasing over time meaning the depletion region was expanding and the electric field decreasing. Therefore, the model presented by Rosencher et al. cannot explain these measurements. Additionally, models involving multiple trap time constants cannot be used since this would cause a peak in the gradient of the transient but not a peak in the current. Surface leakage is not responsible after this was tested for and no evidence was found to suggest that the dark leakage was a surface phenomenon. Therefore, these results require a new model to account for this behaviour.

Capacitance transients are due to a changing depletion width which in turn are caused by a change in the trapped charge density. From the rate of change of the capacitance, the displacement current can be evaluated using $I_{disp} = V \frac{dC}{dt}$. This can be applied to the data in Figure 6.8(a) which is displayed as difference from the initial capacitance, because the subtraction of a constant does not affect the gradient. This is shown in Figure 6.8(b) as dashed lines and compared with the measured current transients. The measured current appears to follow the displacement current at short time scales, particularly visible in the 40 V and 20 V transients. However, starting at a time depending on the stress voltage, an additional current source is clearly visible above the displacement current which reaches a peak and then drops. If this charge flow were originating from the depletion region the capacitance would change and would be accounted for in the displacement current. Therefore the charge must be flowing all the way through the depletion region and must be a leakage current which turns on after a few seconds.

Considering the decreasing capacitance, it appears the depletion region is expanding. It is not possible to tell whether the expansion is occurring in the n or p side of the junction but in either



Figure 6.11: A sketch of the band structure of a pn diode (a) with no applied bias and (b) in reverse bias. The shallow Si donors are shown along with deep donors. In a region near the junction (shaded grey) some deep donors are neutralised in reverse bias. Below, the capacitances between the trapping region from the quasi-neutral regions are shown in blue.

case it means, under stress, the space-charge much be decreasing. This can occur in the n-GaN by a reduction of positive charge in the depletion region and in the p-GaN by a reduction of negative charge. Considering the n-GaN (and the equivalent is true for the p-GaN), a reduction of positive charge can occur with the neutralisation of donors or the ionisation of acceptors. During a reverse bias stress, there is limited opportunity for this to happen, however, one possibility is shown in Figure 6.11 where deep donors can be neutralised in reverse bias in a small region near the junction. A similar diagram can be constructed with a deep acceptor level to produce the same result of decreasing net charge in the n-GaN.

A model to explain the current transient peak was constructed based on two previously published observations; Firstly, dislocations in n-GaN are negatively charged by as much as 2.5 V [189–191] and in p-GaN are positively charged [189, 192]. This has been directly measured using electron holography and is potentially related to Ga vacancies in the dislocation core, however this remains a subject of debate. Based on this core charge, in the n-GaN, the band structure will be bent upwards around the dislocation and can be treated loosely as having a p-type dislocation core. The opposite is true for dislocations in p-GaN. Secondly, point defects have been observed to diffuse through GaN during growth, and cluster around dislocations [193]. Assuming the p-type dislocation core is in electrical contact with the p-GaN, when the junction is in reverse bias, the dislocation will be in reverse bias with the surrounding n-GaN. The defect clusters around the dislocation will be in this depletion region and can change state, causing the displacement current.

As these clusters around the dislocation change their charge state, the conductivity of the core can be modulated by the field effect, much like gating a transistor channel. As the clusters change state, their charge will influence the Fermi level. Considering a leakage current along the dislocation core by variable range hopping [194, 195], the hopping probability depends on the density of states at the Fermi level [196, 197]. Therefore, movement of the Fermi level through an energy range with a higher density of states can increase the dislocation core conductivity. The peak conductivity is achieved when the Fermi level is in the middle of the impurity band and the density of states (DOS) is at a maximum [198].

Therefore it is suggested that the decreasing capacitance transients and the displacement current component of the current transients are a result of the discharging of deep defect states which are clustered around the dislocations. The observed peak in leakage current is attributed to a peak in conductivity along the dislocations as the Fermi level moves through an impurity band. It is assumed that the leakage current is limited by the conduction along the dislocations and that current flow between the dislocation core and the highly doped regions is lower resistance, possibly making a tunnel junction.

Figure 6.12 shows how defect clusters around dislocations can move the Fermi level in the dislocation core. In this example of deep donor states in n-GaN, the band diagram through the dislocation core is depicted from the dashed cut line in Figure 6.12(a). Figure 6.12(b) shows the equilibrium band structure where the shallow donors are not included for clarity. When stepped into reverse bias in Figure 6.12(c), the deep donor states in the shaded trapping region will neutralise, likely by tunnelling to the dislocation core. This is a temperature independent process and would explain why the transients are temperature independent. As the surrounding clusters discharge, they cause a displacement current and the depletion region must expand to maintain the same total charge. Additionally, the Fermi level in the core will drop which, assuming the presence of an impurity band, will temporarily increase the dislocation conductivity. The current transients resulting from this model are shown in Figure 6.13 and result in the same shape as the observed transients in Figure 6.8(b).

In line with this model, during recovery, the Fermi level would pass back through the impurity band as the clusters return to their original charge states. However, no peak was observed in the recovery transients in Figure 6.8(d). This is expected since despite a modulation of the dislocation conductivity, no field is applied across the diode and so no leakage current flows. Therefore, the measured current transients in recovery are proposed to be only displacement current. A comparison cannot be made between the measured recovery current transient and the expected displacement current like in Figure 6.8(b) because the potential distribution through the junction, needed for the calculation, is not known and cannot be measured.

One possible reason why these transient features have not been seen before could be due to the much higher dislocation densities in other devices. In these devices, the low dislocation density means there may be just a few dislocations per device, allowing the study of the transient



Figure 6.12: Band diagrams through a dislocation with the cut-line position indicated in (a) are shown at equilibrium (b) and in while evolving in reverse bias in (c). For clarity, the shallow donors are not shown. The proposed impurity band (IB) is represented by the blue shaded region.



Figure 6.13: A sketch of a current transient decomposed into two components; displacement and leakage. Energy vs. density of states diagrams at progressively later times show how a monotonic movement of the Fermi level can give rise to a peak in the leakage current.

behaviour of just a few dislocations. The (dis)charging of the clusters by a tunnelling mechanism to the dislocation core means that the (dis)charging time constants will depend on the cluster-core separation. Random variation in this distance will introduce variation in the time at which the peak conductivity along the dislocation occurs. As the measured current is the sum of all of the dislocation currents, the greater the number of dislocation, the less defined the peak will be. Therefore, the same modulated impurity band conduction may occur in devices with higher dislocation densities, but the greater number of dislocations per device could mean the peak in the current is not visible.

6.4.4 Image Charges

As discussed earlier, the capacitance transients are caused by a change in the trapped charge density. During stress, the amount of charge moving out of the depletion region and causing the capacitance transient can be calculated by $Q = V \times \Delta C$. Curiously, the charge causing each of the transients in Figure 6.8(a) was approximately constant at $(3.8 \pm 0.4) \times 10^{10}$ cm⁻². The same analysis cannot be applied to the capacitance transients during recovery, since the voltage distribution in the junction is not known. However, the recovery charge can be determined from the current transient. Since the potential across the device is 0 V, there will be no leakage current and the current transient can be integrated to find the charge causing the transient. Once again, the charge in each transient was approximately constant. Although this time the charge was ~ 5 times larger at $(2.31 \pm 0.04) \times 10^{11}$ cm⁻².

In the model discussed in the previous section, clusters of point defects around the dislocation charge and discharge. The capacitance transients and recovery current transients are assumed to be a direct result of the (dis)charging of these clusters. Therefore, the amount of charge moving into the clusters during stress should be exactly equal to the amount of charge moving out during recovery - especially since repeat measurements yield the same result so there is no long term charging. This apparent disparity is resolved by the consideration of image charges.

Reconsidering Figure 6.11 as the pn junction between the dislocation core and the n-GaN, the depletion region around the dislocation expands when the device is in reverse bias. This has the effect of reducing the total capacitance of this depletion region. For a given cluster, the distance between the dislocation core and the cluster will be constant, with a constant capacitance C_1 . However, as the junction is reverse biased, the distance between the cluster and the n depletion edge increases as the depletion region extends. This means the unbiased capacitance between the cluster and the depletion edge, C_2 , decreases to C'_2 in reverse bias as the depletion width is larger.

Continuing with the impurity band conduction model set out in section 6.4.3 the effect of this capacitance change is explained with reference to the locations designated by circled letters in Figure 6.11(b). When evolving towards equilibrium after stepping into reverse bias stress conditions, negative charge of magnitude Q moves from the dislocation core (A) to the trapping

region (B). To maintain net neutrality, an image charge flows around the external circuit from (C) to (A). It is the image charge flow around the external circuit that is measured and the magnitude of this charge, Q_{stress} , depends on the capacitances C_1 and C'_2 as

$$Q_{\text{stress}} = \frac{QC_2'}{C_1 + C_2'} \tag{6.3}$$

When recovering from the stress the band structure looks more like Figure 6.11(a), with a small depletion region, and the same charge movement occurs in reverse; negative charge moves from the trapping region (B) to the dislocation core (A). However, this time the capacitances are different and the image charge that is measured flowing around the external circuit is

$$Q_{\text{recovery}} = \frac{QC_2}{C_1 + C_2} \tag{6.4}$$

These expressions show that a different charge flow around the external circuit can occur in the two stress conditions, despite the same charge, Q, moving the same distance in the device in both cases. The measured charge in the transients depends on the size of the depletion region. Therefore, a difference in the total charge in the transients between stress and recovery is expected. The factor of 5 difference measured here can be used along with a guess of the depletion region size to approximate Q (the real magnitude of cluster charging) and to find approximate values for the capacitances in Figure 6.11.

It has already been assumed in this model that the clusters are around the dislocations. This means that in reverse bias, C_1 remains high while C'_2 becomes small. At a high reverse bias stress voltage $C'_2 << C_1$ and Q_{stress} can be simplified to

$$Q_{\text{stress}} \simeq \frac{QC_2'}{C_1} \tag{6.5}$$

The image charge equations and the measured difference in transient charge are shown in Table 6.1 along with measurements of the static capacitance in reverse bias and unbiased. These five equations can be solved simultaneously to give an indication of the kinds of numbers which are associated with the unknowns. The solution to these equations is presented in the final column of Table 6.1. The high capacitance C_1 is indicative of the proximity of the trapping region to the dislocations. The magnitude of the charge density being trapped it also very reasonable since its magnitude is much lower than the density of impurities in the crystal. This result not only accounts for the large (apparently inconsistent) difference in measured charge during the stress and recovery transients but also demonstrates how a small change in charge density of just 10^{12} cm⁻² is sufficient to modulate the bulk leakage by orders of magnitude.

6.5 Conclusion

GaN-on-GaN vertical pn diodes with very low reverse leakage currents have been studied. The low dislocation density allowed study of the transient behaviour of a few dislocations which showed a

Table 6.1: The image charge equations and measurement results are shown in the first two columns. These can be combined and solved simultaneously to produce the solution in the final column.

Image charges	Measurements	Simultaneous solution
$Q_{\text{stress}} \simeq rac{QC_2'}{C_1}$	$Q_{ m recovery} = 5 * Q_{ m stress}$	$C_1 \sim 186 \ \mathrm{pF}$
$Q_{\text{recovery}} = \frac{QC_2}{C_1 + C_2}$	$\frac{1}{C_1} + \frac{1}{C_2} = \frac{1}{6 \text{ pF}}$	$C_2\sim 37.2~\mathrm{pF}$
	$\frac{1}{C_1} + \frac{1^2}{C_2} = \frac{1}{30.9 \text{ pF}}$	$C_2^\prime \sim 6.2~{ m pF}$
		$Q\sim 1.2 imes 10^{12}~{ m cm}^{-2}$

time dependent behaviour with previously unseen features. The model constructed to explain this data required the presence of an impurity band in the dislocations. If correct, this constitutes the first observation of impurity band conduction along dislocations in GaN. The model presents a mechanism whereby the Fermi level is driven through an impurity band in the dislocation core by the discharging of surrounding clusters which diffuse towards the dislocation during growth. The order of magnitude of the charge involved in the trapping/de-trapping processes was estimated by analysing the total charge in the transients and considering the method of images. These results and their analysis demonstrate the extent to which charged defects can affect dislocation leakage. The efficiency of power diodes is strongly dependent on the magnitude of the off-state leakage. Therefore, a full understanding of the off-state leakage mechanisms is critical for the development and optimisation of GaN-on-GaN vertical power diodes.

CHAPTER

THE MEAN TIME TO FAILURE OF GAN-ON-GAN PN DIODES

Description of the previous chapter. An analysis method not previously applied in this field is used to extract the first estimations of the mean time to failure (MTTF) of this technology.

The devices were grown by the Institute of Materials and Systems for Sustainability at Nagoya University who also performed the electric field simulations. The measurements and the analysis were performed here. These results have been published in the Elsevier journal Microelectronics Reliability [199]. Significant content has been reproduced from this publication.

7.1 Introduction

As discussed in the previous chapter, vertical GaN-on-GaN pn diodes can outperform Si and SiC equivalents and operate at higher voltages with lower leakage currents than GaN-on-Si devices. An additional advantage of vertical devices is the ability to manage surface fields using edge termination techniques. In this way, peak electric fields can be moved into the bulk, away from the surface, and so the breakdown field of the device can begin to approach the bulk material limits [200].

Lateral GaN technology is maturing to the extent that devices are now being used in power switching systems. This level of maturity requires rigorous qualification to prove the devices are reliable and will not fail before a reasonable lifetime. Vertical GaN technology is not yet at the maturity level of lateral GaN devices and so there are only a few in-depth reliability studies [201–204]. However as yet, there have been no estimations of the device lifetimes. In Si, failure by breakdown under high electric fields is attributed to the field induced generation of point defects. After the generation of a sufficient density of point defects, a percolation path can be formed which causes elevated leakage and ultimately, device failure. Lateral GaN HEMTs have been shown to follow similar failure distributions indicating that the failure of these devices can be described by the same model. This chapter aims to identify the failure mechanism for the vertical GaN-on-GaN pn diodes in Chapter 6 and to provide the first estimates of the mean time to failure of these vertical devices.

An accelerated lifetime test is applied using a step stress technique. This method was chosen over the more conventional time dependant dielectric breakdown (TDDB) technique as it ensures a bounded time to failure, reducing the total measurement time. The data are analysed using Weibull statistics which have been adapted to apply to step stress measurements. The results indicated that the mean time to failure depends only on the length of the device periphery, consistent with the formation of a surface percolation path. Through this analysis, a 126 μ m diameter device is predicted to have a mean time to failure of 10 years under a constant reverse bias stress of 260 V.

7.2 Experimental details

The full growth and processing details of these devices were presented in section 6.2. One point to stress is that these devices are unpassivated. In this aspect, the fabrication will differ from commercial devices, when they are produced, as passivation increases the breakdown voltage. Three of the device sizes were selected for this study with diameters 126, 276 and 451 μ m designated small, medium and large respectively. The devices were subject to a gradually increasing reverse stress which, starting from 0 V, was stepped up by 5 V every 60 s. As opposed to a time dependant dielectric breakdown measurement where the device is biased at a constant voltage until failure, this step stress technique is always increasing the reverse bias stress. This means that device failure will occur within a reasonable time window rather than in an unbounded time frame. Twelve of each device size were subjected to these measurements in order to generate three failure distributions. The criterion for failure was a reverse leakage current of 10 mA, corresponding to 6 – 80 Acm⁻². The failure criterion was selected by experimentally measuring the typical leakage current before hard failure on a few devices as ~ 1 mA and increasing it by an order of magnitude. The bias was applied using a Keithley 4200-PA pre-amplifier.



Figure 7.1: Step stress failure measurements on the small and large devices are shown in (b) and (d) respectively. The failure time is indicated with a circle when the current exceeded 10 mA. These failure times are binned in the histograms (a) and (c) with the Weibull step stress distribution fit and 95% confidence limits.

7.3 Results

The reverse leakage currents during the step stress measurements are shown in Figures 7.1(b) and 7.1(d) for the small and large devices respectively. The stress voltage over time is indicated on the right y-axis of these plots and the leakage current on the left y-axis. At low stress voltages, with the current below the pA level, current spikes at the edge of each voltage step are visible. While the leakage in this low current regime has been attributed to dislocation leakage [155], the spikes are caused by spikes in the displacement current ($C \cdot \frac{dV}{dt}$). As the current increases above this level, the leakage currents jump in steps both up and down before exceeding the failure criterion, at a time indicated by the circles. The small devices began to fail after ~ 2800 s at voltages greater than 230 V. This was later than the larger devices where failure began after ~ 2200 s corresponding to voltages greater than 185 V. The failure times of the small and large devices were binned in the histograms in Figures 7.1(a) and 7.1(c) respectively. The small devices demonstrated the ability to last the longest but also exhibited a broader distribution of failure times. Optical inspection of the devices after the measurement revealed a surface failure mechanism was responsible. Every device exhibited evidence of surface breakdown like that shown in Figure 7.2. In this optical image, dendritic structures are visible, extending from the bevelled junction towards the contact on the p-GaN.



Figure 7.2: Photograph of the surface failure experienced by the devices. The dendritic structures originate from the pn junction on the bevel surface and extend towards the contact.

7.4 Analysis

The analysis of conventional time dependant dielectric breakdown measurements and estimations of device lifetimes are often achieved using Weibull statistics. In that analysis, the distribution of device failure times under constant voltage stress conditions can often be fit by the Weibull distribution of the form

$$F(t;V_i) = 1 - \exp\left\{-\left(\frac{s}{s_0}\right) \left(t \left[\frac{V_i}{V_0}\right]^p\right)^\beta\right\}$$
(7.1)

where V_0 , p and β are fitting parameters, V_i is the constant stress voltage and t is the time into the stress [205]. The factor s/s_0 is a scaling factor for the distribution which permits the comparison of distribution parameters between different device sizes [178]. The necessity of this distribution rescaling can be understood by considering that any device can be treated as many statistically independent units. A large device will be composed of more units and since failure of any one unit results in the failure of the entire device, larger devices will be more prone to failure. For devices with a failure mechanism related to the bulk material, the unit would be a unit of area. Therefore, the factor s/s_0 would be an area normalisation term (like in [178]). However, as seen in Figure 7.2, the failure of these devices occurs on the periphery and so the failure distributions here must be normalised by the length of the device periphery. In the following analysis, s represents the diameter of the device and s_0 , the diameter of the large device.

Equation 7.1 is a cumulative distribution function (CDF) such that the value of $F(t;V_i)$ indicates the fraction of the population that will have already failed by time *t* during the constant voltage stress V_i . However, since the stress voltage was not constant during these step stress measurements, this conventional analysis cannot be directly applied. The adaptation of this Weibull analysis to step stress measurements was shown in the setting of cable dielectrics by Nelson in 1980 [205] and has not previously been applied to GaN devices. The basis of this analysis method is as follows; A suitable form for a step stress Weibull distribution can be



Figure 7.3: Construction of the step stress Weibull distribution with parameters $(V_0, p, \beta) = (1000, 4, 1)$ with a 30 V step every 200 s. The vertical dashed lines show the time of a step and the horizontal dashed lines show the fraction failed at that time. When the voltage steps, the step stress distribution (thick, red curve) is continued by moving laterally onto the next constant stress distribution at the same failure fraction.

constructed by using the constant stress Weibull distributions in equation 7.1 for every voltage step. This is shown instructively in Figure 7.3, for a given set of parameters (V_0, p, β) . The step stress Weibull distribution is initially described by equation 7.1 where V_i now corresponds to the voltage of the i^{th} step. Starting from t = 0, the step stress distribution follows the constant stress distribution of the first step voltage, $F(t;V_1)$. As the voltage steps up, the step stress distribution instead follows the constant stress distribution of the new voltage, $F(t;V_2)$. However, since the device has already experienced some cumulative stress from the previous step, the distribution is not started from t = 0. The value of F corresponds to the fraction failed and is a good measure of the total cumulative stress experienced by the device. Therefore, the step stress distribution is continued by moving along $F(t;V_2)$ starting from the same fraction failed that was reached by $F(t;V_1)$.

The step stress Weibull distribution can be calculated for any parameter set (V_0, p, β) in this way. In order to apply this fit to the measured failure distributions, the measurement results in Figure 7.1 were integrated into cumulative failure distributions, shown in Figure 7.4. The fitting was achieved using a least squares algorithm and the 95% confidence intervals were evaluated by varying one parameter at a time, after the fit. The result of the fitting to the small and large device distributions is shown in Figure 7.4 and fit parameters of all three distributions are shown in Table 7.1 with the 95% confidence limit in brackets. By differentiating the fits in Figure 7.4


Figure 7.4: The failure time data in Figure 7.1 is integrated into cumulative failure distributions for (a) the small and (b) the large devices. These data are fit with the step stress Weibull distribution (solid line) and shown with the 95% confidence limits (dashed lines).

Table 7.1: Fit parameters of the three failure distributions with the inverse variance and the 95%
confidence intervals. The average value of each parameter, weighted by the inverse variance, is
included below. The values shown in this table are rounded but the exact values were used to
calculate the mean.

Device size	Fit parameters								
	V_0			р			β		
	Value	1/Var	95%	Value	1/Var	95%	Value	1/Var	95%
Small	327	3.1e-2	13	20.9	0.29	4.1	0.176	1.5e4	0.018
Medium	312	5.5e-2	9.3	28.7	0.15	5.8	0.151	8.1e3	0.025
Large	324	9.0e-2	7.3	31.7	0.33	3.9	0.190	2.5e3	0.045
Weighted mean		320.5			26.98			0.1695	

it is possible to recover the probability distributions which are shown with the histograms in Figures 7.1(a) and 7.1(c). The probability distributions in these figures were multiplied by a factor to scale them up to the same peak amplitude as the histogram bars, allowing an easier comparison of the distribution shape.

7.5 Discussion

Analysing the V_0 parameter from each of the three parameter sets in Table 7.1, it is clear that the 95% confidence intervals all overlap. This indicates that these parameters are not statistically significantly different and the same is true for each of the β parameters. The three p parameters show more variation with a difference between the largest and the smallest value of $\Delta p = 10.8$. Here the 95% confidence intervals do not overlap but this does not guarantee that the differences



Figure 7.5: All three measured failure distributions are shown as symbols. Overlaid are the step stress Weibull distribution curves, each with the same average parameter set and differing only by the periphery scaling factor. The distribution curves represent the measurement data well, indicating that all of the device sizes can be described by the same parameters.

are statistically significant. As each fit is independent, the variance of Δp , σ^2 , is the sum of the two p variances which is $\sigma^2 = 6.5$. The 95% confidence interval of the difference Δp is defined as $\Delta p \pm 1.96 \times \sigma^2$ or (-1.94, 23.54). The factor of 1.96 comes about as 95% of the area of a normal distribution is bound within 1.96 standard deviations of the mean. The inclusion of zero in the 95% confidence interval of Δp indicates that the difference between the two p parameters is not statistically significantly different from zero. Therefore all of the fit parameters, V_0 , p and β do not differ significantly between the three distributions. As such, the measured distributions can all be suitably represented by the step stress Weibull distribution generated using the average parameter set. This average parameter set is shown at the bottom of Table 7.1 and was calculated using the inverse of the variance as a weighting such that the larger the uncertainty, the lower the weight. The three measured failure distributions are shown in Figure 7.5 and are plotted with the averaged step stress distributions. Each of the distribution curves in this plot differ only by the periphery scaling factor and show a good agreement with all of the data sets.

Equation 7.1 can be rearranged into the form

$$\ln\left[-\ln(1-F(t))\right] = \ln\left(\frac{s}{s_0}\right) + \beta \ln(t) + p^{\beta} \ln\left(\frac{V_i(t)}{V_0}\right)$$
(7.2)

where here, F is being expressed solely as a function of time, since the stress voltage $V_i(t)$ is a function of time which increases monotonically. From this equation, the data in Figure 7.5 can be replotted on ln[-ln(1-CDF)] vs. log(time) axes to recover a linear plot. This is shown in Figure



Figure 7.6: (a) The data in Figure 7.5 is replotted on ln[-ln(1-CDF)] vs. log(time) axes to force a linear fit. In (b), the failure distributions are shifted by the periphery scaling term and all align well.

7.6(a). In equation 7.2, the first term is the constant distribution rescaling, while the second and third terms are both linear in log(time). In this form it is possible to scale the measurement data by subtracting the scaling factor of $\ln(s/s_0)$, effectively shifting the data vertically along the y-axis. This has been done in Figure 7.6(b) where the rescaled measurement data all overlay to a good degree. The data and fit of the large devices are unchanged in this rescaled plot since their rescaling term is zero. This alignment of the distributions reinforces that this rescaling method is appropriate and the agreement between all of the rescaled data with the fit adds to the confidence in the average Weibull parameter set.

The mean time to failure during a constant reverse bias stress can be evaluated from the Weibull parameters using the function

$$MTTF(V;s) = \left(\frac{V_0}{V}\right)^p \left(\frac{s_0}{s}\right)^{1/\beta} \Gamma\left(1 + \frac{1}{\beta}\right)$$
(7.3)

where Γ is the gamma function, $\Gamma(z) = \int_0^\infty x^{z-1} e^{-x} dx$. Apart from the fit parameters, this function depends only on the stress voltage and the device size. As all of the devices can be well represented by the same parameter set, this indicates that the mean time to failure of these devices is determined only by the device geometry. The mean time to failure is shown as a function of stress voltage for the three device sizes in Figure 7.7(a). A mean time to failure of 10 years in constant operation places a maximum operating voltage of 260 V on the small devices, reducing to 196 V for the large devices. Using the more rigorous metric of 1% failure, enforcing the same 10 year lifetime, reduces the operating voltage of the small device to just 75 V. This enormous difference comes about from the large variability in failure times and the consequently small β parameter. The value of $\beta < 1$ seen here is indicative that the failure rate decreases over time. This means



Figure 7.7: Lifetime estimations under constant stress using the average parameters set from the Weibull analysis. The mean time to failure and 1% failure times are shown in (a) indicating a mean time to failure of 10 years can be achieved on a small devices biased at 260 V. The periphery scaling factor is shown in (b) which emphasises the dependence of the mean time to failure on device size.

that the failure rate starts high and as a result, the Weibull failure distribution has a long tail at low voltages where a few percent are predicted to fail at short time scales. The dependence of the mean time to failure on device size is shown in Figure 7.7(b). This is the form of the periphery scaling factor in equation 7.3 and indicates that at any given voltage, the small device will have a mean time to failure 1000 times higher than the large device at the same voltage.

The fact that this failure data can be well represented by these statistics indicates that the failure follows the same distributions as Si and lateral GaN devices. By extension, the same failure model can be applied here in which a percolation path is constructed through the field induced generation of point defects. In order to investigate this further and establish why surface failure occurred rather than bulk failure, simulations of the devices were performed to extract the internal electric field distribution. The dopant densities used in the simulation were the nominal values of 4×10^{19} cm⁻³ and 3×10^{16} cm⁻³ in the p and n regions respectively as shown in Figure 6.2 and it was assumed that all the dopants were active. This may be an overestimation which would have the effect of increasing the field at the simulated junction but should not greatly affect the field distribution. The simulated reverse bias was increased until a peak electric field of 4 MVcm⁻¹ was attained. Figure 7.8 shows the field distribution around this peak which occurred at a reverse bias of 230 V. Although the peak field is in the bulk, it is very close to the surface at the base of the bevel. Since the point defect generation rate depends on the strength of the electric field, the probability of forming a percolation path in this high field region is much higher and explains the observed surface failure [206]. This failure mechanism also completely explains the dependence of the lifetime on the length of the periphery. If point defects are created randomly, the probability of forming a percolation path (and device failure) increases with the length of the



Figure 7.8: Simulations of the electric field in the device with a reverse bias of 230 V. The peak field of 4 $MVcm^{-1}$ occurs near the base of the bevel just away from the surface.

periphery where the field is high.

Of the small devices in Figure 7.1(b), two devices failed at voltages of 235 V and 465 V, with almost a factor a two difference between these extremal breakdown voltages. The surface breakdown mechanism depends strongly on the magnitude of the electric field which in turn depends strongly on the bevel topology (see section 2.5.2.1). To investigate the cause of such a large difference in failure conditions, the topology of these two extremal devices was investigated. Atomic force microscope height profiles are shown in Figure 7.9(a), very close to the location of the failures for each device. The angle of each point on the bevel to the horizontal is shown in Figure 7.9(b) and both of the devices show a peak angle of about $25-30^{\circ}$. This differs wildly from the nominal $7-10^{\circ}$ shown in Figure 6.2. The similarity of both of the device profiles indicates the factor of two difference in breakdown voltage may not have been caused by a difference in the electric field profile. One possible alternative cause of this difference in behaviour is a variation in surface conductivity. On these unpassivated devices, the surface is susceptible to reaction and exchange with the environment. Previous studies on GaN have shown that humidity can have a strong influence on the material properties [207]. Although the humidity in the laboratory was low and constantly regulated by air conditioning, the observed surface flashover could have be affected by variations in surface chemistry. This can be addressed in future studies by conducting the measurements with the devices submerged in a non-conductive fluid with a high breakdown field, for example, Flourinert[™] which has a breakdown field 5 times higher than air [117, 208]. Eventually, commercial devices would be fabricated with a surface passivation layer which would increase the breakdown field of the device surface [209]. As the device failure is currently limited



Figure 7.9: (a) Atomic force microscope height profiles, radially outwards, near the failure point of the first and last small devices to fail in Figure 7.1(b). The reverse bias at the time of failure is indicated. (b) The angle of the bevel to the horizontal is calculated from (a) and does not reveal any large differences between the two devices.

by surface failure, this would increase the device breakdown voltage and could possibly even shift the failure mechanism into the bulk material. As is, this surface failure indicates that the lifetime of these devices is currently limited by the device design or fabrication, and not by the material properties of the GaN. The noise measured in the leakage currents before failure resembled steps and is best seen in Figure 7.1(b). These apparently discrete current levels, which stepped both up and down with increasing time and voltage, are characteristic of telegraph noise [210, 211]. This is not uncommon in surface leakage currents which are sensitive to configuration changes at the surface such as those related to dangling bonds [212]. Therefore it is understood that the leakage current leading up to failure and the final breakdown mechanism are both surface related.

7.6 Conclusion

Step stress measurements have been applied to vertical GaN-on-GaN pn diodes in order to assess the reliability of the devices and identify a mean time to failure. An analysis technique not previously applied in this field was used to interpret the step stress data with Weibull statistics. The failure distributions of these vertical GaN devices were described well by a Weibull distribution, indicating the same failure model can be used with vertical GaN devices as it is for Si and lateral GaN devices. The failure mechanism was observed to be a surface related breakdown and consequently the failure rate was dependent on the length of the periphery. This indicated

that the lifetime of the devices was limited by the device design and not the material properties. This observation is important since it highlights the need to focus on design improvements over material quality issues. These results predict a mean time to failure of 10 years can be achieved with the small devices at an operating voltage of 260 V. However, a large variability was seen between devices leading to a very short 1% failure time. Benchmarking device performance is essential for commercialisation of these devices and this chapter outlines a new methodology to rapidly characterise the failure of future device generations.



CONCLUSIONS

The availability of highly efficient, GaN based, power electronic systems can revolutionise the power electronics industry. GaN technology looks promising to address the increasing demand for light weight and high power density power conversion systems. One source of this demand is from the automotive industry as is evolves toward the development of hybrid and electric vehicles. The reduced size and weight of GaN systems compared to Si equivalents, as well as the increased possible power densities can enable these and other emerging technologies. Despite the very promising physical properties of GaN, a number of technical challenges must be resolved before this technology can become ubiquitous. In lateral AlGaN/GaN HEMTs, these issues include the management of current collapse for efficient switching at high frequency and the optimisation of vertical breakdown fields to enable high voltage operation. In vertical GaN diodes, which are at an earlier stage of maturity, these challenges centre around minimising vertical leakage and maximising breakdown voltage through material optimisation and device design.

The work in this thesis used electrical studies and device simulations to characterise GaN-on-Si and GaN-on-GaN devices in order to identify methods and strategies to optimise the device performance. One of the research aims in this thesis was the optimisation of the vertical breakdown and vertical leakage in GaN-on-Si HEMT epitaxies. Optimisation if these characteristics is essential as they place a limit on the maximum device operating voltage and by extension, the maximum operating efficiency. Two studies were performed with a view to furthering the understanding of factors which limit vertical leakage and breakdown.

Firstly, this work focused on the material properties of carbon doped AlGaN and the evaluation of the previously unknown carbon self-compensation ratio. This parameter sets the epitaxial resistivity and so strongly influences the vertical breakdown and leakage. This was performed through

the use of substrate bias and lateral leakage measurements. These techniques were applied to two nominally identical samples differing only by the carbon doping in the Al_{0.08}Ga_{0.92}N back-barrier, above an AlN interlayer. The presence of a 2DHG was identified at the back-barrier/interlayer interface in the undoped sample but this hole gas was suppressed in the carbon doped sample. As only donors can suppress a 2DHG, this indicated that carbon must partially incorporate as donors as well as the more abundant acceptor trap. Through simulation of the device layers and interface charges, the minimum required donor density to neutralise the polarisation charge was determined. In conjunction with secondary-ion mass spectroscopy measurements of the total carbon density, this allowed the determination of the self-compensation ratio of carbon in $Al_{0.08}Ga_{0.92}N$ to be $0.4 < N_D/N_A < 1$. The upper constraint is unity since if the compensation ratio exceeded this value, carbon doped GaN would not be highly resistive. In carbon doped GaN and AlGaN, it is the compensation ratio which determines the material resistivity and therefore this parameter also impacts heavily on the vertical leakage and breakdown voltage. In addition, this ratio also determines the depletion behaviour under the gate in a HEMT in the off-state. Therefore, a good estimation of this previously unknown parameter is critical for accurate device simulation and device design. Already, the ratio presented here has been applied in multiple simulation works [213–215], highlighting the importance of this result to the GaN device community.

Continuing on the theme of vertical leakage and breakdown optimisation, the impact of device processing on the vertical resistivity of the wafer was investigated. It was identified that the presence of Ti/Al based contacts on the surface of an AlGaN/GaN HEMT epitaxy can have the effect of reducing the vertical breakdown voltage. This was found through measurements of vertical leakage and characterised by a novel application of the quasi-static capacitancevoltage technique. Bespoke structures were fabricated in order to study this effect, allowing the separation of vertical leakage in active areas with and without an Ohmic contact. Results indicated the region under the contact has a reduced resistivity and a higher capacitance. This is a significant result since the contact should have no effect on the properties of the bulk material below it. The capacitance data was used to infer that the resistivity of the effected region was reduced by at least a factor of 100 and extended $\sim 1.6 \ \mu m$ down from the surface. This extension accounted for half the thickness of the epitaxy and stopped at the top of the superlattice strain relief layers. Maximising the operating and breakdown voltage is essential for exploiting the full potential of GaN devices. Ti/Al based contacts such as these are standard for GaN-on-Si processes so identifying and understanding limitations such as these is a high priority. Through further study of this effect, it may be possible to reduce buffer leakage, increase breakdown voltage and even manage current collapse. The discovery of these preferential sub-contact leakage paths is a step forward in the understanding of these devices. The dissemination of this research will raise awareness of the existence of such features which are not widely considered. As these paths are required in some simulations to recover the measured device behaviour, the inclusion of these

paths in all future device simulations will enable improved simulation accuracy.

In many GaN power electronic circuit designs, high power diodes are required along with HEMTs. In order for these circuits to exploit the maximum efficiencies offered by GaN, these diodes must be capable of operating at the same high voltages as the HEMTs with matched, low off-state leakage. Vertical GaN diodes are most suited to this application over lateral devices since with thicker epitaxies they can operate at higher voltages, with improved thermal performance, and they have a low dislocation density leading to low reverse leakage. Targeting this application space, the reverse biased leakage of bulk GaN diodes was evaluated and characterised. In reverse bias, in the time domain, the devices exhibited previously unreported current and capacitance features which could not be explained by any existing models. The observed peak in leakage current after a few seconds of the stress was explained by a new model, attributing this behaviour to a peak in the conductivity of the dislocation cores. In this model, the cause of the change in conductivity was attributed to the Fermi level moving through a defect band, as surrounding defect clusters discharged. These data constitute the first direct evidence for impurity band conduction in dislocation cores which has only previously been speculated. Study of the image current identified that the three order of magnitude change in leakage current was caused by a discharging of only 10¹² cm⁻² carriers. This demonstrates the extent to which charged point defect clusters can affect dislocation leakage. The efficiency of power diodes hinges on the suppression of the off-state leakage thus a full understanding of these reverse leakage mechanisms is critical for the development of GaN-on-GaN vertical power diodes. The generation rate of point defects in GaN such as V_N and V_{Ga} depends on the growth temperature [172, 173, 216]. Therefore, based on this new model, it may be possible to reduce the conductivity of dislocations in GaN by tuning the growth conditions. This work has not only furthered the current understanding of leakage processes in bulk GaN, but has also supported the investigation of impurity band conduction and conduction/charging mechanisms in GaN:C [213].

Finally, the reliability of these vertical GaN diodes was evaluated and the first estimations of their lifetime were made. Establishing the reliability of these devices is essential before they can be commercially traded and no prior lifetime estimations exist on vertical GaN diodes. This work was achieved using a step stress measurement technique, where the reverse bias of the device was gradually stepped up until failure. In order to analyse this data, methods from the field of cable dielectrics were transferred to GaN for the first time and allowed the analysis of step stress data with Weibull statistics. The Weibull distribution accurately described the failures, indicating that vertical GaN devices can be modelled by the same failure models used with Si and lateral GaN devices. Namely, the field induced generation of point defects and the subsequent formation of a percolation path leading to failure. Using Weibull statistics, it was shown that the device failure rates depended only of the device geometry, specifically the length of the periphery. Optical inspection showed the failure occurred by surface breakdown, confirming that the failure rate should be depended on the length of the device periphery. The Weibull fit parameters were

used to estimate the mean time to failure. The smallest device was predicted to have a mean time to failure of 10 years when continuously stressed at a voltage of 260 V. These current results indicate these devices are limited by device design and further optimisation of the electric field around the device periphery is required, either by optimisation of the edge termination or the application of a passivation layer. These measurements provided a much needed evaluation of the current state of reliability of this technology and present a new methodology for future lifetime evaluations. This analysis will enable more rapid characterisation and reliability assessments of GaN devices in the future.

8.1 Future work

Electrical measurements comparing the charge storage and leakage behaviour of different strain relief layer designs has indicated superlattice strain relief layers give rise to superior performance[160]. Following on from that work, a new study modelling an optimised superlattice strain relief layers is set to begin between imec and the Centre for Device Thermography and Reliability (CDTR). The aim of this new project is to understand the physical processes which give rise to the improved behaviour in the superlattice strain relief layers when compared to the interlayer strain relief layers featured in Chapter 4. The simulation work in Chapter 4 identified that in the simulation of strain relief layers, it is imperative to construct the model with realistic composition profiles in order to recover realistic results. Initial simulations with ideal, abrupt interfaces yielded unrealistic, non-physical results, thus realistic profiles must be used in all future simulations of the strain relief layers and buffer structure of metal-organic chemical vapour deposition grown devices. Based on this assertion, this new study will rely heavily on scanning transmission electron microscopy cross-sections to ensure realistic composition profiles are implemented throughout the superlattice.

The results presented in Chapter 5 provide compelling evidence to support the presence of preferential leakage paths below the Ohmic contacts. However, further work could be done to verify the physical cause of this behaviour. It was suggested that the preferential leakage is caused by the contact metals decorating existing dislocations under the contact. Future studies could investigate this effect on structures processed with a different metal stack, i.e. Ta/Al/Ta, to identify whether the effect is Ti/Al specific. Alternatively, the same Ti/Al contact structures could be fabricated on low defect density material to verify if the dislocation density does indeed play a role. Additionally, to support the electrical measurements, a more direct measurement approach could also be taken. By mechanically polishing a sample, the dislocation decoration under the contact could be directly observed with kelvin probe mapping. Using this technique, it would even be possible to inspect the dislocation cross-section as a function of depth by polishing the sample at an angle. This could be used to directly measure the extension of the leakage paths.

Finally, the results in Chapter 6 were explained by a mechanism which modulates the conductivity of dislocations using the charge state of point defects. This opens an avenue for the exploration of the positive benefits of point defects and engineering of the point defect density to reduce the reverse leakage in GaN diodes. There have been results in the literature which demonstrate the ability to control the point defect density in metal-organic chemical vapour deposition by tuning of the growth parameters. Generally, the goal is to reduce the point defect density, however a new study could be devised in which the point defect density is intentionally varied with as many other parameters kept constant to assess the impact on the reverse leakage along dislocations. This study would be a method of testing this impurity band conduction model of leakage. With different defect density would result in the Fermi level only moving by a small amount. Depending on the width of the impurity band, the shape and magnitude of the transient would be expected to change with defect density. If successful, new growth regimes could be developed to create even lower leakage devices, possibly even approaching the limits of the ideal material despite a non-zero dislocation density.



RESEARCH OUTPUT

A.1 Publications

- B. Rackauskas, M. J. Uren, S. Stoffels, M. Zhao, S. Decoutere, and M. Kuball, "Determination of the Self-Compensation Ratio of Carbon in AlGaN for HEMTs", IEEE Trans. Electron Devices, vol. 65, no. 5, pp. 1838–1842, May 2018, doi:10.1109/TED.2018.2813542.
- B. Rackauskas, S. Dalcanale, M. J. Uren, T. Kachi, and M. Kuball, "Leakage mechanisms in GaN-on-GaN vertical pn diodes", Appl. Phys. Lett., vol. **112**, no. 23, p. 233501, Jun. 2018, doi:10.1063/1.5033436.
- **B. Rackauskas**, M. J. Uren, S. Stoffels, M. Zhao, B. Bakeroot, S. Decoutere, and M. Kuball, "The impact of Ti/Al contacts on AlGaN/GaN HEMT vertical leakage and breakdown", IEEE Electron Device Lett., vol. **39**, no. 10, pp. 1580–1583, Oct. 2018, doi:10.1109/LED.2018.2866613.
- B. Rackauskas, M. J. Uren, T. Kachi, and M. Kuball, "Reliability and lifetime estimations of GaN-on-GaN vertical pn diodes", Microelec. Rel., vol. 95, 48-51, Mar. 2019, doi:10.1016/j.microrel.2019.02.013.

A.2 Conference talks

- **B. Rackauskas**, M. J. Uren, S. Stoffels, M. Kuball, "Processes behind Suppressed Current Collapse Buffer Architectures", International Workshop on III-Nitrides 2016, Orlando, USA
- B. Rackauskas, M. J. Uren, S. Stoffels, M. Zhao, S. Decoutere, M. Kuball, "Self-compensation of Carbon in AlGaN", UK Nitrides Consortium Winter Meeting 2018, Manchester, UK

- **B. Rackauskas**, M. J. Uren, S. Stoffels, M. Zhao, S. Decoutere, M. Kuball, "Self-compensation of Carbon in AlGaN", International Symposium of Growth of III-Nitrides 2018, Warsaw, Poland
- **B. Rackauskas**, S. Dalcanale, M. J. Uren, T. Kachi, M. Kuball, "Impurity band conduction along dislocations in vertical GaN-on-GaN pn diodes", International Workshop on III-Nitrides 2018, Kanazawa, Japan (**talk given by M. Kuball**)



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- **2DEG** 2-Dimensional Electron Gas
- 2DHG 2-Dimensional Hole Gas
- AC Alternating Current
- **AFM** Atomic Force Microscope
- **BFOM** Baliga Figure Of Merit
- **CAFM** Conductive Atomic Force Microscope
- CAVET Current Aperture Vertical Electron Transistor
- **CDF** Cumulative Distribution Function
- **CDTR** Centre for Device Thermography and Reliability
- CL Cathodo-Luminescence
- CMOS Complementary Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor
- **CMU** Capacitance Measurement Unit
- **CPU** Central Processing Unit
- **CTE** Coefficient of Thermal Expansion
- CV Capacitance-Voltage
- DC Direct Current

APPENDIX B. LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

DOS	Density Of States
DFT	Density Functional Theory
FET	Field Effect Transistor
FIB	Focused Ion Beam
GPIB	General Purpose Interface Bus
HAADF	High Angle Annular Dark Field
HEMT	High Electron Mobility Transistor
HFET	Hetero-structure Field Effect Transistor
HV	High Voltage
HVPE	Hydride Vapour Phase Epitaxy
IB	Impurity Band
imec	Inter-university Micro-Electronics Centre
IP	Intellectual Property
IV	Current-Voltage
JTE	Junction Termination Extension
LED	Light Emitting Diode
LiDAR	Light Detection And Ranging
MBE	Molecular Beam Epitaxy
MOCVD	Metal-Organic Chemical Vapour Deposition
MODFET	MOdulation-Doped Field Effect Transistor
MOSFET	Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field Effect Transistor
MTTF	Mean Time To Failure
PID	Proportional Integral Derivative
PWM	Pulse Width Modulation
QSCV	Quasi-Static Capacitance-Voltage

- **RF** Radio Frequency
- SBD Schottky Barrier Diode
- SEM Scanning Electron Microscopy
- SIMS Secondary-Ion Mass Spectroscopy
- SMU Source Measurement Unit
- SRL Strain Relief Layers
- **STEM** Scanning Transmission Electron Microscopy
- TAT Trap Assisted Tunnelling
- TCAD Technology Computer-Aided Design
- **TDDB** Time Dependant Dielectric Breakdown
- **TEM** Transmission Electron Microscopy
- TLM Transfer Length Method
- UID UnIntentionally Doped
- UV Ultra Violet
- VRH Variable Range Hopping



ATLAS SIMULATION CODE

This appendix contains the code required to run the SILVACO ATLAS simulation presented in chapter 4 for the structure with a carbon doped back-barrier. For simulation of the unintentionally doped back-barrier structure, the carbon trap statements in the back-barrier can be commented out (lines starting with # are comments). This appendix comprises three files; the run file, the design file and the body file. The design file specifies the physical layout of the structure and defines the finite element mesh. This is created and edited in Devedit and compiled into a structure file (.str) before running the model. The body file calls the design structure file and specifies the material property definitions of each material layer (Al composition of AlGaN, trap density/levels, carrier mobilities etc.). The body file also defines which physical models to turn on and specifies the desired simulation outputs. Finally, the run file is the most high level file and is executed in Deckbuild to run the simulation. The run file calls the body file and defines the design of experiment e.g. which contacts are set to which voltage at which time. These three files described above are presented in the following sections.

C.1 Run File (U_runfile_5Vps_C_350V.in)

```
go atlas simflags= "-V 5.20.2.R -P 4"
set fstub1="U"
set fstub2="15745_"
set fstub3="C_1.47e19_5.3e18_doped_ILs_v4"
set TL=293
source bodytext_U_C_v4.in
method newton autonr carriers=2 maxtraps=10 itlimit = 50
solve init
#regrid potential ratio=0.2 outf="new_grid.str" smooth=4
set time=0
solve vdrain=1
solve vsubstrate=0
save outf=$'fstub1'$'fstub2'$'fstub3'_Init_Vd=1_TL=$'TL'_rate=5.str master
log outf = $'fstub1'$'fstub2'$'fstub3'_IdVsub_Vd=1_TL=$'TL'_rate=5.log
# ramp up
solve vsubstrate=-115 ramptime=23 dt=1 tstop=23
save outf=$'fstub1'$'fstub2'$'fstub3'_Vsub=-115f_Vd=1_TL=$'TL'_rate=5.str master
solve vsubstrate=-235 ramptime=24 dt=1 tstop=47
save outf=$'fstub1'$'fstub2'$'fstub3'_Vsub=-235f_Vd=1_TL=$'TL'_rate=5.str master
solve vsubstrate=-355 ramptime=24 dt=1 tstop=71
save outf=$'fstub1'$'fstub2'$'fstub3'_Vsub=-355f_Vd=1_TL=$'TL'_rate=5.str master
```

ramp down

```
solve vsubstrate=-235 ramptime=24 dt=1 tstop=95
save outf=$'fstub1'$'fstub2'$'fstub3'_Vsub=-235b_Vd=1_TL=$'TL'_rate=5.str master
```

```
solve vsubstrate=-115 ramptime=24 dt=1 tstop=119
save outf=$'fstub1'$'fstub2'$'fstub3'_Vsub=-115b_Vd=1_TL=$'TL'_rate=5.str master
```

```
solve vsubstrate=0 ramptime=23 dt=1 tstop=142
save outf=$'fstub1'$'fstub2'$'fstub3'_Vsub=0b_Vd=1_TL=$'TL'_rate=5.str master
```

log off

C.2 Design File (U15745_4.de)

```
DevEdit version=2.8.21.R # file written Thu Jun 22 2017 11:37:32 GMT+1 (BST)
work.area x1=-5.5 y1=-0.5 x2=26.65 y2=5.22
# devedit 2.8.21.R (Fri Dec 19 15:47:22 PST 2014)
# libMeshBuild 1.24.19 (Tue Dec 9 04:44:54 PST 2014)
# libSSS 2.8.11 (Tue Dec 9 04:41:32 PST 2014)
# libSVC_Misc 1.28.12 (Fri Nov 14 19:53:38 PST 2014)
# libsflm 7.8.18 (Tue Dec 2 21:07:40 PST 2014)
# libSDB 1.12.31 (Wed Dec 3 01:58:14 PST 2014)
# libGeometry 1.30.13 (Fri Nov 14 19:52:25 PST 2014)
# libCardDeck 1.32.19 (Fri Nov 14 19:52:23 PST 2014)
# libDW_Set 1.28.12 (Fri Nov 14 19:53:36 PST 2014)
# libSvcFile 1.14.16 (Wed Dec 3 18:05:53 PST 2014)
# libsstl 1.10.8 (Fri Nov 14 19:52:31 PST 2014)
# libDW_Misc 1.40.16 (Tue Dec 2 09:09:46 PST 2014)
# libQSilCore 1.2.7 (Thu Nov 13 17:55:06 PST 2014)
# libDW_Version 3.8.0 (Fri Oct 3 16:08:41 PDT 2014)
region reg=1 name=Cap mat=Si3N4 color=0xffff pattern=0x3 \
polygon="20.5,-0.015 0.5,-0.015 0.5,-0.02 20.5,-0.02"
#
constr.mesh region=1 default
region reg=2 name=Barrier mat="UD4(Al0.25GaN)" color=0xcb00ff pattern=0x6 \
polygon="20.5,0 0.5,0 0.5,-0.015 20.5,-0.015"
#
constr.mesh region=2 default
region reg=3 name=UID mat=GaN color=0xcca3a3 pattern=0xd \
polygon="-5.5,0 0.5,0 20.5,0 26.5,0 26.5,0.5 -5.5,0.5"
#
constr.mesh region=3 default
region reg=4 name=Buffer mat="UD2(Al0.08GaN)" color=0x7a3d99 pattern=0x4 \
```

```
polygon="-5.5,1.292 -5.5,0.5 26.5,0.5 26.5,1.292"
#
constr.mesh region=4 default
region reg=5 name="Interlayer 1.0" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="-5.5,1.308 26.5,1.308 26.5,1.31 -5.5,1.31"
#
constr.mesh region=5 default
region reg=6 name=Al0.08GaN:C mat="UD2(Al0.08GaN)" color=0x7a3d99 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="26.5,2.32 26.5,4.12 -5.5,4.12 -5.5,2.32" \
polygon="-5.5,2.302 -5.5,1.31 26.5,1.31 26.5,2.302"
#
constr.mesh region=6 default
region reg=7 name=substrate mat=Silicon elec.id=3 work.func=0 color=0xffcc00 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="26.5,4.22 -5.5,4.22 -5.5,4.12 26.5,4.12"
#
constr.mesh region=7 default
region reg=8 name=source mat=GaN elec.id=1 work.func=0 color=0xcca3a3 pattern=0xd \
polygon="-5.5,0 -5.5,-0.05 0.5,-0.05 0.5,-0.02 0.5,-0.015 0.5,0"
#
constr.mesh region=8 default
region reg=9 name=drain mat=GaN elec.id=2 work.func=0 color=0xcca3a3 pattern=0xd \
polygon="20.5,-0.05 26.5,-0.05 26.5,0 20.5,0 20.5,-0.015 20.5,-0.02"
#
constr.mesh region=9 default
region reg=10 name="Interlayer 2.0" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="-5.5,2.318 26.5,2.318 26.5,2.32 -5.5,2.32"
#
constr.mesh region=10 default
region reg=11 name="Interlayer 1.1" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="-5.5,1.306 26.5,1.306 26.5,1.308 -5.5,1.308"
#
```

```
constr.mesh region=11 default
region reg=12 name="Interlayer 1.2" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="26.5,1.306 -5.5,1.306 -5.5,1.304 26.5,1.304"
#
constr.mesh region=12 default
region reg=13 name="Interlayer 1.3" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="26.5,1.304 -5.5,1.304 -5.5,1.302 26.5,1.302"
#
constr.mesh region=13 default
region reg=14 name="Interlayer 1.4" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="-5.5,1.302 -5.5,1.3 26.5,1.3 26.5,1.302"
#
constr.mesh region=14 default
region reg=15 name="Interlayer 1.5" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="-5.5,1.3 -5.5,1.298 26.5,1.298 26.5,1.3"
#
constr.mesh region=15 default
region reg=16 name="Interlayer 1.6" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="26.5,1.298 -5.5,1.298 -5.5,1.296 26.5,1.296"
#
constr.mesh region=16 default
region reg=17 name="Interlayer 1.7" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="26.5,1.296 -5.5,1.296 -5.5,1.294 26.5,1.294"
#
constr.mesh region=17 default
region reg=18 name="Interlayer 1.8" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="26.5,1.294 -5.5,1.294 -5.5,1.292 26.5,1.292"
#
constr.mesh region=18 default
region reg=19 name="Interlayer 2.1" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
```

```
polygon="-5.5,2.316 26.5,2.316 26.5,2.318 -5.5,2.318"
#
constr.mesh region=19 default
region reg=20 name="Interlayer 2.2" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="-5.5,2.314 26.5,2.314 26.5,2.316 -5.5,2.316"
#
constr.mesh region=20 default
region reg=21 name="Interlayer 2.3" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="-5.5,2.312 26.5,2.312 26.5,2.314 -5.5,2.314"
#
constr.mesh region=21 default
region reg=22 name="Interlayer 2.4" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="-5.5,2.31 26.5,2.31 26.5,2.312 -5.5,2.312"
#
constr.mesh region=22 default
region reg=23 name="Interlayer 2.5" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="-5.5,2.308 26.5,2.308 26.5,2.31 -5.5,2.31"
#
constr.mesh region=23 default
region reg=24 name="Interlayer 2.6" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="-5.5,2.306 26.5,2.306 26.5,2.308 -5.5,2.308"
#
constr.mesh region=24 default
region reg=25 name="Interlayer 2.7" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="26.5,2.306 -5.5,2.306 -5.5,2.304 26.5,2.304"
#
constr.mesh region=25 default
region reg=26 name="Interlayer 2.8" mat=AlGaN color=0xff8286 pattern=0x4 \
polygon="26.5,2.304 -5.5,2.304 -5.5,2.302 26.5,2.302"
#
constr.mesh region=26 default
```

```
impurity id=1 imp=Donors color=0x8c5d00 \
peak.value=1e+20 ref.value=100000000000 comb.func=Multiply \
y1=-0.4 y2=0 rolloff.y=both conc.func.y=Gaussian conc.param.y=0.01 \
x1=-5.5 x2=0.5 rolloff.x=both conc.func.x=Gaussian conc.param.x=0.01
impurity id=2 imp=Donors color=0x8c5d00 \
peak.value=1e+20 ref.value=100000000000 comb.func=Multiply \
y1=-0.4 y2=0 rolloff.y=both conc.func.y=Gaussian conc.param.y=0.01 \
x1=20.5 x2=26.5 rolloff.x=both conc.func.x=Gaussian conc.param.x=0.01
# Set Meshing Parameters
#
base.mesh height=0.5 width=0.5
#
bound.cond !apply max.slope=28 max.ratio=300 rnd.unit=0.001 line.straightening=1 \
align.points when=automatic
#
imp.refine min.spacing=0.1
#
constr.mesh max.angle=90 max.ratio=300 max.height=10000 \
max.width=10000 min.height=0.0001 min.width=0.0001
#
constr.mesh type=Semiconductor default
#
constr.mesh type=Insulator default
#
constr.mesh type=Metal default
#
constr.mesh type=Other default
#
constr.mesh region=1 default
#
constr.mesh region=2 default
#
constr.mesh region=3 default
#
constr.mesh region=4 default
#
```

```
constr.mesh region=5 default
#
constr.mesh region=6 default
#
constr.mesh region=7 default
#
constr.mesh region=8 default
#
constr.mesh region=9 default
#
constr.mesh region=10 default
#
constr.mesh region=11 default
#
constr.mesh region=12 default
#
constr.mesh region=13 default
#
constr.mesh region=14 default
#
constr.mesh region=15 default
#
constr.mesh region=16 default
#
constr.mesh region=17 default
#
constr.mesh region=18 default
#
constr.mesh region=19 default
#
constr.mesh region=20 default
#
constr.mesh region=21 default
#
constr.mesh region=22 default
#
constr.mesh region=23 default
#
```

```
constr.mesh region=24 default
#
constr.mesh region=25 default
#
constr.mesh region=26 default
Mesh Mode=MeshBuild
refine mode=y x1=-5.55 y1=0.009 x2=26.65 y2=0.02
refine mode=y x1=-5.5 y1=0.012 x2=27.31 y2=0.013
refine mode=y x1=-5.44 y1=0.01 x2=26.65 y2=0.017
refine mode=y x1=-5.61 y1=0.01 x2=26.77 y2=0.026
refine mode=y x1=-5.61 y1=0.013 x2=27.07 y2=0.017
refine mode=y x1=-5.61 y1=0.006 x2=26.71 y2=0.01
refine mode=y x1=-5.61 y1=-0.015 x2=25.04 y2=-0.011
refine mode=y x1=-5.55 y1=-0.003 x2=26.77 y2=0.002
refine mode=y x1=-5.61 y1=-0.003 x2=26.65 y2=0
refine mode=y x1=-0.26 y1=-0.0011 x2=21.37 y2=0.0004
refine mode=y x1=-5.67 y1=1.2325 x2=26.83 y2=1.2692
refine mode=y x1=-5.5 y1=1.3403 x2=27.13 y2=1.3741
refine mode=y x1=-5.55 y1=1.2052 x2=27.73 y2=1.2505
refine mode=y x1=-5.79 y1=1.3554 x2=27.19 y2=1.3713
refine mode=y x1=-5.85 y1=1.249 x2=26.83 y2=1.2656
refine mode=y x1=-5.61 y1=1.3511 x2=26.65 y2=1.3554
refine mode=y x1=-5.55 y1=1.2656 x2=26.71 y2=1.2742
refine mode=y x1=-5.91 y1=1.326 x2=27.19 y2=1.3353
refine mode=y x1=-6.03 y1=1.28 x2=26.83 y2=1.2828
refine mode=y x1=-5.79 y1=1.3202 x2=26.89 y2=1.3238
refine mode=y x1=-5.73 y1=1.2843 x2=27.25 y2=1.2871
refine mode=y x1=-5.85 y1=1.3137 x2=27.13 y2=1.3166
refine mode=y x1=-5.85 y1=1.2879 x2=26.89 y2=1.2886
refine mode=y x1=-5.91 y1=1.3123 x2=27.61 y2=1.313
refine mode=y x1=-6.03 y1=2.2727 x2=26.83 y2=2.2806
refine mode=y x1=-6.27 y1=2.3719 x2=26.12 y2=2.3762
refine mode=y x1=-6.57 y1=2.2447 x2=27.61 y2=2.2706
refine mode=y x1=-6.15 y1=2.3604 x2=25.04 y2=2.3604
refine mode=y x1=-6.09 y1=2.2749 x2=27.25 y2=2.2871
refine mode=y x1=-6.03 y1=2.3475 x2=27.31 y2=2.3733
refine mode=y x1=-6.15 y1=2.3417 x2=27.19 y2=2.3518
refine mode=y x1=26.06 y1=2.346 x2=26.6 y2=2.346
```

```
refine mode=y x1=-5.97 y1=2.2864 x2=27.31 y2=2.29
refine mode=y x1=-5.85 y1=2.3338 x2=26.89 y2=2.3352
refine mode=y x1=-5.85 y1=2.2928 x2=26.95 y2=2.2964
refine mode=y x1=-6.03 y1=2.3273 x2=27.07 y2=2.3281
refine mode=y x1=-6.09 y1=2.2979 x2=27.25 y2=2.2993
refine mode=y x1=-6.03 y1=2.3223 x2=27.01 y2=2.3252
refine mode=both x1=-3.76 y1=0.05 x2=-0.46 y2=1.12
refine mode=both x1=21.62 y1=0.05 x2=24.56 y2=1.14
refine mode=y x1=-5.5 y1=0.43 x2=26.77 y2=0.59
refine mode=y x1=0.08 y1=0.4 x2=21.02 y2=0.6
refine mode=y x1=-5.32 y1=0.38 x2=-4.24 y2=0.57
refine mode=y x1=25.04 y1=0.6 x2=26.36 y2=0.79
refine mode=y x1=-5.32 y1=0.42 x2=-14.01 y2=0.47
refine mode=y x1=-5.44 y1=0.45 x2=26.24 y2=0.53
refine mode=y x1=-5.38 y1=0.47 x2=26.6 y2=0.52
refine mode=y x1=-5.44 y1=1.2879 x2=27.07 y2=1.313
refine mode=y x1=-5.55 y1=2.2986 x2=26.71 y2=2.323
refine mode=y x1=-5.55 y1=1.2871 x2=26.95 y2=1.3073
refine mode=y x1=-5.5 y1=2.2964 x2=26.89 y2=2.3144
```

base.mesh height=0.5 width=0.5

bound.cond !apply max.slope=28 max.ratio=300 rnd.unit=0.001 \
line.straightening=1 align.Points when=automatic

C.3 Body File (bodytext_U_C_v4.in)

IMEC 15745 IL device (C doped deep buffer) TLM # #-----# Layers #------# 1. SiN Cap # 2. Al0.25GaN Barrier # 3. UID GaN # 4. Al0.08GaN Buffer # 5. Interlayer 1.0 # 6. Al0.08GaN:C # 7. Substrate # 8. Source # 9. Drain # 10. Interlayer 2.0 # 11. Interlayer 1.1 # 12. Interlayer 1.2 # 13. Interlayer 1.3 # 14. Interlayer 1.4 # 15. Interlayer 1.5 # 16. Interlayer 1.6 # 17. Interlayer 1.7 # 18. Interlayer 1.8 # 19. Interlayer 2.1 # 20. Interlayer 2.2 # 21. Interlayer 2.3 # 22. Interlayer 2.4 # 23. Interlayer 2.5 # 24. Interlayer 2.6

```
# 25. Interlayer 2.7
# 26. Interlayer 2.8
set Lsd=20
set Lcontact=1
set t_barrier=0.015
set t_SiNcap=0.005
set RC=500
set Spike_depth = 0.05
set density_UID_donor = 1e16
set e_UID_donor = 0.02
# Polarisation charges (Ambacher 2002 - non-linear interpolations of material properties)
set Qp_GaN = 2.12e13
set Qp_Al0.08GaN = 2.44e13
set Qp_Al0.25GaN = 3.24e13
# relaxed ILs
set Qp_AlN = 5.625e13
set Qoffset=5.0e12
# Band Gaps (from ATLAS)
set Eg_GaN = 3.42
set Eg_{Al0.08GaN} = 3.56
set Eg_Al0.13GaN = 3.64
set Eg_Al0.21GaN = 3.79
set Eg_{Al0.25GaN} = 3.87
set Eg_Al0.31GaN = 4.00
set Eg_Al0.41GaN = 4.23
set Eg_Al0.44GaN = 4.37
set Eg_{Al0.54GaN} = 4.55
set Eg_Al0.75GaN = 5.27
set Eg_{Al0.78GaN} = 5.32
```

```
set Eg_Al0.80GaN = 5.39
set Eg_{A10.90GaN} = 5.75
set Eg_AlN = 6.13
# Trap properties
set e_level_deep_acceptor=0.98
set deep_acceptor_sign=1e-15
set deep_acceptor_sigp=1e-13
set density_deep_acceptor=1.47e19
#1e19
set density_compensating_donor=.53e19
#5e17
set e_compensating_donor=0.02
set ymin_C=0.5
set ymax_C=1.3
# Note that the location of the traps is set on the TRAP statement
#-----
# Get structure file from DevEdit
#_____
mesh inf=U15745_4.str width=22
REGION MODIFY NUM=2 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.25
REGION MODIFY NUM=4 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.08
REGION MODIFY NUM=5 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.54
REGION MODIFY NUM=11 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.80
REGION MODIFY NUM=12 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.90
REGION MODIFY NUM=13 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.78
REGION MODIFY NUM=14 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.53
REGION MODIFY NUM=15 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.41
REGION MODIFY NUM=16 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.31
REGION MODIFY NUM=17 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.21
```

```
REGION MODIFY NUM=18 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.13
REGION MODIFY NUM=6 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.08
REGION MODIFY NUM=10 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.54
REGION MODIFY NUM=19 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.80
REGION MODIFY NUM=20 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.90
REGION MODIFY NUM=21 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.78
REGION MODIFY NUM=22 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.53
REGION MODIFY NUM=23 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.41
REGION MODIFY NUM=24 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.31
REGION MODIFY NUM=25 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.21
REGION MODIFY NUM=26 MATERIAL=AlGaN X.COMP=0.13
#-----
                     _____
# ... trap definitions
#------
### Spikes ###
doping acceptor conc=1.1e20 gaussian characteristic=0.005 \
x.min=-1 x.max=-1 y.min=0 y.max=$'Spike_depth'
doping acceptor conc=1.1e20 gaussian characteristic=0.005 \
x.min= 22 x.max= 22 y.min=0 y.max=$'Spike_depth'
### C doping ###
# below interlayer
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_A10.08GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=6
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.08GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
 degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=6
### C above interlayer
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_A10.08GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
```

sign = \$'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = \$'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=4

```
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.08GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=4
#trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.08GaN-$e_UID_donor density = $'density_UID_donor' \
#
   degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=4
## C doping in interlayer 1
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_A10.54GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=5
trap donor e.level = $Eg_A10.54GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=5
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_A10.80GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=11
trap donor e.level = $Eg_A10.80GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
 degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=11
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_A10.90GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=12
trap donor e.level = $Eg_A10.90GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
 degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=12
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_A10.78GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=13
trap donor e.level = $Eg_A10.78GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
 degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=13
```

```
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_A10.54GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
```

```
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=14
trap donor e.level = $Eg_A10.54GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=14
## C doping in interlayer 1 tail
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.41GaN -$'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=15
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.41GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=15
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.31GaN -$'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=16
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.31GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=16
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_A10.21GaN -$'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=17
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.21GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=17
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.13GaN -$'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=18
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.13GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=18
```

C doping in interlayer 2
```
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.54GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=10
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.54GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=10
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.80GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=19
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.80GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=19
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.80GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
```

```
degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=19
```

```
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.90GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=20
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.90GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=20
```

```
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.78GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=21
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.78GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
```

degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=21

```
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.54GaN -$'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=22
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.54GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
```

```
degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=22
```

C doping in interlayer 2 tail

trap acceptor e.level = \$Eg_Al0.41GaN - \$'e_level_deep_acceptor' \

```
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=23
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.41GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=23
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.31GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=24
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.31GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=24
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.21GaN -$'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=25
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.21GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=25
trap acceptor e.level = $Eg_Al0.13GaN - $'e_level_deep_acceptor' \
density = $'density_deep_acceptor' degen.fac=2 \
sign = $'deep_acceptor_sign' sigp = $'deep_acceptor_sigp' region=26
trap donor e.level = $Eg_A10.13GaN-$'e_compensating_donor' \
density = $'density_compensating_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=26
### Unintentional donors in all regions
trap donor e.level = $Eg_A10.08GaN-$'e_UID_donor' density = $'density_UID_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=2
trap donor e.level = $Eg_GaN-$'e_UID_donor' density = $'density_UID_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=3
# UID doping in contacts not needed as already highly doped
trap donor e.level = $Eg_AlN-$'e_UID_donor' density = $'density_UID_donor' \
  degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=8
trap donor e.level = $Eg_Al0.08GaN-$'e_UID_donor' density = $'density_UID_donor' \
```

degen.fac=2 sign = 1e-13 sigp = 1e-15 region=9

```
#-----
#... Models statements
#-----
models name=Cap temp=$TL \
srh ^auger \
fermidirac incomplete print \setminus
fldmob
# \
# lat.temp joule.heat
models name=Buffer temp=$TL \
srh ^auger \
fermidirac incomplete print \setminus
fldmob
# fnholes fnord
# lat.temp joule.heat
models name=Barrier temp=TL \setminus
srh ^auger \setminus
fermidirac incomplete print \setminus
fldmob
# \
# lat.temp joule.heat
models MATERIAL=AlGaN FLDMOB FERMI SRH AUGER INCOMPLETE temp=$TL PRINT
```

```
models name=Al0.08GaN:C temp=$TL \
srh ^auger \
fermidirac incomplete print \
```

```
fldmob
# fnholes fnord
models name=drain temp=$TL print
# \
# lat.temp joule.heat
models name=source temp=$TL print
# \
# lat.temp joule.heat
#-----
#...Material Parameters
#-----
#...GaN
#-----
material material=GaN \
    edb=0.02 gcb=2 gvb=2 \setminus
tcon.const tc.const=1.6 \setminus
eg300=$Eg_GaN egalpha=0 egbeta=0 \
align = 0.385 \setminus
PERMITTI = 10.4
# egalpha=7.7e-4 egbeta=600
#-----
\#...Al(x)Ga(1-x)N
#-----
material material=AlGaN \
vsatn=1e7 vsatp=1e6 \setminus
tcon.const tc.const=0.5 \setminus
egalpha=0 egbeta=0 \
PERMITTI = 10.7
```

```
# egalpha=7.7e-4 egbeta=600
```

APPENDIX C. ATLAS SIMULATION CODE

```
#------
#... Contacts statements
#------
contact name=substrate resistance=$'RC'
contact name=source resistance=$'RC'
contact name=drain resistance=$'RC'
# enable the thermal contact to the substrate terminal and add a thermal conductivity
# thermcontact number=1 x.min=-$'Lcontact' x.max=$'Lsd'+$'Lcontact' \
y.min=1.4-0.01 y.max=1.4+0.01 temp=300 alpha=16000
```

```
#-----
#...Mobility Values:
#-----
mobility name=Cap \
mun=1500 \
betan=2.3 \setminus
tmun=1.5 \
vsatn=1.91e7
mobility name=UID \
mun=1500 \
betan=2.3 \setminus
tmun=1.5 \
vsatn=1.91e7 \
mup=8 ∖
tmup=1.5
mobility name=Buffer \setminus
mun=400 ∖
betan=2.3 \setminus
tmun=1.5 \setminus
```

```
vsatn=1.91e7 \
mup=8 \
tmup=1.5
mobility name=Barrier \setminus
mun=20 vsatn=1e7 \
mup=1 vsatp=1e7
# contact mobility
#mobility name=drain_contact \
# mun=$mu_contact mup=10
#mobility name=source_contact \
# mun=$mu_contact mup=10
#-----
# define fixed polarization charge
#-----
## AlGaN top surface charge
#interface charge=$Qoffset s.i. \
# y.min=-($t_barrier+$t_SiNcap+0.001) y.max=-($t_barrier+$t_SiNcap-0.001)
# Cap/Al0.25GaN interface
interface charge=-$Qoffset s.i. \
y.min=(-$t_barrier-0.001) y.max=(-$t_barrier+0.001)
# Barrier/UID GaN interface
interface charge = ( $Qp_Al0.25GaN - $Qp_GaN ) s.s.\
     y.min=0 y.max=0
# GaN/Al0.08GaN interface
interface charge = ( $Qp_GaN - $Qp_A10.08GaN ) s.s.\
     y.min=0.5 y.max=0.5
# ########## first interlayer
```

```
# Al0.08GaN/ interlayer 1.8
interface charge = -1.2e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=1.292 y.max=1.292
# interlayer 1.7/ interlayer 1.8
interface charge = -2.1e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=1.294 y.max=1.294
# interlayer 1.6/ interlayer 1.7
interface charge = -2.9e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=1.296 y.max=1.296
# interlayer 1.5/ interlayer 1.6
interface charge = -3.1e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=1.298 y.max=1.298
# interlayer 1.4/ interlayer 1.5
interface charge = -4.2e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=1.3 y.max=1.3
# interlayer 1.3/ interlayer 1.4
interface charge = -9.5e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=1.302 y.max=1.302
# interlayer 1.2/ interlayer 1.3
interface charge = -5.7e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=1.304 y.max=1.304
# interlayer 1.1/ interlayer 1.2
interface charge = 4.8e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=1.306 y.max=1.306
# interlayer 1.0/ interlayer 1.1
interface charge = 1.0e13 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=1.308 y.max=1.308
# interlayer 1.0/Al0.08GaN interface
```

```
interface charge = 1.4e13 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=1.31 y.max=1.31
# ########## second interlayer
# Al0.08GaN/ interlayer 2.8
interface charge = -1.2e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=2.302 y.max=2.302
# interlayer 2.7/ interlayer 2.8
interface charge = -2.1e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=2.304 y.max=2.304
# interlayer 2.6/ interlayer 2.7
interface charge = -2.9e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=2.306 y.max=2.306
# interlayer 2.5/ interlayer 2.6
interface charge = -3.1e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=2.308 y.max=2.308
# interlayer 2.4/ interlayer 2.5
interface charge = -4.2e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=2.31 y.max=2.31
# interlayer 2.3/ interlayer 2.4
interface charge = -9.5e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=2.312 y.max=2.312
# interlayer 2.2/ interlayer 2.3
interface charge = -5.7e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=2.314 y.max=2.314
# interlayer 2.1/ interlayer 2.2
interface charge = 4.8e12 \text{ s.s.}
     y.min=2.316 y.max=2.316
# interlayer 2.0/ interlayer 2.1
```

```
interface charge = 1e13 s.s.\
    y.min=2.318 y.max=2.318
# interlayer 2.0/Al0.08GaN interface
interface charge = 1.4e13 s.s.\
    y.min=2.32 y.max=2.32
# AlN/Silicon interface
```

#interface charge = \$Qp_AlN s.s.\
y.min=4.12 y.max=4.12

```
#-----
#...Output options
#-----
output e.field j.electron j.conduc j.disp j.total ex.field \
        ey.field e.mobility qss charge val.band con.band \
        qfn qfp band.param traps.ft traps devdeg l.temp noise.all
#-----
```

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- W. Weber, G. Deboy, W. Frank, O. Hellmund, A. Iberl, and P. Leteinturier. Energy saving by power electronics in household and automotive applications. pages 27–29, 2010.
- [2] Arunjai Mittal.
 Energy Efficiency Enabled by Power Semiconductors.
 EuroNanoForum, 2011.
- [3] Matteo Meneghini, Isabella Rossetto, Fred Hurkx, Jan Sonsky, Jeroen A Croon, Gaudenzio Meneghesso, and Enrico Zanoni.
 Extensive Investigation of Time-Dependent Breakdown of GaN-HEMTs Submitted to OFF-State Stress.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 62(8):2549–2554, 8 2015. doi:10.1109/TED.2015.2446032.
- [4] U.S. Energy Information Administration. Annual Energy Outlook 2018. Technical report, 2018.
- [5] Ana Villamor and Zhen Zong.
 Power GaN 2017 : Epitaxy, devices, applications, and technology trends 2017.
 Yole Developpement, Market & Technology report, (October), 2017.
- K. Casey Delhotal, Jochen Harnisch, Ryuji Matsuhashi, Lynn Price, Kanako Tanaka, Ernst Worrell, Francis Yamba, and Zhou Fengqi.
 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change: Industry. *Climate Change 2007 - Mitigation of Climate Change*, (May):447–496, 2007. doi:10.1017/CBO9780511546013.011.
- [7] Ernst Worrell, Lenny Bernstein, Joyashree Roy, Lynn Price, and Jochen Harnisch. Industrial energy efficiency and climate change mitigation. *Energy Efficiency*, 2(2):109–123, 2009. doi:10.1007/s12053-008-9032-8.
- [8] Alex Lidow.
 GaN transistors Giving new life to Moore's Law.
 In IEEE 27th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & IC's (ISPSD), volume June, pages 1–6. IEEE, 5 2015.
 doi:10.1109/ISPSD.2015.7123375.

- [9] X. A. Cao, H. Lu, S. F. Leboeuf, C. Cowen, S. D. Arthur, and W. Wang. Growth and characterization of GaN PiN rectifiers on free-standing GaN. *Applied Physics Letters*, 87(5):1–4, 2005. doi:10.1063/1.2001738.
- B. Ridley, B. Foutz, and L. Eastman.
 Mobility of electrons in bulk GaN and heterostructures.
 Physical Review B Condensed Matter and Materials Physics, 61(24):16862–16869, 2000.
 doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.61.16862.
- [11] Simon Ang and Alejandro Oliva.
 Power Switching Converters 2nd edition.
 CRC Press, third edit edition, 2005.
- [12] O G Folberth.
 Vlsi Design.
 Proceedings of the IEEE. Technical Publications, 1983.
- [13] Umesh K. Mishra, Primit Parikh, and Yi Feng Wu.
 AlGaN/GaN HEMTs An overview of device operation and applications.
 Proceedings of the IEEE, 90(6):1022–1031, 2002.
 doi:10.1109/JPROC.2002.1021567.
- K. S. Boutros, Rongming Chu, and B Hughes.
 Recent advances in GaN power electronics.
 Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC), 2013 IEEE, pages 1–4, 2013. doi:10.1109/CICC.2013.6658400.
- [15] Adrien Letellier, Maxime R. Dubois, Joao P. Trovao, and Hassan Maher.
 Gallium Nitride Semiconductors in Power Electronics for Electric Vehicles: Advantages and Challenges.
 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference Proceedings, pages 1–6, 2015.

doi:10.1109/VPPC.2015.7352955.

- [16] Ming Su, Chingchi Chen, and Siddharth Rajan.
 Prospects for the application of GaN power devices in hybrid electric vehicle drive systems. Semiconductor Science and Technology, 28(7), 2013. doi:10.1088/0268-1242/28/7/074012.
- [17] Qingyun Huang, Ruiyang Yu, Alex Q. Huang, and Wensong Yu.
 Adaptive zero-voltage-switching control and hybrid current control for high efficiency GaN-based MHz Totem-pole PFC rectifier.

In Conference Proceedings - IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition -APEC, pages 1763–1770. IEEE, 3 2017. doi:10.1109/APEC.2017.7930937.

 [18] Kevin J Chen, Oliver Haberlen, Alex Lidow, Chun lin Tsai, Tetsuzo Ueda, Yasuhiro Uemoto, and Yifeng Wu.
 GaN-on-Si Power Technology: Devices and Applications.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 64(3):779–795, 3 2017.

doi:10.1109/TED.2017.2657579.

[19] H. Amano, Y. Baines, E. Beam, Matteo Borga, T. Bouchet, Paul R. Chalker, M. Charles, Kevin J. Chen, Nadim Chowdhury, Rongming Chu, Carlo De Santi, Maria Merlyne De Souza, Stefaan Decoutere, L. Di Cioccio, Bernd Eckardt, Takashi Egawa, P. Fay, Joseph J. Freedsman, L. Guido, Oliver Häberlen, Geoff Haynes, Thomas Heckel, Dilini Hemakumara, Peter Houston, Jie Hu, Mengyuan Hua, Qingyun Huang, Alex Huang, Sheng Jiang, H. Kawai, Dan Kinzer, Martin Kuball, Ashwani Kumar, Kean Boon Lee, Xu Li, Denis Marcon, Martin März, R. McCarthy, Gaudenzio Meneghesso, Matteo Meneghini, E. Morvan, A. Nakajima, E M S Narayanan, Stephen Oliver, Tomás Palacios, Daniel Piedra, M. Plissonnier, R. Reddy, Min Sun, Iain Thayne, A. Torres, Nicola Trivellin, V. Unni, Michael J. Uren, Marleen Van Hove, David J. Wallis, J. Wang, J. Xie, S. Yagi, Shu Yang, C. Youtsey, Ruiyang Yu, Enrico Zanoni, Stefan Zeltner, and Yuhao Zhang.

The 2018 GaN power electronics roadmap. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics, 51(16):163001, 4 2018. doi:10.1088/1361-6463/aaaf9d.

- M. Asif Khan, A. Bhattarai, J. N. Kuznia, and D. T. Olson. High electron mobility transistor based on a GaN-AlxGa1-xN heterojunction. *Applied Physics Letters*, 63(9):1214–1215, 1993. doi:10.1063/1.109775.
- [21] S.C. Binari, J.M. Redwing, G Kelner, and W Kruppa. AlGaN/GaN HEMTs grown on SiC substrates. *Electronics Letters*, 33(3):242, 1997. doi:10.1049/el:19970122.
- [22] Eduardo M. Chumbes, A. T. Schremer, Joseph A. Smart, Y. Wang, Noel C. Mac Donald, D. Hogue, James J. Komiak, Stephen J. Lichwalla, Robert E. Leoni, and James R. Shealy.
 AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors on Si(111) substrates.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 48(3):420–426, 2001.

doi:10.1109/16.906430.

- [23] Fabrizio Roccaforte, Giuseppe Greco, Patrick Fiorenza, and Ferdinando Iucolano. An Overview of Normally-Off GaN-Based High Electron Mobility Transistors. *Materials*, 12(10):1599, 5 2019. doi:10.3390/ma12101599.
- [24] Xiucheng Huang, Zhengyang Liu, Qiang Li, and Fred C. Lee.
 Evaluation and Application of 600 V GaN HEMT in Cascode Structure.
 IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, 29(5):2453–2461, 5 2014.
 doi:10.1109/TPEL.2013.2276127.
- [25] Giuseppe Greco, Ferdinando Iucolano, and Fabrizio Roccaforte.
 Review of technology for normally-off HEMTs with p-GaN gate.
 Materials Science in Semiconductor Processing, 78(July 2017):96–106, 5 2018.
 doi:10.1016/j.mssp.2017.09.027.
- [26] Wataru Saito, Yoshiharu Takada, Masahiko Kuraguchi, Kunio Tsuda, and Ichiro Omura.

Recessed-gate structure approach toward normally off high-Voltage AlGaN/GaN HEMT for power electronics applications. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 53(2):356–362, 2 2006. doi:10.1109/TED.2005.862708.

- [27] M. Asif Khan, Q. Chen, C. J. Sun, J. W. Yang, M. Blasingame, M. S. Shur, and H. Park. Enhancement and depletion mode GaN/AlGaN heterostructure field effect transistors. *Applied Physics Letters*, 68(4):514–516, 1 1996. doi:10.1063/1.116384.
- [28] Yuhao Zhang, Daniel Piedra, Min Sun, Jonas Hennig, Armin Dadgar, Lili Yu, and Tomas Palacios.
 High-performance 500 v quasi- and fully-vertical GaN-on-Si pn diodes. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 38(2):248–251, 2017.
 doi:10.1109/LED.2016.2646669.
- [29] Chao Liu, Riyaz Abdul Khadar, and Elison Matioli. GaN-on-Si Quasi-Vertical Power MOSFETs.
 IEEE Electron Device Letters, 39(1):71–74, 1 2018. doi:10.1109/LED.2017.2779445.
- [30] Akira Usui, Haruo Sunakawa, Akira Sakai, and A. Atsushi Yamaguchi. Thick GaN epitaxial growth with low dislocation density by hydride vapor phase epitaxy. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, Part 2: Letters, 36(7 B):L899–L902, 7 1997. doi:10.1143/JJAP.36.L899.
- [31] Tadao Hashimoto, Feng Wu, James S. Speck, and Shuji Nakamura. A GaN bulk crystal with improved structural quality grown by the ammonothermal method. *Nature Materials*, 6(8):568–571, 8 2007. doi:10.1038/nmat1955.
- [32] Y. Irokawa, B. Luo, Jihyun Kim, J. R. LaRoche, F. Ren, K. H. Baik, S. J. Pearton, C. C. Pan, G. T. Chen, J. I. Chyi, S. S. Park, and Y. J. Park.
 Current-voltage and reverse recovery characteristics of bulk gan p-i-n rectifiers. *Applied Physics Letters*, 83(11):2271–2273, 2003.
 doi:10.1063/1.1611624.
- [33] Yuhao Zhang, Min Sun, Zhihong Liu, Daniel Piedra, Hyung Seok Lee, Feng Gao, Tatsuya Fujishima, and Tomas Palacios.
 Electrothermal simulation and thermal performance study of GaN vertical and lateral power transistors. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 60(7):2224–2230, 2013.
 doi:10.1109/TED.2013.2261072.
- [34] I. C. Kizilyalli, T. Prunty, and O. Aktas.
 4-kV and 2.8-mΩ-cm2Vertical GaN p-n Diodes with Low Leakage Currents. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 36(10):1073–1075, 10 2015. doi:10.1109/LED.2015.2474817.

- [35] Sadahiro Kato, Yoshihiro Satoh, Hitoshi Sasaki, Iwami Masayuki, and Seikoh Yoshida.
 C-doped GaN buffer layers with high breakdown voltages for high-power operation Al-GaN/GaN HFETs on 4-in Si substrates by MOVPE.
 Journal of Crystal Growth, 298(SPEC. ISS):831–834, 2007.
 doi:10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2006.10.192.
- [36] Takashi Egawa.
 Heteroepitaxial growth and power electronics using AlGaN/GaN HEMT on Si.
 In *Technical Digest International Electron Devices Meeting, IEDM*, pages 1–27. IEEE, 12 2012.
 doi:10.1100/IEDM.2012.6470112

doi:10.1109/IEDM.2012.6479112.

[37] Armin Dadgar.

Sixteen years GaN on Si. *Physica Status Solidi (B) Basic Research*, 252(5):1063–1068, 5 2015. doi:10.1002/pssb.201451656.

- [38] William M. Waller, Mark Gajda, Saurabh Pandey, Johan J.T.M. Donkers, David Calton, Jeroen Croon, Jan Sonsky, Michael J. Uren, and Martin Kuball.
 Control of Buffer-Induced Current Collapse in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs Using SiNx Deposition. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 64(10):4044–4049, 10 2017. doi:10.1109/TED.2017.2738669.
- [39] W.M. Waller, M. Gajda, S. Pandey, J.J.T.M. Donkers, D. Calton, J. Croon, S. Karboyan, J. Šonský, M.J. Uren, and M. Kuball.

Link between silicon nitride stoichiometry, vertical epitaxial conductivity and current collapse in AlGaN/GaN power devices.

- CS MANTECH 2017 2017 International Conference on Compound Semiconductor Manufacturing Technology, pages 4–6, 2017.
- [40] Nariaki Ikeda, Yuki Niiyama, Hiroshi Kambayashi, Yoshihiro Sato, Takehiko Nomura, Sadahiro Kato, and Seikoh Yoshida.
 GaN Power Transistors on Si Substrates for Switching Applications. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 98(7):1151–1161, 7 2010. doi:10.1109/JPROC.2009.2034397.
- [41] Michael J. Uren, Marco Silvestri, Markus Casar, Godefridus Adrianus Maria Hurkx, Jeroen A. Croon, Jan Sonsky, and Martin Kuball.
 Intentionally carbon-doped algan/gan HEMTs: Necessity for vertical leakage paths. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 35(3):327–329, 3 2014. doi:10.1109/LED.2013.2297626.
- [42] Michael J. Uren, Serge Karboyan, Indranil Chatterjee, Alexander Pooth, Peter Moens, Abhishek Banerjee, and Martin Kuball.
 "leaky Dielectric" Model for the Suppression of Dynamic RONin Carbon-Doped AlGaN/GaN HEMTs.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 64(7):2826–2834, 7 2017.

doi:10.1109/TED.2017.2706090.

- [43] S.M. Sze and Kwok K. Ng. *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*, volume 45. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, 10 2006. doi:10.1002/0470068329.
- [44] M S Sze.
 Physics of semiconductor devices.
 Wiley-Interscience publication. John Wiley & Sons, 2nd editio edition, 1981.
- Y. C. Yeo, T. C. Chong, and M. F. Li.
 Electronic band structures and effective-mass parameters of wurtzite GaN and InN.
 Journal of Applied Physics, 83(3):1429–1436, 2 1998.
 doi:10.1063/1.366847.
- [46] Masakatsu Suzuki, Takeshi Uenoyama, and Akira Yanase.
 First-principles calculations of effective-mass parameters of AlN and GaN.
 Physical Review B, 52(11):8132–8139, 9 1995.
 doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.52.8132.
- [47] Jerry L. Hudgins.

Wide and narrow bandgap semiconductors for power electronics: A new valuation. *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 32(6):471–477, 2003. doi:10.1007/s11664-003-0128-9.

- [48] O. Ambacher, J. Majewski, C Miskys, A. Link, M. Hermann, M. Eickhoff, M. Stutzmann, F. Bernardini, V. Fiorentini, V. Tilak, B. Schaff, and L. F. Eastman.
 Pyroelectric properties of Al(In)GaN/GaN hetero- and quantum well structures.
 Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 14(13):3399–3434, 4 2002.
 doi:10.1088/0953-8984/14/13/302.
- [49] J. P. Ibbetson, P. T. Fini, K. D. Ness, S. P. DenBaars, J. S. Speck, and U. K. Mishra. Polarization effects, surface states, and the source of electrons in AlGaN/GaN heterostructure field effect transistors. *Applied Physics Letters*, 77(2):250–252, 2000. doi:10.1063/1.126940.
- [50] Naoyuki Nakagawa, Harold Y. Hwang, and David A. Muller. Why some interfaces cannot be sharp. *Nature Materials*, 5(3):204–209, 3 2006. doi:10.1038/nmat1569.
- [51] Santashraya Prasad, Amit Krishna Dwivedi, and Aminul Islam. Characterization of AlGaN/GaN and AlGaN/AlN/GaN HEMTs in terms of mobility and subthreshold slope. *Journal of Computational Electronics*, 15(1):172–180, 3 2016. doi:10.1007/s10825-015-0751-8.
- [52] B. J. Baliga.
 Semiconductors for high-voltage, vertical channel field-effect transistors. Journal of Applied Physics, 53(3):1759–1764, 1982. doi:10.1063/1.331646.

- [53] Don Disney, Hui Nie, Andrew Edwards, David Bour, Hemal Shah, and Isik C. Kizilyalli. Vertical power diodes in bulk GaN.
 In Proceedings of the International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs, pages 59–62. IEEE, 5 2013. doi:10.1109/ISPSD.2013.6694455.
- W. Götz, N. M. Johnson, C. Chen, H. Liu, C. Kuo, and W. Imler. Activation energies of Si donors in GaN.
 Applied Physics Letters, 68(22):3144–3146, 5 1996. doi:10.1063/1.115805.
- [55] Chris J.H. Wort and Richard S. Balmer. Diamond as an electronic material. *Materials Today*, 11(1-2):22–28, 1 2008. doi:10.1016/S1369-7021(07)70349-8.
- [56] Masataka Higashiwaki, Hisashi Murakami, Yoshinao Kumagai, and Akito Kuramata. Current status of Ga 2 O 3 power devices. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 55(12):1202A1, 12 2016. doi:10.7567/JJAP.55.1202A1.
- [57] Z. Fan, S. N. Mohammad, W. Kim, O Aktas, A. E. Botchkarev, K. Suzue, H. Morkoc, K. Duxstad, and E. E. Haller.
 Ohmic contacts and schottky barriers to n-GaN. *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 25(11):1703–1708, 11 1996. doi:10.1007/s11664-996-0025-0.
- [58] A. Pooth, J. Bergsten, N. Rorsman, H. Hirshy, R. Perks, P. Tasker, T. Martin, R. F. Webster, D. Cherns, M. J. Uren, and M. Kuball.
 Morphological and electrical comparison of Ti and Ta based ohmic contacts for AlGaN/GaNon-SiC HFETs.
 Microelectronics Reliability, 68:2–4, 1 2017. doi:10.1016/j.microrel.2016.11.002.
- [59] Andrea Firrincieli, Brice De Jaeger, Shuzhen You, Dirk Wellekens, Marleen Van Hove, and Stefaan Decoutere.
 - Au-free low temperature ohmic contacts for AlGaN/GaN power devices on 200mm Si substrates.

Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 53(4 SPEC. ISSUE):04EF01, 1 2014. doi:10.7567/JJAP.53.04EF01.

- [60] Moujahed GASSOUMI, Abdelhamid HELALI, Hassen MAAREF, and Malek GASSOUMI. DC and RF characteristics optimization of AlGaN/GaN/BGaN/GaN/Si HEMT for microwave-power and high temperature application. *Results in Physics*, 12(October 2018):302–306, 3 2019. doi:10.1016/j.rinp.2018.11.063.
- [61] Wanjun Chen, King Yuen Wong, Wei Huang, and Kevin J. Chen. High-performance AlGaNGaN lateral field-effect rectifiers compatible with high electron mobility transistors.

Applied Physics Letters, 92(25), 2008. doi:10.1063/1.2951615.

- [62] Jae-Gil Lee, Bong-Ryeol Park, Chun-Hyung Cho, Kwang-Seok Seo, and Ho-Young Cha. Low Turn-On Voltage AlGaN/GaN-on-Si Rectifier With Gated Ohmic Anode. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 34(2):214–216, 2 2013. doi:10.1109/LED.2012.2235403.
- [63] Yi-Wei Lian, Yu-Syuan Lin, Jui-Ming Yang, Chih-Hsuan Cheng, and Shawn S. H. Hsu. AlGaN/GaN Schottky Barrier Diodes on Silicon Substrates With Selective Si Diffusion for Low Onset Voltage and High Reverse Blocking.
 IEEE Electron Device Letters, 34(8):981–983, 8 2013. doi:10.1109/LED.2013.2269475.
- [64] King-Yuen Wong, Wanjun Chen, and Kevin J. Chen.
 Integrated voltage reference and comparator circuits for GaN smart power chip technology.
 In 2009 21st International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & IC's, pages 57–60. IEEE, 6 2009.
 doi:10.1109/ISPSD.2009.5158000.
- [65] Wanjun Chen, King-Yuen Wong, and K.J. Chen.
 Single-Chip Boost Converter Using Monolithically Integrated AlGaN/GaN Lateral Field-Effect Rectifier and Normally Off HEMT.
 IEEE Electron Device Letters, 30(5):430–432, 5 2009. doi:10.1109/LED.2009.2015897.
- [66] Qi Zhou, Yang Jin, Yuanyuan Shi, Jinyu Mou, Xu Bao, Bowen Chen, and Bo Zhang.
 High Reverse Blocking and Low Onset Voltage AlGaN/GaN-on-Si Lateral Power Diode With MIS-Gated Hybrid Anode.
 IEEE Electron Device Letters, 36(7):660–662, 2015.
 doi:10.1109/LED.2015.2432171.
- [67] J.W. Chung, Jae-kyu Lee, E.L. Piner, and T. Palacios.
 Seamless On-Wafer Integration of Si(100) MOSFETs and GaN HEMTs.
 IEEE Electron Device Letters, 30(10):1015–1017, 10 2009.
 doi:10.1109/LED.2009.2027914.
- [68] Mingda Zhu, Bo Song, Meng Qi, Zongyang Hu, Kazuki Nomoto, Xiaodong Yan, Yu Cao, Wayne Johnson, Erhard Kohn, Debdeep Jena, and Huili Grace Xing.
 1.9-kV AlGaN/GaN Lateral Schottky Barrier Diodes on Silicon. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 36(4):375–377, 4 2015.
 doi:10.1109/LED.2015.2404309.
- [69] Anbang Zhang, Qi Zhou, Chao Yang, Yuanyuan Shi, Changxu Dong, Tong Liu, Yijun Shi, Wanjun Chen, Zhaoji Li, and Bo Zhang.
 Novel AlGaN/GaN SBDs with nanoscale multi-channel for gradient 2DEG modulation. In 2018 IEEE 30th International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices and ICs (ISPSD), volume 2018-May, pages 204–207. IEEE, 5 2018. doi:10.1109/ISPSD.2018.8393638.

- [70] Yuhao Zhang, Min Sun, Daniel Piedra, Mohamed Azize, Xu Zhang, Tatsuya Fujishima, and Tomas Palacios.
 GaN-on-Si Vertical Schottky and p-n Diodes.
 IEEE Electron Device Letters, 35(6):618–620, 6 2014.
 doi:10.1109/LED.2014.2314637.
- [71] Kazuki Nomoto, Bo Song, Zongyang Hu, Mingda Zhu, Meng Qi, Naoki Kaneda, Tomoyoshi Mishima, Tohru Nakamura, Debdeep Jena, and Huili Grace Xing.
 1.7-kV and 0.55-mΩ cm2GaN p-n diodes on bulk GaN substrates with avalanche capability. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 37(2):161–164, 2 2016. doi:10.1109/LED.2015.2506638.
- [72] Isik C. Kizilyalli, Andrew P. Edwards, Hui Nie, Don Disney, and Dave Bour. High voltage vertical GaN p-n diodes with avalanche capability. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 60(10):3067–3070, 10 2013. doi:10.1109/TED.2013.2266664.
- J. Hu, S. Stoffels, S. Lenci, B. Bakeroot, R. Venegas, G. Groeseneken, and S. Decoutere. Current transient spectroscopy for trapping analysis on Au-free AlGaN/GaN Schottky barrier diode. *Applied Physics Letters*, 106(8):2–6, 2015. doi:10.1063/1.4913575.
- [74] Y. Zhang, M. Sun, Z. Liu, D. Piedra, M. Pan, X. Gao, Y. Lin, A. Zubair, L. Yu, and T. Palacios. Novel GaN trench MIS barrier Schottky rectifiers with implanted field rings. In 2016 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), pages 1–10. IEEE, 12 2016. doi:10.1109/IEDM.2016.7838386.
- [75] Yuhao Zhang, Zhihong Liu, Marko J. Tadjer, Min Sun, Daniel Piedra, Christopher Hatem, Travis J. Anderson, Lunet E. Luna, Anindya Nath, Andrew D. Koehler, Hironori Okumura, Jie Hu, Xu Zhang, Xiang Gao, Boris N. Feigelson, Karl D. Hobart, and Tomas Palacios.

Vertical GaN Junction Barrier Schottky Rectifiers by Selective Ion Implantation. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 38(8):1097–1100, 8 2017. doi:10.1109/LED.2017.2720689.

[76] Ramya Yeluri, Jing Lu, Christophe A. Hurni, David A. Browne, Srabanti Chowdhury, Stacia Keller, James S. Speck, and Umesh K. Mishra.

Design, fabrication, and performance analysis of GaN vertical electron transistors with a buried p/n junction.

Applied Physics Letters, 106(18):183502, 5 2015. doi:10.1063/1.4919866.

- [77] Daisuke Shibata, Ryo Kajitani, Masahiro Ogawa, Kenichiro Tanaka, Satoshi Tamura, Tsuguyasu Hatsuda, Masahiro Ishida, and Tetsuzo Ueda.
 - 1.7 kV/1.0 mΩcm 2 normally-off vertical GaN transistor on GaN substrate with regrown p-GaN/AlGaN/GaN semipolar gate structure.
 - In 2016 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), volume 49, pages 1–10. IEEE, 12 2016.
 - doi:10.1109/IEDM.2016.7838385.

- [78] Tohru Oka, Yukihisa Ueno, Tsutomu Ina, and Kazuya Hasegawa.
 Vertical GaN-based trench metal oxide semiconductor field-effect transistors on a free-standing GaN substrate with blocking voltage of 1.6 kV.
 Applied Physics Express, 7(2):021002, 2 2014.
 doi:10.7567/APEX.7.021002.
- [79] Min Sun, Yuhao Zhang, Xiang Gao, and Tomas Palacios.
 High-Performance GaN Vertical Fin Power Transistors on Bulk GaN Substrates.
 IEEE Electron Device Letters, 38(4):509–512, 4 2017.
 doi:10.1109/LED.2017.2670925.
- [80] Dong Ji, Wenwen Li, and Srabanti Chowdhury.
 A Study on the Impact of Channel Mobility on Switching Performance of Vertical GaN MOSFETs.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 65(10):4271–4275, 10 2018.
 doi:10.1109/TED.2018.2864260.
- [81] Michel Khoury, Olivier Tottereau, Guy Feuillet, Philippe Vennéguès, and Jesus Zúñiga-Pérez.
 Evolution and prevention of meltback etching: Case study of semipolar GaN growth on patterned silicon substrates.
 Journal of Applied Physics, 122(10), 2017.
 doi:10.1063/1.5001914.
- [82] Armin Dadgar, M. Poschenrieder, J. Bläsing, O. Contreras, F. Bertram, T. Riemann, A. Reiher, M. Kunze, I. Daumiller, A. Krtschil, A. Diez, A. Kaluza, A. Modlich, M. Kamp, J. Christen, F.A. Ponce, E. Kohn, and A. Krost.
 MOVPE growth of GaN on Si(111) substrates.
 Journal of Crystal Growth, 248(SUPPL.):556–562, 2 2003.
 doi:10.1016/S0022-0248(02)01894-8.
- [83] B. Łucznik, B. Pastuszka, I. Grzegory, M. Boćkowski, G. Kamler, E. Litwin-Staszewska, and S. Porowski.
 Deposition of thick GaN layers by HVPE on the pressure grown GaN substrates. Journal of Crystal Growth, 281(1):38–46, 7 2005. doi:10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2005.03.041.
- [84] R. Dwilinski, R. Doradzinski, J. Garczynski, L. P. Sierzputowski, M. Zajac, and M. Rudzinski.
 Homoepitaxy on bulk ammonothermal GaN. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 311(10):3058–3062, 5 2009.
 doi:10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2009.01.078.
- [85] M. Bockowski, M. Iwinska, M. Amilusik, M. Fijalkowski, B. Lucznik, and T. Sochacki. Challenges and future perspectives in HVPE-GaN growth on ammonothermal GaN seeds. Semiconductor Science and Technology, 31(9), 2016. doi:10.1088/0268-1242/31/9/093002.

- U. Wahl, L. M. Amorim, V. Augustyns, A. Costa, E. David-Bosne, T. A. L. Lima, G. Lippertz, J. G. Correia, M. R. da Silva, M. J. Kappers, K. Temst, A. Vantomme, and L. M. C. Pereira.
 Lattice Location of Mg in GaN: A Fresh Look at Doping Limitations. *Physical Review Letters*, 118(9):095501, 3 2017.
 doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.095501.
- [87] Peter Kozodoy, Huili Xing, Steven P. DenBaars, Umesh K. Mishra, A. Saxler, R. Perrin, S. Elhamri, and W. C. Mitchel.
 Heavy doping effects in Mg-doped GaN. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 87(4):1832–1835, 2000. doi:10.1063/1.372098.
- [88] P. C. Srivastava and U. P. Singh. Hydrogen in semiconductors.
 Bulletin of Materials Science, 19(1):39–50, 1996. doi:10.1021/ie403575x.
- [89] Shuji Nakamura, Naruhito Iwasa, Masayuki Senoh, and Takashi Mukai. Hole Compensation Mechanism of P-Type GaN Films. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 31(Part 1, No. 5A):1258–1266, 5 1992. doi:10.1143/JJAP.31.1258.
- [90] Z. Z. Bandić, P. M. Bridger, E. C. Piquette, and T. C. McGill. Minority carrier diffusion length and lifetime in GaN. *Applied Physics Letters*, 72(24):3166–3168, 6 1998. doi:10.1063/1.121581.
- [91] Patrik Šcajev, Kęstutis Jarašiūnas, Serdal Okur, Ümit Özgür, and Hadis Morkoç. Carrier dynamics in bulk GaN. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 111(2):023702, 1 2012. doi:10.1063/1.3673851.
- J. L. Lyons, A. Janotti, and C. G. Van de Walle.
 Effects of carbon on the electrical and optical properties of InN, GaN, and AlN.
 Physical Review B, 89(3):035204, 2014.
 doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.89.035204.
- C. Poblenz, P. Waltereit, S. Rajan, S. Heikman, U. K. Mishra, and J. S. Speck.
 Effect of carbon doping on buffer leakage in AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors. Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures, 22(3):1145, 2004.
 doi:10.1116/1.1752907.
- [94] A. Armstrong, A. R. Arehart, D. Green, U. K. Mishra, J. S. Speck, and S. A. Ringel. Impact of deep levels on the electrical conductivity and luminescence of gallium nitride codoped with carbon and silicon. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 98(5), 2005. doi:10.1063/1.2005379.

 [95] P. B. Shah, R. H. Dedhia, R. P. Tompkins, E. A. Viveiros, and K. A. Jones.
 DLTS and MCTS analysis of the influence of growth pressure on trap generation in MOCVD GaN.
 Solid-State Electronics, 78:121–126, 12 2012.

doi:10.1016/j.sse.2012.05.057.

- [96] A. Hierro, D. Kwon, S. A. Ringel, M. Hansen, J. S. Speck, U. K. Mishra, and S. P. DenBaars. Optically and thermally detected deep levels in n-type Schottky and p+-n GaN diodes. *Applied Physics Letters*, 76(21):3064–3066, 2000. doi:10.1063/1.126580.
- [97] Karlheinz Seeger. Semiconductor Statistics. Pergamon Press, 2004. doi:10.1016/B978-0-08-009592-9.50015-7.
- [98] William M. Waller.
 Optimisation of AlGaN / GaN Power Devices.
 PhD thesis, University of Bristol, 2018.
- [99] Bart Van Zeghbroeck. *Principles of Semiconductor Devices*. Pearson Education, 2011.
- [100] M. S. Ferdous, X. Wang, M. N. Fairchild, and S. D. Hersee. Effect of threading defects on InGaNGaN multiple quantum well light emitting diodes. *Applied Physics Letters*, 91(23):231107, 12 2007. doi:10.1063/1.2822395.
- [101] D. V. Kuksenkov, H. Temkin, A. Osinsky, R. Gaska, and M. A. Khan. Origin of conductivity and low-frequency noise in reverse-biased GaN p-n junction. *Applied Physics Letters*, 72(11):1365–1367, 3 1998. doi:10.1063/1.121056.
- [102] Il Gyun Choi, Dong Pyo Han, Joosun Yun, Kyu Sang Kim, Dong Soo Shin, and Jong In Shim.
 Investigation of dominant nonradiative mechanisms as a function of current in InGaN/GaN light-emitting diodes.
 Applied Physics Express, 6(5):052105, 5 2013. doi:10.7567/APEX.6.052105.
- [103] Dong Pyo Han, Chan Hyoung Oh, Hyunsung Kim, Jong In Shim, Kyu Sang Kim, and Dong Soo Shin.
 Conduction mechanisms of leakage currents in InGaN/GaN-based light-emitting diodes. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 62(2):587–592, 2015. doi:10.1109/TED.2014.2381218.
- [104] G. C. Hua, N. Otsuka, D. C. Grillo, Y. Fan, J. Han, M. D. Ringle, R. L. Gunshor, M. Hovinen, and A. V. Nurmikko.

Microstructure study of a degraded pseudomorphic separate confinement heterostructure blue-green laser diode.

Applied Physics Letters, 65(11):1331–1333, 9 1994. doi:10.1063/1.112042.

[105] Shigeyoshi Usami, Yuto Ando, Atsushi Tanaka, Kentaro Nagamatsu, Manato Deki, Maki Kushimoto, Shugo Nitta, Yoshio Honda, Hiroshi Amano, Yoshihiro Sugawara, Yong Zhao Yao, and Yukari Ishikawa.

Correlation between dislocations and leakage current of p-n diodes on a free-standing GaN substrate.

Applied Physics Letters, 112(18):182106, 4 2018. doi:10.1063/1.5024704.

[106] Qifeng Shan, David S. Meyaard, Qi Dai, Jaehee Cho, E. Fred Schubert, Joong Kon Son, and Cheolsoo Sone.

Transport-mechanism analysis of the reverse leakage current in GaInN light-emitting diodes.

Applied Physics Letters, 99(25):253506, 12 2011. doi:10.1063/1.3668104.

- [107] D. S. Li, H. Chen, H. B. Yu, H. Q. Jia, Q. Huang, and J. M. Zhou. Dependence of leakage current on dislocations in GaN-based light-emitting diodes. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 96(2):1111–1114, 7 2004. doi:10.1063/1.1763234.
- [108] X. A. Cao, J. A. Teetsov, F. Shahedipour-Sandvik, and S. D. Arthur. Microstructural origin of leakage current in GaN/InGaN light-emitting diodes. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 264(1-3):172–177, 3 2004. doi:10.1016/j.jcrysgro.2004.01.031.
- [109] A. M. Wells, M. J. Uren, R. S. Balmer, K. P. Hilton, T. Martin, and M. Missous. Direct demonstration of the 'virtual gate' mechanism for current collapse in AlGaN/GaN HFETs.
 Solid-State Electronics, 49(2):279–282, 2005. doi:10.1016/j.sse.2004.10.003.
- [110] Tongde Huang, Anna Malmros, Johan Bergsten, Sebastian Gustafsson, Olle Axelsson, Mattias Thorsell, and Niklas Rorsman.

Suppression of Dispersive Effects in AlGaN/GaN High-Electron-Mobility Transistors Using Bilayer SiNx Grown by Low Pressure Chemical Vapor Deposition. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 36(6):537–539, 6 2015.
doi:10.1109/LED.2015.2427294.

[111] Malek Gassoumi, Hana Mosbahi, Mohamed Ali Zaidi, Christophe Gaquiere, and Hassen Maaref.

Effect of surface passivation by SiN/SiO2 of AlGaN/GaN high-electron mobility transistors on Si substrate by deep level transient spectroscopy method. Semiconductors, 47(7):1008–1012, 2013.

doi:10.1134/S1063782613070087.

- [112] Nariaki Ikeda, Shusuke Kaya, Jiang Li, Takuya Kokawa, Mitsuru Masuda, and Sadahiro Katoh.
 High-power AlGaN/GaN MIS-HFETs with field-plates on Si substrates.
 In 2009 21st International Symposium on Power Semiconductor Devices & IC's, pages 251–254. IEEE, 6 2009.
 doi:10.1109/ISPSD.2009.5158049.
- [113] Huili Xing, Y. Dora, A. Chini, S. Heikman, S. Keller, and U. K. Mishra. High breakdown voltage AlGaN-GaN HEMTs achieved by multiple field plates. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 25(4):161–163, 4 2004. doi:10.1109/LED.2004.824845.
- [114] Shreepad Karmalkar, M.S. Shur, Grigory Simin, and M.A. Khan. Field-Plate Engineering for HFETs. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 52(12):2534–2540, 12 2005. doi:10.1109/TED.2005.859568.
- [115] T Boles, D Carlson, L Xia, A Kaleta, C Mclean, and D Jin.
 Effect of Multi-Field Plates on GaN-on-Silicon HEMTs Reverse Breakdown and Leakage Characteristics.
 CS MANTECH - International Conference on Compound Semiconductor Manufacturing Technology, pages 101–104, 2014.
- [116] Y.-F. Wu, A. Saxler, M. Moore, R.P. Smith, S. Sheppard, P.M. Chavarkar, T. Wisleder, U.K. Mishra, and P. Parikh.
 30-W/mm GaN HEMTs by Field Plate Optimization. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 25(3):117–119, 3 2004. doi:10.1109/LED.2003.822667.
- [117] Y. Dora, A. Chakraborty, L. McCarthy, S. Keller, S. P. Denbaars, and U. K. Mishra. High breakdown voltage achieved on AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with integrated slant field plates. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 27(9):713–715, 2006. doi:10.1109/LED.2006.881020.
- [118] Janina Möreke, Milan Ťapajna, Michael J. Uren, Yi Pei, Umesh K. Mishra, and Martin Kuball.

Effects of gate shaping and consequent process changes on AlGaN/GaN HEMT reliability. *physica status solidi (a)*, 209(12):2646–2652, 12 2012. doi:10.1002/pssa.201228395.

- [119] J. A. del Alamo and J. Joh. GaN HEMT reliability. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 49(9-11):1200–1206, 2009. doi:10.1016/j.microrel.2009.07.003.
- [120] Alexander Pooth, Michael J. Uren, Markus Cäsar, Trevor Martin, and Martin Kuball. Charge movement in a GaN-based hetero-structure field effect transistor structure with carbon doped buffer under applied substrate bias. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 118(21):215701, 12 2015.

doi:10.1063/1.4936780.

[121] Wataru Saito, Ichiro Omura, Tsuneo Ogura, and Hiromichi Ohashi. Theoretical limit estimation of lateral wide band-gap semiconductor power-switching device.

Solid-State Electronics, 48(9):1555–1562, 2004. doi:10.1016/j.sse.2003.10.003.

[122] Yoshiki Satoh, Hideyuki Hanawa, and Kazushige Horio.
 Effects of buffer leakage current on breakdown voltage in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with a high-k passivation layer.
 EuMIC 2016 - 11th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference, 147:341–344, 2016.

doi:10.1109/EuMIC.2016.7777560.

- [123] Sandeepan Dasgupta, Albert G. Baca, and Michael J. Cich. Computational analysis of breakdown voltage enhancement for AlGaN/GaN HEMTs through optimal pairing of deep level impurity density and contact design. Solid-State Electronics, 91:59–66, 2014. doi:10.1016/j.sse.2013.09.011.
- [124] M.J. Uren, K.J. Nash, R.S. Balmer, T. Martin, E. Morvan, N. Caillas, S.L. Delage, D. Ducatteau, B. Grimbert, and J.C. De Jaeger.
 Punch-through in short-channel AlGaN/GaN HFETs. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 53(2):395–398, 2006.
 doi:10.1109/TED.2005.862702.
- [125] Y Ando, Y Okamoto, H Miyamoto, T Nakayama, T Inoue, and M Kuzuhara. 10-W/mm AlGaN-GaN HFET with a field modulating plate. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 24(5):289–291, 5 2003. doi:10.1109/LED.2003.812532.
- [126] V.A.K. Temple and W. Tantraporn.
 Junction termination extension for near-ideal breakdown voltage in p-n junctions. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 33(10):1601–1608, 10 1986. doi:10.1109/T-ED.1986.22713.
- [127] Alexander V. Bolotnikov, Peter G. Muzykov, Qingchun Zhang, A. K. Agarwal, and T. S. Sudarshan.
 Junction Termination Extension Implementing Drive-in Diffusion of Boron for High-Voltage SiC Devices.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 57(8):1930–1935, 8 2010.

doi:10.1109/TED.2010.2051246.

[128] A. Merve Ozbek and B. Jayant Baliga. Planar Nearly Ideal Edge-Termination Technique for GaN Devices. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 32(3):300–302, 3 2011. doi:10.1109/LED.2010.2095825.

- [129] Jeramy R. Dickerson, Andrew A. Allerman, Benjamin N. Bryant, Arthur J. Fischer, Michael P. King, Michael W. Moseley, Andrew M. Armstrong, Robert J. Kaplar, Isik C. Kizilyalli, Ozgur Aktas, and Jonathan J. Wierer.
 Vertical GaN Power Diodes With a Bilayer Edge Termination. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 63(1):419–425, 1 2016. doi:10.1109/TED.2015.2502186.
- [130] Donald R. Disney, Andrew P. Edwards, Hui Nie, Richard J. Brown, Isik C. Kizilyalli, David P. Bour, Linda Romano, and Thomas R. Prunty.
 Method and system for fabricating floating guard rings in GaN materials.
 Patent ID US8749015B2, 11 2014.
- [131] J. R. Laroche, F. Ren, K. W. Baik, S. J. Pearton, B. S. Shelton, and B. Peres. Design of edge termination for GaN power Schottky diodes. *Journal of Electronic Materials*, 34(4):370–374, 4 2005. doi:10.1007/s11664-005-0113-6.
- [132] Jonathan J. Wierer, Jeramy R. Dickerson, Andrew A. Allerman, Andrew M. Armstrong, Mary H. Crawford, and Robert J. Kaplar.
 Simulations of Junction Termination Extensions in Vertical GaN Power Diodes. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 64(5):2291–2297, 5 2017. doi:10.1109/TED.2017.2684093.
- [133] Hui Nie, Quentin Diduck, Brian Alvarez, Andrew P. Edwards, Brendan M. Kayes, Ming Zhang, Gangfeng Ye, Thomas Prunty, Dave Bour, and Isik C. Kizilyalli.
 1.5-kV and 2.2-mΩ-cm2 Vertical GaN Transistors on Bulk-GaN Substrates. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 35(9):939–941, 9 2014.
 doi:10.1109/LED.2014.2339197.
- [134] M. Bakowski and K.I. Lundstrom.
 Depletion layer characteristics at the surface of beveled high-voltage P-N junctions. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 20(6):550–563, 6 1973. doi:10.1109/T-ED.1973.17697.
- [135] R. E. Davies and F. E. Gentry. Control of Electric Field at the Surface of P-N Junctions. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 11(7):313–323, 7 1964. doi:10.1109/T-ED.1964.15335.
- [136] Michael S. Adler and Victor A K Temple.
 A General Method for Predicting the Avalanche Breakdown Voltage of Negative Bevelled Devices.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 23(8):956–960, 1976.
 doi:10.1109/T-ED.1976.18516.
- [137] T. Paul Chow.

High-voltage SiC and GaN power devices. In *Microelectronic Engineering*, volume 83, pages 112–122. Elsevier, 2006. doi:10.1016/j.mee.2005.10.057.

- [138] Yuhao Zhang, Min Sun, Zhihong Liu, Daniel Piedra, Jie Hu, Xiang Gao, and Tomás Palacios. Trench formation and corner rounding in vertical GaN power devices. *Applied Physics Letters*, 110(19):193506, 5 2017. doi:10.1063/1.4983558.
- [139] Y. Zhang, H.-Y. Wong, M. Sun, S. Joglekar, L. Yu, N. A. Braga, R. V. Mickevicius, and T. Palacios.
 Design space and origin of off-state leakage in GaN vertical power diodes.
 In 2015 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), volume 2016-Febru, pages 1–35. IEEE, 12 2015.
 doi:10.1109/IEDM.2015.7409830.
- [140] Lachlan E. Black.

New Perspectives on Surface Passivation: Understanding the Si-Al2O3 Interface. Springer Theses. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2016. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-32521-7.

[141] Keithley.

4200-SCS Parameter Analyzer Datasheet. Technical report, 2019.

- [142] U.A. Bakshi, A.P. Godse, and A. V. Bakshi. Analog and Digital IC - Design and Applications. Technical Publications, first edition, 2009.
- [143] Shu Yang, Chunhua Zhou, Qimeng Jiang, Jianbiao Lu, Baoling Huang, and Kevin J. Chen. Investigation of buffer traps in AlGaN/GaN-on-Si devices by thermally stimulated current spectroscopy and back-gating measurement. *Applied Physics Letters*, 104(1), 2014. doi:10.1063/1.4861116.
- [144] Michael J. Uren, Markus Cäsar, Mark A. Gajda, and Martin Kuball. Buffer transport mechanisms in intentionally carbon doped GaN heterojunction field effect transistors. *Applied Physics Letters*, 104(26):263505, 6 2014. doi:10.1063/1.4885695.
- [145] Dieter K. Schroder.
 Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization.
 John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 3rd editio edition, 2006.
- [146] B. Alvarez, D. Francis, F. Faili, F. Lowe, D. Twitchen, K. B. Lee, and P. Houston. Elimination of Leakage in GaN-on-Diamond. In *Technical Digest - IEEE Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuit Symposium, CSIC*, volume 2016-Novem, pages 1–4. IEEE, 10 2016. doi:10.1109/CSICS.2016.7751039.
- [147] Silvaco Inc. Atlas User's Manual. 2016.

[148] Tetsuo Narita, Daigo Kikuta, Hiroko Iguchi, Kenji Ito, Kazuyoshi Tomita, Tsutomu Uesugi, and Tetsu Kachi.

Reduction of peak electric field strength in GaN-HEMT with carbon doping layer. *Physica Status Solidi (C) Current Topics in Solid State Physics*, 9(3-4):915–918, 2012. doi:10.1002/pssc.201100331.

[149] Ben Rackauskas, Michael J. Uren, Steve Stoffels, Ming Zhao, Stefaan Decoutere, and Martin Kuball.

Determination of the self-compensation ratio of carbon in AlGaN for HEMTs. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 65(5):1838–1842, 5 2018. doi:10.1109/TED.2018.2813542.

- [150] Akira Uedono, Ming Zhao, and Eddy Simoen.
 Probing the effect of point defects on the leakage blocking capability of Al0.1Ga0.9N/Si structures using a monoenergetic positron beam.
 Journal of Applied Physics, 120(21):215702, 12 2016.
 doi:10.1063/1.4970984.
- [151] Masahiko Matsubara and Enrico Bellotti.

A first-principles study of carbon-related energy levels in GaN. I. Complexes formed by substitutional/interstitial carbons and gallium/nitrogen vacancies.
Journal of Applied Physics, 121(19):195701, 5 2017.
doi:10.1063/1.4983452.

- P. Bogusławski and J. Bernholc.
 Doping properties of amphoteric C, Si, and Ge impurities in GaN and AlN.
 Acta Physica Polonica A, 90(4):735–738, 1996.
 doi:10.12693/APhysPolA.90.735.
- [153] Unhi Honda, Yujiro Yamada, Yutaka Tokuda, and Kenji Shiojima. Deep levels in n-GaN doped with carbon studied by deep level and minority carrier transient spectroscopies. Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 51(4 PART 2), 2012. doi:10.1143/JJAP.51.04DF04.
- [154] Alessandro Chini, Gaudenzio Meneghesso, Matteo Meneghini, Fausto Fantini, Giovanni Verzellesi, Alfonso Patti, and Ferdinando Iucolano.
 Experimental and Numerical Analysis of Hole Emission Process from Carbon-Related Traps in GaN Buffer Layers.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 63(9):3473–3478, 2016.
 doi:10.1109/TED.2016.2593791.
- [155] Ben Rackauskas, Michael J. Uren, Steve Stoffels, Ming Zhao, Benoit Bakeroot, Stefaan Decoutere, and Martin Kuball.
 The impact of Ti/Al contacts on AlGaN/GaN HEMT vertical leakage and breakdown.
 IEEE Electron Device Letters, 39(10):1580–1583, 2018.
 doi:10.1109/LED.2018.2866613.
- [156] C. Koller, G. Pobegen, C. Ostermaier, and D. Pogany.

- Evidence of defect band in carbon-doped GaN controlling leakage current and trapping dynamics.
- In 2017 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), number iii, pages 1–33. IEEE, 12 2017.

doi:10.1109/IEDM.2017.8268491.

- [157] Christian Koller, Gregor Pobegen, Clemens Ostermaier, Martin Huber, and Dionyz Pogany. The interplay of blocking properties with charge and potential redistribution in thin carbon-doped GaN on n-doped GaN layers. *Applied Physics Letters*, 111(3):032106, 7 2017. doi:10.1063/1.4993571.
- [158] D. D. Koleske, A. E. Wickenden, R. L. Henry, and M. E. Twigg. Influence of MOVPE growth conditions on carbon and silicon concentrations in GaN. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 242(1-2):55–69, 2002. doi:10.1016/S0022-0248(02)01348-9.
- [159] M. Micovic, P. Hashimoto, M. Hu, I. MilosavIjevic, J. Duvall, P.J. Willadsen, W.S. Wong, A.M. Conway, A. Kurdoghlian, P.W. Deelman, J.-S. Moon, A. Schmitz, and M.J. Delaney. GaN double ifeterojunction field effect transistor for microwave and millimeterwave power applications.
 - In *IEDM Technical Digest. IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting*, 2004., pages 807–810. IEEE, 2004.

doi:10.1109/IEDM.2004.1419298.

- [160] S. Stoffels, M. Zhao, R. Venegas, P. Kandaswamy, S. You, T. Novak, Y. Saripalli, M. Van Hove, and S. Decoutere.
 - The physical mechanism of dispersion caused by AlGaN/GaN buffers on Si and optimization for low dispersion.
 - In Technical Digest International Electron Devices Meeting, IEDM, volume 2016-Febru, pages 1–35. IEEE, 12 2015. doi:10.1109/IEDM.2015.7409833.
- [161] M. S. Shur, A. D. Bykhovski, and R. Gaska. Two-dimensional hole gas induced by piezoelectric and pyroelectric charges. Solid-State Electronics, 44(2):205–210, 2000. doi:10.1016/S0038-1101(99)00225-7.

[162] B. Jogai.

Parasitic hole channels in AlGaN/GaN heterojunction structures. Physica Status Solidi (B) Basic Research, 233(3):506–518, 2002. doi:10.1002/1521-3951(200210)233:3<506::AID-PSSB506>3.0.CO;2-R.

[163] Akira Nakajima, Yasunobu Sumida, Mahesh H. Dhyani, Hiroji Kawai, and E. M.Sankara Narayanan.

High density two-dimensional hole gas induced by negative polarization at GaN/AlGaN heterointerface.

Applied Physics Express, 3(12):2–5, 2010. doi:10.1143/APEX.3.121004.

- [164] S. Acar, S.B. Lisesivdin, M. Kasap, S. Özçelik, and E. Özbay.
 Determination of two-dimensional electron and hole gas carriers in AlGaN/GaN/AlN heterostructures grown by Metal Organic Chemical Vapor Deposition.
 Thin Solid Films, 516(8):2041–2044, 2008.
 doi:10.1016/j.tsf.2007.07.161.
- [165] Jinming Sun, Giorgia Longobardi, Florin Udrea, Congyong Zhu, Gianluca Camuso, Shu Yang, Reenu Garg, Mohamed Imam, and Alain Charles.

Substantiation of buried two dimensional hole gas (2DHG) existence in GaN-on-Si epitaxial heterostructure. Applied Physics Letters, 110(16):163506, 4 2017.

Applied Physics Letters, 110(16):163506, 4 2017. doi:10.1063/1.4980140.

- [166] Shu Yang, Chunhua Zhou, Shaowen Han, Jin Wei, Kuang Sheng, and Kevin J. Chen. Impact of Substrate Bias Polarity on Buffer-Related Current Collapse in AlGaN/GaN-on-Si Power Devices.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 64(12):5048–5056, 2017. doi:10.1109/TED.2017.2764527.
- [167] Indranil Chatterjee, Michael J. Uren, Serge Karboyan, Alexander Pooth, Peter Moens, Abhishek Banerjee, and Martin Kuball.
 Lateral charge transport in the carbon-doped buffer in AlGaN/GaN-on-Si HEMTs.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 64(3):977–983, 3 2017.
 doi:10.1109/TED.2016.2645279.
- [168] G. Sabui, P. J. Parbrook, M. Arredondo-Arechavala, and Z. J. Shen. Modeling and simulation of bulk gallium nitride power semiconductor devices. *AIP Advances*, 6(5):055006, 5 2016. doi:10.1063/1.4948794.
- [169] Man Hoi Wong, Uttam Singisetti, Jing Lu, James S. Speck, and Umesh K. Mishra. Anomalous output conductance in N-polar GaN high electron mobility transistors. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 59(11):2988–2995, 2012. doi:10.1109/TED.2012.2211599.
- [170] John L. Lyons, Karthik Krishnaswamy, Luke Gordon, Anderson Janotti, and Chris G. Van De Walle.
 Identification of microscopic hole-trapping mechanisms in nitride semiconductors.
 IEEE Electron Device Letters, 37(2):154–156, 2016.
 doi:10.1109/LED.2015.2509068.
- [171] Chinkyo Kim, I. K. Robinson, Jaemin Myoung, Kyu Hwan Shim, and Kyekyoon Kim. Buffer layer strain transfer in AlN/GaN near critical thickness. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 85(8):4040–4044, 1999. doi:10.1063/1.370308.
- [172] Ming Zhao. Private communication. 2017.

- [173] D. C. Look, G. C. Farlow, P. J. Drevinsky, D. F. Bliss, and J. R. Sizelove. On the nitrogen vacancy in GaN. *Applied Physics Letters*, 83(17):3525–3527, 10 2003. doi:10.1063/1.1623009.
- [174] J.R. Jameson, P.B. Griffin, J.D. Plummer, and Y. Nishi. Charge Trapping in High-k Gate Stacks Due to the Bilayer Structure Itself. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 53(8):1858–1867, 8 2006. doi:10.1109/TED.2006.877700.
- [175] Thi Thu Nga Vu, Gilbert Teyssedre, Séverine Le Roy, and Christian Laurent. Maxwell–Wagner Effect in Multi-Layered Dielectrics: Interfacial Charge Measurement and Modelling. *Technologies*, 5(2):27, 5 2017. doi:10.3390/technologies5020027.
- [176] Hidekazu Umeda, Asamira Suzuki, Yoshiharu Anda, Masahiro Ishida, Tetsuzo Ueda, Tsuyoshi Tanaka, and Daisuke Ueda.
 - Blocking-voltage boosting technology for GaN transistors by widening depletion layer in Si substrates.
 - In Technical Digest International Electron Devices Meeting, IEDM, pages 1–20. IEEE, 12 2010.
 - doi:10.1109/IEDM.2010.5703400.
- [177] Domenica Visalli, Marleen Van Hove, Joff Derluyn, Stefan Degroote, Maarten Leys, Kai Cheng, Marianne Germain, and Gustaaf Borghs.

AlGaN/GaN/AlGaN double heterostructures on silicon substrates for high breakdown voltage field-effect transistors with low on-resistance.

Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, 48(4 PART 2):04C101, 4 2009. doi:10.1143/JJAP.48.04C101.

[178] Xiangdong Li, Ming Zhao, Benoit Bakeroot, Karen Geens, Weiming Guo, Shuzhen You, Steve Stoffels, Vesa-Pekka Lempinen, Jaakko Sormunen, Guido Groeseneken, and Stefaan Decoutere. Buffer Vertical Leakage Mechanism and Reliability of 200-mm GaN-on-SOI.

IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 66(1):553–560, 1 2019. doi:10.1109/TED.2018.2878457.

- [179] A. Graff, M. Simon-Najasek, F. Altmann, J. Kuzmik, D. Gregušová, Haščík, H. Jung, T. Baur, J. Grünenpütt, and H. Blanck.
 High resolution physical analysis of ohmic contact formation at GaN-HEMT devices. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 76-77:338–343, 9 2017. doi:10.1016/j.microrel.2017.06.031.
- [180] Giuseppe Greco, Ferdinando Iucolano, and Fabrizio Roccaforte. Ohmic contacts to Gallium Nitride materials. *Applied Surface Science*, 383:324–345, 10 2016. doi:10.1016/j.apsusc.2016.04.016.

[181] Yuvaraj Dora, A. Chakraborty, S. Heikman, L. McCarthy, S. Keller, S. P. DenBaars, and U. K. Mishra.

Effect of ohmic contacts on buffer leakage of GaN transistors. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 27(7):529–531, 7 2006. doi:10.1109/LED.2006.876306.

 [182] Giuseppe Greco, Ferdinando Iucolano, Corrado Bongiorno, Filippo Giannazzo, Marcin Krysko, Mike Leszczynski, and Fabrizio Roccaforte.
 Ti/Al ohmic contacts on AlGaN/GaN heterostructures with different defect density.
 Applied Surface Science, 314:546–551, 9 2014.

doi:10.1016/j.apsusc.2014.07.018.

[183] Dong Seok Kim, Chul Ho Won, Hee Sung Kang, Young Jo Kim, Yong Tae Kim, In Man Kang, and Jung Hee Lee.

Growth and characterization of semi-insulating carbon-doped/undoped GaN multiple-layer buffer.

Semiconductor Science and Technology, 30(3):035010, 3 2015. doi:10.1088/0268-1242/30/3/035010.

- [184] I. Chatterjee, M. J. Uren, A. Pooth, S. Karboyan, S. Martin-Horcajo, M. Kuball, K. B. Lee, Z. Zaidi, P. A. Houston, D. J. Wallis, I. Guiney, and C. J. Humphreys.
 Impact of buffer charge on the reliability of carbon doped AlGaN/GaN-on-Si HEMTs. *IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium Proceedings*, 2016-Septe(April):41–4, 2016.
 doi:10.1109/IRPS.2016.7574529.
- [185] Hyunsik Im, Young S Park, Y H Kwon, Woong Jung, Hyungsang Kim, Minseon Kim, W C Yang, Junho Lee, Hong Goo Choi, Cheong Hyun Roh, and Cheol-Koo Hahn.
 Dislocation Defects in GaN Epilayers Grown on Si (100) Substrates by Metal-organic Chemical-vapor Deposition.
 Journal of the Korean Physical Society, 56(4):1172–1175, 4 2010.
 doi:10.3938/jkps.56.1172.
- [186] B. Rackauskas, S. Dalcanale, M. J. Uren, T. Kachi, and M. Kuball. Leakage mechanisms in GaN-on-GaN vertical pn diodes. *Applied Physics Letters*, 112(23):233501, 6 2018. doi:10.1063/1.5033436.
- [187] Kedar Patel. GaN is Great, True GaN[™] is Better. Avogy Inc., Revision 1, 2016.
- [188] E Rosencher, V Mosser, and G Vincent. Transient-current study of field-assisted emission from shallow levels in silicon. *Physical Review B*, 29(3):1135–1147, 2 1984. doi:10.1103/PhysRevB.29.1135.
- [189] D. Cherns and C. G. Jiao.
 Electron holography studies of the charge on dislocations in GaN.
 Physical Review Letters, 87(20):205504–1, 10 2001.

doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.87.205504.

- [190] D. Cherns, C.G. Jiao, H. Mokhtari, J. Cai, and F.A. Ponce.
 Electron Holography Studies of the Charge on Dislocations in GaN.
 physica status solidi (b), 234(3):924–930, 12 2002.
 doi:10.1002/1521-3951(200212)234:3<924::AID-PSSB924>3.0.CO;2-8.
- [191] Chengge Jiao and David Cherns. Investigation of the charge on threading edge dislocations in GaN by electron holography. *Journal of Electron Microscopy*, 51(2):105–112, 4 2002. doi:10.1093/jmicro/51.2.105.
- [192] A. F. Wright and Ulrike Grossner. The effect of doping and growth stoichiometry on the core structure of a threading edge dislocation in GaN. *Applied Physics Letters*, 73(19):2751–2753, 11 1998. doi:10.1063/1.122579.
- [193] Kayo Horibuchi, Satoshi Yamaguchi, Yasuji Kimoto, Koichi Nishikawa, and Tetsu Kachi. Formation of helical dislocations in ammonothermal GaN substrate by heat treatment. Semiconductor Science and Technology, 31(3):034002, 3 2016. doi:10.1088/0268-1242/31/3/034002.
- [194] Yuhao Zhang, Min Sun, Hiu-Yung Wong, Yuxuan Lin, Puneet Srivastava, Christopher Hatem, Mohamed Azize, Daniel Piedra, Lili Yu, Takamichi Sumitomo, Nelson Almeida de Braga, Rimvydas Vidas Mickevicius, and Tomas Palacios.
 Origin and Control of OFF-State Leakage Current in GaN-on-Si Vertical Diodes.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 62(7):2155–2161, 7 2015. doi:10.1109/TED.2015.2426711.

 [195] Victor Moroz, Hiu Yung Wong, Munkang Choi, Nelson Braga, R. V. Mickevicius, Yuhao Zhang, and Thomas Palacios.
 The Impact of Defects on GaN Device Behavior: Modeling Dislocations, Traps, and Pits. *ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology*, 5(4):P3142–P3148, 1 2016. doi:10.1149/2.0211604jss.

 [196] Robert M. Hill.
 Electrical conduction in thin aggregated metal films. Nature, 204(4953):35–36, 10 1964. doi:10.1038/204035a0.

[197] R. M. Hill.
 Variable-range hopping.
 Physica Status Solidi (a), 34(2):601–613, 4 1976.
 doi:10.1002/pssa.2210340223.

 [198] A. B. Fowler and A. Hartstein. Impurity bands in inversion layers. *Philosophical Magazine B: Physics of Condensed Matter; Statistical Mechanics, Electronic, Optical and Magnetic Properties*, 42(6):946–959, 12 1980. doi:10.1080/01418638008222339.

- [199] B. Rackauskas, M.J. Uren, T. Kachi, and M. Kuball. Reliability and lifetime estimations of GaN-on-GaN vertical pn diodes. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 95:48–51, 4 2019. doi:10.1016/j.microrel.2019.02.013.
- [200] Tsutomu Uesugi and Tetsu Kachi.
 Which are the Future GaN Power Devices for Automotive Applications, Lateral Structures or Vertical Structures ?
 In CS MANTECH Conference, number 1, pages 307–310, 2011.
- [201] Isik C. Kizilyalli, Andrew P. Edwards, Ozgur Aktas, Thomas Prunty, and David Bour. Vertical power p-n diodes based on bulk GaN. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 62(2):414–422, 2015. doi:10.1109/TED.2014.2360861.
- [202] Isik C. Kizilyalli, P. Bui-Quang, D. Disney, H. Bhatia, and Ozgur Aktas. Reliability studies of vertical GaN devices based on bulk GaN substrates. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 55(9-10):1654–1661, 2015. doi:10.1016/j.microrel.2015.07.012.
- [203] E Fabris, M Meneghini, C. De Santi, Z Hu, W Li, K Nomoto, X Gao, D Jena, H.G. Xing, G Meneghesso, and E Zanoni.
 Degradation of GaN-on-GaN vertical diodes submitted to high current stress.
 Microelectronics Reliability, 88-90(May):568-571, 9 2018.
 doi:10.1016/j.microrel.2018.06.041.
- [204] M. Ruzzarin, M. Meneghini, C. De Santi, G. Meneghesso, E. Zanoni, M Sun, and T Palacios. Degradation of vertical GaN FETs under gate and drain stress.
 In 2018 IEEE International Reliability Physics Symposium (IRPS), pages 1–1. IEEE, 3 2018.
 doi:10.1109/IRPS.2018.8353579.
- [205] Wayne Nelson. Accelerated Life Testing - Step-Stress Models and Data Analyses. *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, R-29(2):103–108, 1980. doi:10.1109/TR.1980.5220742.
- [206] Salvatore Lombardo, James H. Stathis, Barry P. Linder, Kin Leong Pey, Felix Palumbo, and Chih Hang Tung.
 Dielectric breakdown mechanisms in gate oxides.
 Journal of Applied Physics, 98(12), 2005.
 doi:10.1063/1.2147714.
- [207] Feng Gao, Di Chen, Bin Lu, Harry L. Tuller, Carl V. Thompson, Stacia Keller, Umesh K. Mishra, and Tomás Palacios.

Impact of Moisture and Fluorocarbon Passivation on the Current Collapse of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs.

IEEE Electron Device Letters, 33(10):1378–1380, 10 2012. doi:10.1109/LED.2012.2206556.

[208] 3M[™]. Fluorinert[™] Electronic Liquid FC-72. Product Information, 2000.

- [209] Joe W. McPherson, Jinyoung Kim, Ajit Shanware, Homi Mogul, and John Rodriguez. Trends in the ultimate breakdown strength of high dielectric-constant materials. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 50(8):1771–1778, 2003. doi:10.1109/TED.2003.815141.
- [210] M.J. Kirton and M.J. Uren.
 Noise in solid-state microstructures: A new perspective on individual defects, interface states and low-frequency (1/f) noise.
 Advances in Physics, 38(4):367–468, 1989.
 doi:10.1080/00018738900101122.
- [211] Yuki Mori, Hiroyuki Yoshimoto, Kenichi Takeda, and Ren-ichi Yamada. Mechanism of random telegraph noise in junction leakage current of metal-oxidesemiconductor field-effect transistor. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 111(10):104513, 2012. doi:10.1063/1.4721658.
- [212] M. Lannoo.
 - The role of dangling bonds in the properties of surfaces and interfaces of semiconductors. *Revue de Physique Appliquée*, 25(9):887–894, 1990. doi:10.1051/rphysap:01990002509088700.
- [213] Christian Koller, Gregor Pobegen, Clemens Ostermaier, and Dionyz Pogany.
 Effect of Carbon Doping on Charging/Discharging Dynamics and Leakage Behavior of Carbon-Doped GaN.
 IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 65(12):5314–5321, 12 2018.
 doi:10.1109/TED.2018.2872552.
- [214] Manikant Singh, Michael J. Uren, Trevor Martin, Serge Karboyan, Hareesh Chandrasekar, and Martin Kuball.
 "Kink" in AlGaN/GaN-HEMTs: Floating Buffer Model. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 65(9):3746–3753, 9 2018.
 doi:10.1109/TED.2018.2860902.
- [215] Benoit Bakeroot, Brice De Jaeger, Nicolo Ronchi, Steve Stoffels, Ming Zhao, and Stefaan Decoutere.
 - The influence of carbon in the back-barrier layers on the surface electric field peaks in GaN Schottky diodes.
 - In 2018 International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SISPAD), pages 240–243. IEEE, 9 2018.
 - doi:10.1109/SISPAD.2018.8551652.
- [216] V. A. Joshkin, C. A. Parker, S. M. Bedair, J. F. Muth, I. K. Shmagin, R. M. Kolbas, E. L. Piner, and R. J. Molnar.
 - Effect of growth temperature on point defect density of unintentionally doped GaN grown by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition and hydride vapor phase epitaxy.

Journal of Applied Physics, 86(1):281–288, 7 1999. doi:10.1063/1.370727.